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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

We are an international biotechnology company ithédcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine. We are committed to the
discovery and development of best-in-class thesapésigned to extend and enhance the quality oihuife. We have established a portfolio
of therapeutic product development programs toesfdsignificant unmet medical needs in multiplease areas. Our MultiStebcell

therapy, a patented and proprietary allogeneic stdhproduct, is our lead platform product and hasn evaluated in two completed Phase 1
clinical trials and is currently being evaluatedPinase 2 clinical trials, as well as an investigltd Phase 1 trial, and plans are underway for ¢
Phase 2/3 registration clinical trial. Our currelmical development programs are focused on wmgatieurological conditions, cardiovascular
disease, inflammatory and immune disorders, aneratbnditions where the current standard of calimited or inadequate for many patients.
We are also applying our pharmaceutical discovapadbilities to identify and develop small molecotéenpounds with potential applications in
indications such as obesity, related metabolic itmms and certain neurological conditions. Thesgresent major areas of clinical need, as
well as substantial commercial opportunities.

We believe our MultiStem therapy represents a fiateloreakthrough in the field of regenerative noe and stem cell therapy and could be
used to treat a range of disease indications. Bheaith treatment enhances tissue repair and healimgliiple ways, including reducing
inflammatory damage, protecting tissue that issit following acute or ischemic injury, and promnmagfiformation of new blood vessels in
regions of ischemic injury. These cells appeargadsponsive to the environment in which they drainistered, by homing to sites of injury
and providing active disease response, while priadygroteins that may provide benefit in both acrd chronic conditions. In contrast to
traditional pharmaceutical products or biologicatthenerally act through a single biological medsrarof action, MultiStem cell therapy may
enhance healing and tissue repair through multijsiénct mechanisms acting in parallel, such apioylucing a range of therapeutic factors
dynamically responding to the needs of the bodyylting in a more effective therapeutic response.

The MultiStem product is uniqgue among regeneratieelicine approaches because it can be manufacinradarge scale, may be administ
in an “off-the-shelf” manner with minimal procesgjrand can augment healing in multiple ways, priogidiological potency and therapeutic
effects that other cell therapy approaches mayedable to achieve. Additionally, MultiStem treatrthbas demonstrated a consistent safety
profile in both preclinical and clinical studieske drugs and biologics, the product is clearedfthe body over time, enhancing product s¢
relative to other types of stem cell therapy. Whiile product does not permanently engraft in theepg the therapeutic effects of treatment
with MultiStem cells appear to have durability.

We believe the therapeutic and commercial potefaraMultiStem cell therapy to be very broad, applyto many areas of significant unmet
medical need. We are pursuing opportunities inrsdymtential multi-billion dollar markets. Whileatditional pharmaceuticals and biologic
therapies typically may be used to treat only glsinlisease or a narrowly defined set of relatedtlitions, MultiStem cell therapy appears to
have far broader potential and could be developetifierent formulations and with different deliyespproaches to effectively treat a range of
disease indications.

We have evaluated the use of MultiStem cell thei@gpg potential treatment in several disease aféaking with an international network of
leading investigators and prominent research anétal institutions, and through our own internéfbets, we explored the potential for
MultiStem therapy to be used as a treatment ofeagnt chronic forms of neurological conditionsdéarascular disease, inflammatory and
immune disorders, certain pulmonary conditions @ther areas of unmet medical need. At present,ave five MultiStem clinical stage
programs and plans to add a sixth in 2015. Eat¢hesfe programs targets an area of significant mmedeed and represents major commercial
market opportunities.

In the neurological area, we are evaluating themt@l for MultiStem treatment of patients who hawéered neurological damage from an
ischemic stroke. This is a double blind, randomiaed placebo controlled study evaluating the adstrimiion of MultiStem cell therapy to
patients 24 to 48 hours following the occurrenca e€rious stroke. If effective, this would représesubstantial increase in the time window
for treatment, which currently is limited to seudraurs. In February 2015, we established a cottaiom with Chugai Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., or Chugai, to develop and commercialize Matkim for the treatment of ischemic stroke in Ja@dnugai will be responsible for the
development and commercialization of MultiStemifmhemic stroke in Japan on an exclusive basiswendill have the primary
responsibility for the manufacture of product fothclinical and commercial purposes.

We are also in the process of initiating a Phasknital study for the administration of MultiSterell therapy to patients that have suffered ar
acute myocardial infarction, or AMI. In 2013, weneewarded a grant from the National Institutesledlth for up to $2.8 million to support
funding this clinical program. Previously we contplita Phase 1 clinical trial involving administoatiof MultiStem cell therapy to patients t
have suffered an AMI, and the results of this ti@monstrated consistent safety and encouraginigese of therapeutic benefit among pati
with severely compromised heart function. We amagleting preparations for the launch of this stugljich we anticipate will commence on
the second quarter of 2015.
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Additionally, we evaluated in a completed Phasériical study the potential for MultiStem cell tlgay to prevent or reduce graft-versus-host
disease, or GvHD, and other complications, anddwige supportive care to patients undergoing adiepoietic stem cell transplant to treat
leukemia or related conditions. We are preparingdwance our GvHD program into the next phaseioical development and have had
several interactions with the United States Foatirug Administration, or FDA, and similar interitatal agencies regarding study design
the potential to accelerate the path to productap. Initiation of this trial will depend on th@ogress in other clinical trials and the
achievement of certain business development amaddial objectives. Our MultiStem therapy for GvHastbeen designated an orphan drug b
both the FDA and the European Medicines Agenc¥{MA, which may provide market exclusivity and otlseibstantial potential incentives
and benefits.

We are also engaged in the preparation stagedifiarat studies in other targeted areas, includimgtreatment of acute respiratory distress
syndrome, or ARDS. ARDS is a serious immunologésad inflammatory condition characterized by widesjprinflammation in the lungs.
Currently, there are limited interventions and ffeaive drug treatments for ARDS, making it anaaoé high unmet clinical need with high
treatment costs. Given the high treatment cosfsRiDS, a successful cell therapy could be expedeapherate significant savings for the
healthcare system by reducing days on a ventild&ys in the intensive care unit and total dayhénhospital, and importantly, could reduce
mortality and improve quality of life for those $erfing from the condition. The medical need foméesand effective treatment of ARDS is
significant due to its high mortality rate, anaitects annually approximately 400,000 to 500,080emts in Europe, the United States and
Japan, together. In 2015, we were awarded a gramt lihnovate UK, formerly the Technology StrategyaBd, of up to approximately

£2.0 million in support of a Phase 2a clinical stedaluating the administration of MultiStem célétapy to ARDS patients. The study will be
conducted with the assistance of the Cell Theraggult, or Catapult, and we anticipate that tta will commence in the second half of
2015.

MultiStem cell therapy is also being evaluatedtimeo ongoing clinical trials. Our collaborative fyear, Pfizer Inc., or Pfizer, is completing a
Phase 2 clinical study exploring administratiorMafltiStem to patients with ulcerative colitis, oQJa common form of inflammatory bowel
disease, or IBD. Preliminary results were announigegke spring of 2014. Finally, a research collabor and leading transplantation center in
Europe is conducting a small, exploratory instdnél-sponsored Phase 1 study to evaluate the agtraiion of MultiStem cell therapy to
patients undergoing a liver transplant. Previopsliglished work involving preclinical models of orgaansplantation demonstrated that
administration of MultiStem cell therapy can hetgiice immune tolerance to organ allografts, amdieéited the need for long-term immune
suppression.

Our development approach has historically involesthblishing collaborative relationships with leamdiesearch and clinical centers in the
United States and internationally. This has enabketb methodically advance multiple programs emarof defined unmet medical need in a
resource efficient manner. Furthermore, by emphasgithe potential application of our technologiesreas of significant clinical need, we
believe we are well positioned to utilize recemjulatory initiatives that are designed to prombieapid and cost effective development of
innovative new therapies. These include recentinies in the United States being implementediagyRDA involving the broadened
application of the accelerated approval pathwag,the new Breakthrough Therapies framework, as agethe new accelerated Regenerative
Medicine regulatory framework in Japan that is gesd to enable rapid conditional authorization udlified regenerative medicine therapies.
We believe such initiatives could accelerate theetippment and commercialization of products likelti®iem cell therapy, if clinical results
demonstrate appropriate safety and therapeutictefémess, thereby increasing shareholder value.

In addition to our MultiStem programs, we have #&xpbur pharmaceutical discovery capabilities entify and develop novel pharmaceutit
to treat obesity, related metabolic conditions saglliabetes, and certain neurological indicatsuth as schizophrenia. Our 5SHT2¢ agonist
program for obesity works by the same mechanistoesaserir® , which was approved by the FDA in 2012 for thetmeent of obesity. We
believe our compounds have the potential to prosigeerior weight loss, while also achieving a siggesafety and tolerability profile. In
addition, we demonstrated that our compounds argmentary with other agents that have been apgrby the FDA for treating obesity.
Furthermore, we evaluated certain compounds inipieal models of schizophrenia that exhibit anmative selectivity profile and also
observed that these compounds exhibit potent sff#¢e may elect to enter into a partnership to adedhe development of our 5HT2c ago
program, either for the treatment of obesity, sgpirenia, or both indications, as well as for darpgograms involving MultiStem. Further,
small molecule compounds may be used to enhanqardlection or therapeutic effectiveness of Mubigtor related products. These
compounds may increase hiological potency for gertalications and lead to second or third genenggiroducts in the regenerative medicine
area.

We were incorporated in Delaware on October 245188 June 8, 2007, we merged with a wholly owndasigliary of BTHC VI, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, and on August 31, 2007, BTWHdnc. changed its name to Athersys, Inc.

4
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Business Strategy

Our principal business objective is to discoveralep and commercialize novel therapeutic prodiartslisease indications that represent
significant areas of clinical need and commercpgartunity. The key elements of our strategy artireed below:

Efficiently Conduct Clinical Development to EstahliClinical Proof of Concept and Biological Activivith our Lead Produc
CandidatesWe are conducting a number of clinical studies whthintent to establish proof of concept and/@opof biological
activity in a number of important disease areasre/tiee cell therapies would be expected to havefitenincluding neurological
conditions, cardiovascular disease, and inflammyadad immune system dysfunctions. Our focus isaracting well-designed
studies early in the clinical development processstablish a robust foundation for subsequentldpreent, partnering activity and
expansion into complementary areas. We are conthtitta rigorous clinical and regulatory framewankijch we believe has
helped us to advance our programs efficiently, jgliog high quality, transparent regulatory subnuasi Our discussions with the
FDA, EMA, Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agermme PMDA, and other regulatory agencies haveltedun a successful
regulatory partnership that has helped to advanc@mgrams efficiently

Continue to Refine and Improve our Manufactudmgl Related Processes and Deepen our Understaidifiberapeutic
Mechanisms of ActiolA key aspect of the cells that comprise the MultiBtproduct is their expansion capa@tyvivorelative to
other cell types. This allows for large scale pthn of the clinical product, which enables greatnsistency, specificity and cost
of goods advantages over other cell therapies. Mfetp build on this intrinsic biological advantagye continuing to advance and
optimize our production and process developmentagmes, further developing and optimizing new nfiacturing techniques, al
optimizing the plant-to-bedside supply chain tosup late-stage development and commercializatfdviwdtiStem therapy.
Additionally, we will continue to refine our undésisding of our products’ activities and mechanigrhaction to enable
optimization of administration and dosing and tegare the foundation for product enhancements extgeneration opportunitie

Enter into Arrangements with Business Partnersdoeferate Development and Value Creatin addition to our internal
development efforts, an important part of our piidievelopment strategy is to work with collaboratand partners to accelerate
product development, reduce our development castbproaden our commercial access. We have eritacelicensing and

product codevelopment arrangements with qualified commemainers to achieve these objectives. We anticihatethis stratec
will help us to develop a portfolio of high qualipyoduct development opportunities, enhance ouicali development and
commercialization capabilities, and increase oilitato generate value from our proprietary teclugies. To date, we entered into
technology licensing arrangements and establishadlipt commercialization and a®velopment partnerships with companies
as Chugai, Pfizer, Bristol-Myers Squibb CompanyBastol-Myers Squibb, Johnson & Johnson, WyethrRizeeuticals, Inc., RTI
Surgical, Inc., or RTI, and other companies. Litegpartnerships generate revenue and provideatabpét allows us to advance
our programs further in developme

Efficiently Explore New High Potential Therapewdipplications, Leveraging Thi-Party Research Collaborations and our Results
from Related AreaOur product candidates have shown promise in nleltifsease areas, including in treating neuroldgica
conditions, cardiovascular disease, inflammatory ianmune disorders, and other areas. We are costhtiitexploring potential
clinical indications where our therapies may achibest-in-class profile, and where we believe weeféectively address
significant unmet medical needs. In order to achitns goal, over the past decade, we establisbitaborative research
relationships with investigators from many leadiagearch and clinical institutions across the Wh8eates and Europe, including
the Cleveland Clinic, Case Western Reserve Unityerdniversity of Minnesota, Georgia Regents Unsitst, the University of
Oregon Health Sciences Center, the University ofa§eHealth Science Center at Houston, the Uniyeo$iPittsburgh Medical
Center, the Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, or KULniversity of Regensburg, and other institutiofisrough this network of
collaborations, we studied MultiStem therapy iraage of preclinical models that reflect variousetypf human disease or injury in
the neurological, cardiovascular and immunolog&rels. These collaborative relationships have edald to cost effectively
explore where MultiStem cell therapy may have retee, and how it may be utilized to advance treatroeer current clinical

care. Additionally, we have shown that we can lagerclinical safety data and preclinical resultgrfrsome programs to support
accelerated clinical development efforts in othela, saving substantial development time and resswompared to traditional
drug development where generally each programpiaragely develope(

Continue to Expand our Intellectual Property Holib. We have a broad intellectual property estate thegis our proprietary
products and technologies, as well as methodsoofyation and methods of use. Our intellectual priypie important to our
business and we take significant steps to protesalue. We have ongoing research and developefiiemts, both through internal
activities and through collaborative research ddis with others, which aim to develop new intelleal property and enable us to
file patent applications that cover new applicatiof our existing technologies or product candislaitecluding MultiStem cells and
other opportunities. We currently have approximaldO patents related to our stem cell technologimescell therapy applications
providing protection in the United States, Eurofapan and other areas, and we have 54 patentsaasdagith our other
technologies and small molecule progra
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Our Current Programs

By applying our proprietary MultiStem cell therapgoduct, we established therapeutic product dewedop programs treating neurological
conditions, cardiovascular disease, inflammatory ianmune disorders, and other conditions. Our @ogrin the clinical development stage
include the following:

« Ischemic Stroke In our ongoing Phase 2 clinical study, we ardweating the administration of MultiStem cell theyap
patients that have suffered an ischemic strokeohirast to treatment with the thrombolytic tPA igghmust be administered with
three to four hours after a stroke, we are tregtetgents one to two days after the stroke hasroeguln preclinical studies,
administration of a single dose of MultiStem theragven one week after a stroke, resulted in dicamt and durable improvemer
This double blind, placebo-controlled trial is bggitonducted at leading stroke centers across titedJ8tates and Europe.
Enrolliment was completed in December 2014. We igatie announcing the interim safety and initialazf€y results in April 2015,
following the ninety-day patient evaluation andeigt of the unblinded clinical data. Also, in Feliry 2015, we established a
collaboration with Chugai to develop and commeizé&aMultiStem for the treatment of ischemic strakdapan.

 Acute Myocardial Infarction We evaluated the administration of MultiStem &i@nts that suffered an AMI in a Phase 1
clinical study. The results of this study demortstiaa favorable safety profile and encouragingsimfimprovement in heart
function among patients that exhibited severely mammised heart function prior to treatment. Thitadaas published in a leading
peer reviewed scientific journal, and one-yearofwHup data suggested that the benefit observedustained over time. We were
awarded a grant for up to $2.8 million to suppbet &dvancement of this clinical program, and wecarapleting preparations for
the launch of this Phase 2 clinical study, whichamécipate will commence in the second quarte2Qif5.

» Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrommé&/e were awarded a grant for up to approximat@l #nillion to support an initial
trial to treat patients suffering from ARDS. ARDsSa serious immunological and inflammatory conditiharacterized by
widespread inflammation in the lungs. ARDS canrlggered by pneumonia, sepsis, or other traumagmesents a major cause
morbidity and mortality in the critical care setfirThe medical need for a safe and effective treatrof ARDS is significant due to
its high mortality rate, and it annually affectgpapximately 400,000 to 500,000 patients in Eurdpe,United States and Japan,
together. The grant supporting this Phase 2a eliti@al was awarded by Innovate UK to our subsididthersys Limited in the
United Kingdom, or UK, in conjunction with Catapulive are currently preparing for the trial, whick anticipate will commence
in the second half of 2015.

» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GviHi/e completed a Phase 1 clinical study of the adstration of MultiStem cel
to patients suffering from leukemia or certain othlwod-borne cancers in which patients undergo radiatienapy and then recei
a hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Such pati@mtst significant risk for serious complicatiomgjuding graft-versus-host
disease, or GvHD, an imbalance of immune systeratimm caused by transplanted immune cells thatlattarious tissues and
organs in the patient. Data from the study demateddrthe safety of MultiStem cells in this indicatiand suggested that the ther
may have a beneficial effect in reducing the inomeand severity of GvVHD, as well as providing othenefits. The MultiStem
product has been designated as an orphan drugef@vHD prophylaxis indication by both the FDA da6lA, which may provide
market exclusivity and other substantial incentiard benefits. We have interacted with both the FEIDA EMA to finalize the
design of a single registration study. In Febri20¢5, the MultiStem product was granted Fast Toegignation by the FDA for
prophylaxis therapy against GvHD following hematepic cell transplantation. Currently, we are stagihis program for future
registrationdirected development dependent on our other clipicagrams and the achievement of certain busidegslopment ar
financial objectives.

* Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem therapy is being evaluated in a Phasknal study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from UC, the mostremon form of IBD. This study is being concludedday collaborative partne
Pfizer, and we released interim results in April20Data collection for the study has run through£to complete the secondary
evaluations, and subsequent analysis, such as tkenmavaluation and one year safety assessmertiearg completed by Pfizer in
2015. The interim results obtained from the trladwed that a single administration of MultiStenatpatient population with
longstanding, chronic advanced disease failed @avshmeaningful clinical effect at the eight-weekleation period. Despite not
showing a significant improvement compared to pghace the primary efficacy endpoints, the MultiStémrapy demonstrated
favorable safety and tolerability in the eight weéillowing treatment. Furthermore, at four weglatjents getting MultiStem
treatment had a significantly higher proportiorrexdtal bleeding responders than placebo patiemggiesting the possibility of a
transient effect from the single MultiStem dosetHe event that Pfizer does not move forward withgrogram, development and
commercialization rights would revert to us.
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In addition to the programs described above, waks@ conducting or supporting clinical activitydther areas, such as solid organ transplant
which is an investigator initiated study being cocigd at a leading transplant center in EuropeaWealso engaged in the preparation stages
for translational and clinical studies in othegeeted areas.

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidalelopment activities, we are engaged in pradirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem therapy in other neurological, cardioudac and inflammatory and immune disease areasglis@s certain other indications. We
conduct such work both through our own interna¢agsh efforts and through a broad global networkatiborators.

We are routinely in discussions with third parédéut collaborating in the development of MultiStérarapy for various programs and may
enter into one or more business partnerships taramvthese programs over time.

We also partnered with RTI on the development ofipcts for certain orthopedic applications usingsiam cell technologies in the bone g
substitutes market. We began recognizing royaltgmee from product sales in 2014 and may receivergiayments upon the successful
achievement of certain commercial milestones.

We are also engaged in the development of novell smadecule therapies to treat obesity and otherdiions, such as schizophrenia.
Currently, we are focused on the development afmohighly selective compounds that act throughudation of a specific receptor in the
brain, the 5HT2c serotonin receptor. We are condggireclinical evaluation of novel compounds tivatdeveloped that exhibit favorable
attributes, including outstanding receptor selétgtias well as greater potency and activity thtreo5HT2c¢ agonists. We also demonstrated
our compounds are complementary with other agéatshiave been approved by the FDA and believe tms@ounds could achieve best in
class weight loss, along with a superior safetytatetability profile. Furthermore, we evaluatedta@ compounds in preclinical models of
schizophrenia that exhibit an attractive selegtipitofile and also observed that these compounbbipotent effects. We may elect to enter
into a partnership to advance the development o6biT2c agonist program, either for the treatmdrah®sity, schizophrenia, or both
indications, as well as for certain programs inuwavMultiStem.

Regenerative Medicine Progran
MultiStem— A Novel Therapeutic Modality

We are developing our MultiStem therapy, a proprighon-embryonic, allogeneic stem cell productdidate, that we believe has potential
utility for treating a broad range of diseases emald have widespread application in the field lofical regenerative medicine. Unlike
traditional bone marrow transplants or other steihtherapies, MultiStem cells may be manufactwed large scale and may be administere
without tissue matching or the need for immune seiggion, analogous to type O blood. Potential apptins of MultiStem therapy include the
treatment of cardiovascular disease, neurologisalade or injury and conditions involving the imrawgystem, including autoimmune disease
and other conditions. We believe that the MultiSteerapy represents a significant advancementeiighd of stem cell therapy and could
have broad clinical application. We currently hapen Investigational New Drug applications, or INEs the study of MultiStem
administration in distinct clinical indications,@a collaborating institution recently obtainedreutzation in Europe to initiate a clinical
program through an investigator sponsored clirtitall application, obtained with our permission agbport.

MultiStem cell therapy is a patented biologic preidiinat is manufactured from human stem cells abthirom adult bone marrow, although
these cells may alternatively be obtained from iotissue sources, which are also covered undeinteltectual property. The product consists
of a special class of human stem cells that hawealtility to express a range of therapeuticallgvant proteins and other factors, as well as
form multiple cell types. Factors expressed bycdlés have the potential to deliver a therapeutiadiit in several ways, such as the reduction
of inflammation, regulation of immune system funati protection of damaged or injured tissue, thimédion of new blood vessels in regions
of ischemic injury and augmentation of tissue repad healing in other ways. Like drugs, thesesamlhy be stored for an extended period of
time in frozen form and used off-the-shelf. Follagiiadministration, the cells have been shown teesgmultiple therapeutically relevant
proteins, but unlike a traditional transplant, subsequently cleared from the body over time, aytale to a drug or biologic.

7
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We believe that MultiStem represents a potentiat-ireclass stem cell therapy because it exhibits eatheofollowing characteristics based
research and development conducted to date:

. Broad plasticity and multiple potential mechanismhsiction.MultiStem cells have a demonstrated ability in aalimodels to form
a range of cell types and also appear to be aldelicer therapeutic benefit by producing factdrsttprotect tissues against damage
and inflammation, as well as enhancing or playimiract role in revascularization or tissue regatien.

. Large scale productiorUnlike conventional stem cells, such as bldodning or hematopoietic stem cells, mesenchynehstells
or other cell types, MultiStem cells may be prodlioa a large scale, processed, and cryogenicadlyepved, and then used
clinically in a rapid and efficient manner. Matértained from a single donor may be used to predwndreds of thousands or
millions of individual doses, representing a yitdd greater than other stem cells have been aldehi®ve

. “Off-the-shelf” utility. Unlike traditional bone marrow or hematopoietimsteell transplants that require extensive genetitching
between donor and recipient, MultiStem administratioes not require tissue matching or immune ®gspre drugs. The
MultiStem product is administered as a cryogenycgateserved allogeneic product, meaning that tbhelig are not genetically
matched between donor and recipient. This featamiabined with the ability to establish large MutéB banks, could make it
practical for clinicians to efficiently deliver stecell therapy to a large number of patie

. SafetyOther stem cell types, such as undifferentiatedrgamic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cletlse shown the
capacity to form ectopic tissue or teratomas, whiehtumor-like growths. These could pose seriafestg risks to patients. In
contrast, MultiStem cells have shown a consistadtfavorable safety profile that has been compleet several years of
preclinical study in a range of animal models hsagety of investigators and that is supported linyical data generated to da

At each step of the MultiStem production procesfis@are analyzed according to pre-establishedr@ito ensure that a consistent, well
characterized product candidate is produced. @ediharvested from a pre-qualified, healthy, cotisgrionor and these cells are then
expanded to form a master cell bank from which wiesequently produce clinical grade material. We alestrated the ability to harvest cells
that meet our rigorous criteria from healthy donwith a high degree of consistency. Furthermorenitdtiple animal models, MultiStem has
been shown to be non-immunogenic, and is admiedteithout the genetic matching that is typicaiguired for conventional bone marrow
or stem cell transplantation.

The distinctive profile of the MultiStem productai/s us to pursue multiple high value commercigdantunities from a single product
platform. Based upon work that we and independeltdlmorators have conducted over the past seveeabywe believe that MultiStem cells
have the potential to treat a range of distincéase indications, including ischemic injury andd@arascular disease, certain types of
neurological conditions or injury, autoimmune disgaransplant support (including in oncology patieand solid organ transplant areas), &
range of orphan disease indications. As a reselth@lieve we will be able to leverage our foundatibsafety and efficacy data to add clinical
indications efficiently, enabling us to reduce depenent costs and timelines substantially.

MultiStem for Treating Neurological Conditions, @avascular Disease, and Inflammatory and ImmursoBiers

Healthcare represents a significant part of thbeajleconomy. In the United States, it represenpgdcaximately 17.2% of all economic activity
in 2013, or about $2.9 trillion dollars, annualjowever, the United States, along with many otlsions, is experiencing an unprecedented
demographic shift that is resulting in a signifitgrexpanded population of older individuals. Acodimig to United States Census data, in the
next few years there will be a dramatic increastaénnumber of individuals over the age of 65 hés $egment of the population increases fror
40.2 million individuals in 2010 to more than 72lian people in 2030, representing an increaseppfaximately 80%. The aging of the
population will create enormous financial pressurghe healthcare system in the United States #ret oountries around the world, resulting
in significant clinical challenges, but also remgtin substantial commercial opportunities.

Data from the National Center for Health Statisthews that as people get older, they are moreeptibte to a variety of age related
conditions, including heart disease, stroke, ceffims of cancer, diabetes, progressive neuraddglisorders, various chronic inflammatory
and immune conditions, renal disease and a rangthefs. As a consequence, as people get oldestiend far more on healthcare. On
average they spend four to ten times more on hemakthannually at age 65 or beyond than when theg yaunger and more healthy.
According to the Alliance for Aging Research, 83#thealthcare spending is associated with chronmalitmns, and other research shows that
62% of healthcare spending is associated with plalthronic conditions. Traditional medical appiives have failed to adequately address
problem.
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We have worked with independent investigatorsrairaber of leading institutions, such as the ClewIl@linic, Case Western Reserve
University, University of Minnesota, the Nationaktitutes of Health, the Georgia Regents Univerditg University of Oregon Health Scien
Center, the University of Texas Health Science €eat Houston, KUL, the University of Pittsburgh dieal Center, University of Regensburg
and other institutions. Through this network oflg@bbrations, we studied the impact of MultiStem tietrapy in a range of preclinical models
that reflect various types of human disease orynijuthe neurological, cardiovascular, and immuogatal areas. To date, we and our
collaborators have published research resultdriditing the potential benefits of MultiStem celéthpy in a range of indications including
ischemic stroke, traumatic brain injury, or TBlalr damage due to restricted blood flow in newbgspal cord injury, myocardial infarctio
vascular disease, acute pulmonary distress, ang tpanrow transplant support/GvHD. In addition, veedrexplored and intend to further
explore MultiStem administration in the treatmeh&sange of other conditions, including other faraf cardiovascular disease, neurological
conditions, and immune related disorders.

Based on preclinical results, we have advancedi$talin therapy to clinical development stage in sghdinical indications or disease areas:
treatment for stroke caused by a blockage of bftovd in the brain; treatment of damage caused bgceaydial infarction; support in the
hematologic malignancy setting to reduce certamplations associated with traditional bone marmwwematopoietic stem cell, or HSC,
transplantation; and treatment of IBD, initiallycfssed on UC. Additionally, in collaboration witHemding transplant center in Europe, we
advanced a program in the solid organ transplaa ito clinical development and plan to beginiciihdevelopment for treatment of ARDS.

We may expand to other clinical indication areaseaslts warrant and resources permit.

Neurological Injury and Diseas+— MultiStem for Ischemic Stroke

Another focus of our regenerative medicine progimMultiStem administration for the treatment ofin@ogical injury as a result of acute or
chronic conditions. Neurological injury and diseasgresents an area of significant unmet medioad n@ major burden on the healthcare
system, and also represents a huge commercial toptgr

Many neurological conditions require extensive kagn therapy, and many require extended hospitiadia and/or institutional care, creating
an enormous cost burden. Stroke represents anvarre the clinical need is particularly significasince it represents a leading cause of dea
and significant long term disability. We have psh&d research with independent collaborating inyatsirs that demonstrates that MultiStem
administration conveys biological benefits in pigichl models of ischemic stroke, as well as othedels of neurological damage and injury,
including TBI, neonatal hypoxic ischemia (a causaeurological damage in infants), and spinal dojdry. We also conducted preclinical
work in other neurological areas, and have beendeuagrants to support work in areas such as thiedtions described above and for
evaluating the potential of MultiStem cells to asklr chronic conditions such as Multiple SclerasidVlS, or Parkinson’s disease. Our researc
has shown that MultiStem cells convey benefitsubfodistinct mechanisms, including reducing inflamony damage, protecting at risk tissue
at the site of injury, and through direct neurolgpeffects that stimulate the recovery of damaggarons. As a result, we believe that
MultiStem therapy may have relevance to multiplerf® of neurological injury and disease.

Our initial clinical focus in the neurological areeolves evaluating MultiStem administration tedt ischemic stroke. Currently, there are
approximately 800,000 individuals in the Unitedt8sathat suffer a stroke each year, more than tillimmstroke victims in the United States,
Europe and Japan combined and approximately 1%mileople that suffer a stroke each year globale vast majority of these
(approximately 85% to 90%) are ischemic strokeat #ne caused by a blockage of blood flow in tr@rhthat cuts off the supply of oxygen
and nutrients, and can result in tissue loss andotegical damage, as well as long term or permedisability. The remaining 10% to 15% ¢
hemorrhagic strokes, which occur when a blood Vdsssts and bleeding into the brain ensues.

Recent progress toward the development of safermeod effective treatments for ischemic strokelheen disappointing. Despite the fact that
ischemic stroke is one of the leading causes dahdmad disability in the United States, there hearblittle progress toward the development of
treatments that improve the prognosis for strokéims. The only FDA-approved drug currently avdiafor ischemic stroke is the artietting
factor, tPA. According to current clinical guidedis;, tPA must be administered to stroke patientsinvgeveral hours after the occurrence of th
ischemic stroke to remove the clot while minimizjmgtential risks, such as bleeding into the brAnministration of tPA after three to four
hours is not recommended, since it can cause @igleeding or even death. As a consequence ofitthited time window, only a small
percentage of stroke victims are treated with tiveently available therapy—most simply receive sartige or “palliative” care. The long-term
costs of stroke are substantial, with many patiessiring extended hospitalization, extended ptaldherapy or rehabilitation (for those
patients that are capable of entering such progrand many require long-term institutional or fintare.
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In preclinical studies conducted by investigatarsluding at the University of Minnesota, the GaarBegents University, and the Universit
Texas Health Science Center at Houston, signififtardtional improvements have been observed inmsdinat have undergone an
experimentally induced stroke, or that have inaligignificant neurological damage due to similgrety of ischemic events, such as a result of
neonatal hypoxic ischemia or TBI, and then receiMedtiStem treatment. Published research has detradad that MultiStem administration
even one week after a surgically induced strokeli®s substantial long-term therapeutic benestevidenced by the improvement of treated
animals compared with controls in a battery ofsestamining mobility, strength, fine motor skilésd other aspects of neurological functional
improvement.

Based on the research conducted by us and ouboddieors, we believe MultiStem treatment convegsificant benefits through several
mechanisms, including reduction of inflammation anchune system modulation in the ischemic area,thegrotection and rescue of
damaged or injured cells, including neuronal tisResearch results presented at the 2011 and 2@E2i¢an Heart Association International
Stroke Conference by collaborators from the Uniteisf Texas Health Science Center at Houston destnated that MultiStem administration
24 hours following a stroke reduced inflammatoryndge in the brain and resulted in significant fior@l improvement, and that some of
these results were achieved by reducing the inflatarg response emanating from the spleen. Thea#égesnfirm that MultiStem treatment
well tolerated, does not require immunosuppresaiahresults in a robust and durable therapeutiefiieand are consistent with prior results
that show MultiStem can provide significant berseéiven when administered up to one week aftemitialistroke event.

We recently completed enrollment in our double-thliplacebo-controlled Phase 2 clinical trial exjpigrthe administration of MultiStem to
patients that have suffered an ischemic strokbennited States and Europe. In this trial, MuéiiBtwas administered one to two days afte
stroke had occurred. If shown to be safe and éfiecthis would represent a significant extensibthe treatment window relative to existing
standard of care and could provide an important thenapeutic option for stroke patients. We belithat the potential market for a new
therapy to treat stroke could be $15 to $20 bilbormore annually. We anticipate announcing therint safety and initial efficacy results in
April 2015, following the ninety-day patient evalizen and receipt of the unblinded clinical data.

We are also interested in the application of Mt for other neurological indications that représereas of significant unmet medical need,
such as TBI, which represents the leading causiésability among children and young adults, andaaling cause of death. Approximately
1.7 million cases of TBI are seen in the United&ta@ach year, nearly half a million cases of wihighchildren age 0 to 14 years old. The
United States Center for Disease Control and Ptareror CDC, estimates that more than 5.3 miliiodividuals are living with a disability
and have a long-term or lifelong need for helpedigrm activities of daily living as a result offl&Il. The annual direct and indirect costs for
TBI are approximately $60 billion a year, accordinghe National Institute of Neurological Disorg@nd Stroke, which is part of the National
Institutes of Health. In preclinical studies of TRBHministration of MultiStem dramatically redudéé extent of damage caused by a TBI, and
promoted accelerated healing of the blood-brainidrain 2012, we announced grant funding of u3® million to further advance our
MultiStem programs and cell therapy platform, inthg further development of MultiStem therapy foe treatment of TBI and further
development of our cell therapy formulations andofacturing capabilities. We received authorizafin2013 to advance our TBI program
into the second phase of the two-stage federal graard and expect to complete this research mib-20

We are also conducting preclinical work explorihg tipplication of MultiStem treatment in other rdogical indications. In 2010, we and
collaborators at the Center for Stem Cell and Regeive Medicine and Case Western Reserve Uniyengte awarded $1.0 million through
the Ohio Third Frontier Biomedical Program to supmoeclinical and translational research into MhdtiStem treatment of spinal cord injury,
or SCI. In 2012, we presented data at the AnnuaieBofor Neuroscience meeting that demonstratatlittravenous MultiStem administrati
one day after SCI results in statistically sigrafit and sustained improvements in gross locomatastion, fine locomotor function and blad
control compared to control treated animals.

Over the past several years, we have been utilgiagt funding to investigate the potential for Medem treatment for chronic progressive
multiple sclerosis, or MS, based on initial resuitpreclinical models. In 2012, in collaboratioittwscientists from Case Western Reserve
University, and with the support of Fast Forward #me National Multiple Sclerosis Society, we répdrresearch results that demonstrate the
potential benefits of MultiStem therapy for treatiMS. In standard preclinical models of MS, reskars observed that MultiStem
administration results in sustained behavioral mmpments, arrests the demyelination process tlanigsal to the pathology of MS, and
supports remyelination of affected axons. We hawrginued to advance our MS program with suppornfféast Forward.
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Cardiovascular Disease— Evaluating MultiStem for Treating Damage from a HebAttack

Cardiovascular disease is an area of significanicell need and its prevalence is expected to gnalve years ahead. Despite treatment
advances in recent years, cardiovascular diseas@ns the leading cause of death, and represeatefdhe leading causes of disability arounc
the world. In the United States, approximately 908, people suffer a heart attack each year, anad=appately 5.1 million individuals in the
United States are currently suffering from heaittifa in 2010, according to the American Heart Asation 2014 Statistical Update. Another
8.5 million people suffer from peripheral arteriigease, which is associated with significant nditypiand mortality. In addition, there were
approximately 788,000 deaths that occurred frorfoaths of cardiovascular disease, including 443,@00viduals that died as a result of
coronary heart disease or heart failure. Accortlingrojections published recently by the AmericaaaH Association in February 2011 in the
journalCirculation, aggregate costs for treating heart disease ibJtiited States are expected to soar in the congagsy In 2010, annual
direct costs for treating cardiovascular disease 273 billion, but by 2030 these are expectatetrly triple, to a projected $818 billion per
year. This increase will occur primarily as a resitithe aging population, and may not fully refléee impact of the dramatic escalatior
obesity rates that has occurred for both adultschildren in recent years, which could further exthate the long-term challenges and increas
costs associated with cardiovascular disease #ed obnditions.

In a Phase 1 clinical trial, we explored MultiStenmatment for damage caused by AMI. Myocardialrictian is one of the leading causes of
death and disability in the United States and ised by the blockage of one or more arteries thgtlg blood to the heart. Such blockages cal
be caused, for example, by the rupture of an atlcésmtic plaque deposit. A variety of risk factare associated with an elevated risk of
myocardial infarction or atherosclerosis, includagg, high blood pressure, smoking, sedentanytyiteand genetics. While advances in the
diagnosis, prevention and treatment of heart deskase had a positive impact, there is clearly ré@nimprovement—myocardial infarction
remains a leading cause of death and disabilitiérlUnited States and the rest of the world.

MultiStem treatment has been studied in validatéchal models of AMI, including at both the Clevetb@linic and the University of
Minnesota. Investigators demonstrated that the midtmation of allogeneic MultiStem cells into theahnts of animals damaged by
experimentally induced heart attacks resultedgnificant functional improvement in cardiac outpntd other functional parameters comparec
with animals that received placebo or no treatmiemtthermore, the administration of immunosuppresdrug was not required and provided
no additional benefit in this study, and suppdrts ¢oncept of using MultiStem cells as an allogepebduct. We completed additional
preclinical studies in established pig models oflAMing catheter delivery and examining variougdessuch as the route and method of
MultiStem administration, dose ranging, and timarigreatment.

We conducted a multicenter, open-label Phase icalitrial in this indication and the results shalwhat MultiStem treatment was well
tolerated at all dose levels, exhibited a favorahliety profile, and that patients who received titém treatment exhibited meaningful
improvements in cardiovascular function, includiefy ventricular ejection fraction, wall motion ses, and other parameters. These results
were published bZirculation Researcin 2012.

We are preparing for a Phase 2 clinical study oftidtem administration to patients that have s@ffiean AMI, which we anticipate will

commence in the second quarter of 2015. In 2013yere awarded a grant from the National Institatfeldealth for up to $2.8 million to
support the funding of the program.

Immunological Disorders— MultiStem for Acute Pulmonary Distress, IBD and HSTransplant Support

Inflammatory and immune disorders represent a fogmit burden to society. There are over 80 recmphautoimmune disorders, which are
conditions caused by an acute or chronic imbalamtiee immune system. In these conditions, celithefimmune system begin to attack
certain tissues or organs in the body, resultinissue damage and loss of function. Some inflarargatnd immune conditions are associated
with age-related conditions (e.g., rheumatoid @ity but some are due to other causes that mayebetic, environmental or a combination of
both (e.g., Type 1 diabetes, IBD). Still other citiods may reflect complications associated with tleatment of other conditions (e.g., GvHD,
a frequent complication associated with transpteiatedures used to treat leukemia or related bbmyde cancers). Each of these conditions
shares certain biological characteristics, in thatimmune system imbalance results from the irgppate activation of certain populations of
immune cells that subsequently results in significssue damage and destruction. This immune iamc&l may result in a complex cascade o
inflammation that can result in pain, progressissue deterioration and loss of function. Whilereatly available immunomodulatory drugs
have proven to be effective for some patients, tiese failed to adequately address the needs of wther patients that suffer from
inflammatory and immune disorders.

In multiple studies, MultiStem cells have showngmitimmunomodulatory properties, including theifptb reduce active inflammation
through various modes of action, stimulate tisgmair and restore immune system balance. Accordimg believe that MultiStem therapy
could have broad application in the area of trgaitinimune system disorders, including certain asftammatory conditions, autoimmune
diseases and other conditions.
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In animal models, MultiStem cells have demonstrate@bility to reduce the severity of pulmonanyrdiss, reduce alveolar edema and return
lung endothelial permeability to normal. IntraveaddultiStem treatment early following the onsetlod condition may ameliorate the initial
hyper-inflammation and reduce the fibrotic actiuityat follows, thereby speeding the return to angdroving the likelihood of more normal
lung function, and helping patient recovery. Inukay 2015, we announced that our subsidiary, Ayfselcimited, received a grant award of up
to approximately £2.0 million from Innovate UK topport a Phase 2a clinical study evaluating theimidimation of MultiStem cell therapy to
ARDS patients. We intend to initiate this studythie second half of 2015.

ARDS is a serious immunological and inflammatorpdition characterized by widespread inflammatiothia lungs. ARDS can be triggered
by pneumonia, sepsis, or other trauma and repieaaemijor cause of morbidity and mortality in thigéiaal care setting. It has significant
implications, as it prolongs intensive care unitl@U, and hospital stays, and requires convaleseénthe hospital and rehabilitation. There
are limited interventions and no effective drugatmeents for ARDS, making it an area of high unnlieical need with high treatment

costs. Given ARDS high treatment costs, a succkessfittherapy could be expected to generate sigant savings for the healthcare system by
reducing days on a ventilator, days in the intemsiare unit and total days in the hospital, andirtgmtly, could reduce mortality and improve
quality of life for those suffering from the condit. The medical need for a safe and effectivetitneat of ARDS is significant due to its high
mortality rate, and it affects annually approxinla®&3,000 patients in the UK and 400,000 to 500,p8tents in Europe, the United States anc
Japan, alone.

Another area of focus is the use of MultiStem cafisadjunctive treatment for HSC/bone marrow treamtpsed as therapy in hematologic
malignancy. For many types of cancer, such as haigker other blood-borne cancers, treatment tyfyigabolves radiation therapy or
chemotherapy, alone or in combination. Such treatro@n substantially deplete the cells of the bland immune system, by reducing the
number of stem cells in the bone marrow from whiety arise. The more intense the radiation treatmeochemotherapy, the more severe the
resulting depletion is of the bone marrow, bloatj anmune system. Other tissues may also be affesteh as cells in the digestive tract and
in the pulmonary system. The result may be seveeen&@, immunodeficiency, substantial reductionigedtive capacity, and other problems
that may result in significant disability or death.

One strategy for treating the depletion of bonerowaiis to perform a peripheral blood stem cell é@ant or a bone marrow transplant. This
approach may augment the patient’s ability to foew blood and immune cells and provide a significamvival advantage. However, finding
a closely matched donor is frequently difficultemen impossible. Even when such a donor is founthdny cases there are immunological
complications, such as GvHD, which may result incges disability or death.

Working with leading experts in the stem cell amthé marrow transplantation field, we studied Mu#i8 in animal models of radiation
therapy and GvHD. In multiple animal models, Muléif cells have been shown to be non-immunogenén aihen administered without the
genetic matching that is typically required for eentional bone marrow or stem cell transplantatieurthermore, in animal model systems
testing immune reactivity of T-cells against untethdonor tissue, MultiStem has been shown to &gspthe T-cell-mediated immune
responses that are an important factor in causitg0s MultiStem-treated animals also displayed aigant increase in survival relative to
controls. As a result, we believe that MultiStermadstration in conjunction with or following staacd HSC transplantation may have the
potential to reduce the incidence or severity ohplications and may enhance gastrointestinal fonctivhich is frequently compromised as a
result of radiation treatment or chemotherapy.

We completed a Phase 1 clinical trial examiningséiety and tolerability of a single dose or repkzing of MultiStem cells administered
intravenously to patients receiving a bone marroWwesmatopoietic stem cell transplant as part af theatment of leukemia or other
hematological condition. The trial was an open lameilticenter trial that involved leading expeirishe field of bone marrow transplantation.
In February 2012, we announced the top-line re$udta the trial. We observed a consistent safetfilerin both the single and multiple dose
arms of the study, and at all dose levels testéttioAgh the trial was not specifically designediéamonstrate efficacy, we also observed
clinically meaningful improvement in medically impant parameters relative to historical clinicapesience, including reduced incidence and
severity of acute GvHD, improved relapse free sualyino graft failures, and enhanced engraftmaesreelative to other forms of treatment.

We were granted orphan drug designation by the BBAEMA for MultiStem treatment in the preventidnGyHD. We met with the FDA to
review the results from the Phase 1 trial and disqlans for the next phase of clinical developm&hich we intend to be a Phase 2-3 study ©
MultiStem for GVHD prophylaxis and HSC transplanpport. Based on FDA feedback, we are currenthykimgrto finalize our trial design as
we plan and prepare for trial initiation. The iatton of the trial will depend on the progress um olinical trials and the achievement of certain
business development and financial objectives elorirary 2015, we were granted designation by th& &®a Fast Track product for
prophylaxis therapy against GvHD following hematapic cell transplantation.

12



Table of Contents

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreemaétht Pfizer to develop and commercialize MultiStdmarapy for the treatment of IBD for t
worldwide market. IBD is a group of inflammatorydaautoimmune conditions that affect the colon andlkintestine, typically resulting in
severe abdominal pain, weight loss, vomiting arartiea. The most common forms of the disease irdlid and Crohn’s disease, which are
estimated to affect four million people or morehie United States, five major European markets (@&many, France, Italy and Spain) and
Japan. Chronic IBD can be a severely debilitatimgdition, and advanced cases may require surgegntove the affected region of the bov
and may also require temporary or permanent catostr ileostomy. In many cases, surgery does ritiege a permanent cure, and patients
suffer a return of the disease. In 2011, enrollncemimenced in our double-blind, placebo-controfé@se 2 clinical study evaluating
MultiStem administration to patients suffering fra#€, and enrollment was completed in December 2Bl Bpril 2014, we and Pfizer
reported the initial interim results of the trithe interim results obtained from the trial showteat a single administration of MultiStem to a
patient population with longstanding, chronic acdathdisease failed to show a meaningful clinicidatfat the eight-week evaluation period.
Despite not showing a significant improvement coragdo placebo in the primary efficacy endpoirttg, MultiStem therapy demonstrated
favorable safety and tolerability in the eight weésllowing treatment. Furthermore, at four wegletjents getting MultiStem treatment had a
significantly higher proportion of rectal bleedingsponders than placebo patients, suggesting ggljildy of a transient effect from the single
MultiStem dose. However, given the limited eviden€benefit in this study, it remains possible tiatltiStem is not beneficial or well suited
to this indication. In the event that Pfizer does move forward with the program, development amahimercialization rights would revert to
us.

Pharmaceutical Program:
Novel 5HT2c agonists for the treatment of obesiiy ather condition:

Obesity is a substantial contributing factor t@aage of diseases that represent the major causkesatif and disability in the developed world
today. Individuals that are clinically obese halevated rates of cardiovascular disease, strok&gindgypes of cancer and diabetes. According
to the CDC, the incidence of obesity in the Unigtdtes has increased at an epidemic rate duringate20 years. CDC now estimates that
almost 70% of all Americans are overweight, inchgdmore than onthird that are considered clinically obese. Theestage of young peof
that are overweight has more than tripled since&d1%8&ere has also been a dramatic rise in theofaibesity in Europe and Asia. Despite the
magnitude of this problem, current approachesiticell obesity are largely ineffective, and we aveare of relatively few new therapeutic
approaches in clinical development.

We are developing novel pharmaceutical treatmamteliesity, which are compounds designed to aestibyulating a key receptor in the brain
that regulates appetite and food intake—the 5HE&2eptor. The role of this receptor in regulatingdantake is well understood in both animal
models and humans. In 1996, Wyeth launched theochetity drug Redu® (dexfenfluramine), a non-specific serotonin recepigonist that
was used with the stimulant phentermine in a coatibn commonly known as fen-phen. This diet drughbimation was shown to be highly
effective at regulating appetite, reducing foodk®, and causing significant weight loss. Unfortalya in addition to stimulating the SHT2¢
receptor, Redux also stimulated the 5HT2b receptdris found in the heart, and Redux was withdréam the market in 1997.

Since the withdrawal of Redux, several groups lpu#ished research and clinical data that implistitaulation of the 5SHT2b receptor as the
underlying cause of the cardiovascular problemgsélindings suggest that highly selective compsuhdt stimulate the 5HT2c receptor, but
that do not appreciably stimulate the 5HT2b recemtould be developed that maintain the desirectgepsuppressive effects without the
cardiovascular toxicity. Recent clinical data supgthis hypothesis and also suggests that the Bldganists may also cause a statistically
significant reduction in the amount of sugar in lth@od, as measured by fasting blood glucose amlliditevels, which are both clinically
relevant measures for patients suffering from diede

In 2012, the FDA approved Lorcaserin, a 5HT2c agfpfor the treatment of obesity. We believe tikigresents a significant event for our
program because it illustrates that the FDA reczegand agrees with the concept that SHT2c¢ agdhistslisplay appropriate selectivity,
biological activity and clinical safety are apprbilafor indications such as obesity.

Our drug development program is focused on cregtgignt and selective orally administered compouhdsstimulate the SHT2c receptor,
but that avoid the 5SHT2b receptor and other reaspsach as 5HT2a, or other receptors that couldecadverse side effects. Based on
extensive preclinical studies that we conductedh witmpounds that we generated, we have demonsthagebility to develop compounds that
are highly potent and selective for the 5SHT2c réme@nd that lack activity at either 5HT2a or SHiTRVe believe that clinical trials will
demonstrate that this achievement represents Hiségr advance in the field, and that the poteany selectivity profile displayed by
compounds we are developing will result in subsadigitbetter efficacy and a cleaner safety andredddity profile, as well as a more
convenient dosing schedule than other 5HT2¢ agpnigframs including Lorcaserin. We also evaluatathin of our compounds when
administered as a monotherapy or in conjunctioh wiher weight loss agents, and have observedtieeess with both approaches. We are
conducting preclinical evaluation of novel compositigat we developed that exhibit outstanding rewegetlectivity and are working toward -
selection of a clinical development candidate Ifig program.
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Certain potent and highly selective compoundsweatieveloped display a profile that we believe ihaye utility in treating schizophrenia. \
evaluated some of these compounds in preclinicalaisoof schizophrenia and have observed that thieipi¢ efficacy in these models.

We may elect to enter into a partnership to advémeelevelopment of our 5SHT2¢ agonist program eeifor the treatment of obesity,
schizophrenia, or both indications, as well ascmtain programs involving MultiStem.

Other Small Molecule Programs & Key Technologies

In addition to our other programs, we believe thate are significant opportunities for synergywmsstn our small molecule platform and
related capabilities and our MultiStem technoldgyecifically, we believe that substantial opportiesi exist for identifying and utilizing small
molecule modulators of therapeutically relevantdigccal activity exhibited by MultiStem or othelesh cell types. We believe that applying
capabilities in both areas could lead to next gatiear product development opportunities, includingre potent stem cell based therapies that
have been optimized for use in specific indicatoeas.

In addition to our current product development paogs, we developed our patented RAGiEchnology that provides us with the ability to
produce human cell lines that express specifidpgioally well validated drug targets without redgi upon cloned and isolated gene sequence
While our RAGE technology is not a therapeutic pretdit is a commercial technology that we havecessfully applied for the benefit of our
partners and that we also used for our own inteitnaj development programs. Modern drug screemipgoaches typically require the
physical isolation and structural modification afjene of interest, an approach referred to as geneg, in order to create a cell line that
expresses a drug target of interest. Researchershmia use the genetically modified cell line tentify pharmaceutical compounds that inhibit
or stimulate the target of interest. The RAGE tedtbgy enables us to turn on or amplify the exp@ssif a drug target without having to
physically clone or isolate the gene. In effecg, tichnology works through the random insertiotinyf, proprietary genetic switches that
randomly turn genes on without requiring their pbgkisolation, or any advance knowledge of th&uature. This technology provides us w
broad freedom to work with targets that may be wtise unavailable as a result of intellectual propeestrictions on the use of specific cloi
and isolated genes. In recent years, we have peddeall lines that express drug targets in a rafigisease areas such as metabolic disease,
infectious disease, oncology, cardiovascular desesaflammation, and central nervous system dissrddany of these were produced for drug
development programs at major pharmaceutical corapdhat we have collaborated with, such as Bristpérs Squibb, and some have been
produced for our internal drug development programs

Collaborations and Partnerships
Chugai

In February 2015, we entered into a license agraemith Chugai to develop and commercialize Muki@tcell therapy for ischemic stroke in
Japan on an exclusive basis. Under the agreembagaCwill be responsible for the development aohimercialization of MultiStem for

ischemic stroke in Japan, and we will have the annresponsibility for the manufacture of produmt both clinical and commercial purposes.
The parties will coordinate Japanese and globallaggry activities and clinical development plans fMultiStem treatment of ischemic stroke.

Under the terms of the agreement, we received gnoap cash payment of $10 million from Chugai ané entitled to receive a potential near-
term payment of $7 million tied to the results af ongoing Phase 2 clinical trial in ischemic seoWe may also receive additional success-
based development and regulatory milestones aggmgg# to $38 million, as well as potential sateifestones of up to 17.5 billion yen
(approximately $150 million based on the currerttenge rate). With commercialization and until éiggeement has expired or been
terminated, Chugai would pay us royalties on nktssatarting in the low double digits and incragsncrementally to the high teens depen
on net sales levels. Additionally, we would recgdayments for product supplied to Chugai.

The agreement will expire automatically upon thedaf the date the licensed product is no longeered by a patent claim in Japan, or the
expiration of the re-evaluation period under Adid4-2 of the Pharmaceutical Affairs Law of Japaarny revision or replacement, unless
extended as set forth below. Additionally, Chugairterminate the agreement under certain circurnstrincluding for material breach and
without cause upon advance written notice. We reayinate the agreement if Chugai fails to makeageippayments to us and, in certain ca

if there is an uncured material breach of the agez#. Chugai may extend the term of the agreenoentvo successive two-year periods at its
sole election, and thereafter, the agreement bhalutomatically and repeatedly extended for twar-yeriods unless prior notice is provided
by either party not to extend the term.
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Following termination of the agreement, the licengeanted to Chugai to develop and commercializ#iStem for ischemic stroke in Japan
will terminate and ownership of regulatory docunsegmd clinical data will revert to us. Further, aonexclusive license to intellectual
property developed by Chugai during the collaboraghall be expanded to include Japan and shailveutermination. We maintain rights to
develop and commercialize MultiStem for ischemrolet outside of Japan, and, for all other indigagion Japan, provided that we give Chuga
the first right to negotiate to add such indicasioém the license in Japan.

Pfizer

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration agreemaétit Pfizer to develop and commercialize MultiStémarapy for the treatment of IBD for t
worldwide market on an exclusive basis. Under éims of the agreement, we received a non-refundgibfeont cash payment of $6.0 million
from Pfizer and research funding during the inigiahse of the collaboration that ended in 2012addition, we are also eligible to receive
milestone payments of up to $105 million upon thecgssful achievement of certain development, e¢gnl and commercial milestones,
though there can be no assurance that we will eelifeese milestones, and no significant milestaerents were received as of Decembe
2014. We are responsible for manufacturing andePfiays us for manufacturing product for clinicaldlopment and commercialization
purposes. Pfizer has responsibility for developmeagulatory and commercialization. We may eleatdalevelop with Pfizer, in which case
the parties will share development and commera@tbn expenses and profits, if any, on an agreedtigasis beginning at Phase 3 clinical
development. Alternatively, we may elect to notdeelop with Pfizer, in which case Pfizer will pay tiered single-digit royalties on
worldwide commercial sales of MultiStem IBD prodsicAny royalties may be subject to certain redundticelated to market exclusivity, patent
claims and credits from sales milestone paymerits.duration of royalty payments is on a countryebyntry and product-by-product basis,
and shall continue until the later of the datelibensed product is no longer covered by a patandn such country, or twelve years from
product launch in such country.

The Pfizer collaboration does not have a spedafimination date, but will terminate upon the laséxpire royalty term, unless terminated
earlier by either party. Either party can termiriiiie agreement for an uncured material breachfautlePfizer is permitted to terminate the
agreement upon advance written notice to us isols discretion or in the event of certain matdsiglaches. We can terminate the agreement
a certain milestone event has not occurred by iaet&period of time, or if we reasonably believattRfizer has failed to satisfy its obligations
to progress the development of the program. Fofigwermination of the agreement by us, all licergsesited to Pfizer to develop and
commercialize MultiStem for IBD will terminate, @hthan certain more limited research licenses,aarership of regulatory and clinical d
will revert to us. Following termination of the agment by Pfizer due to material breach, the liesigsanted to Pfizer will remain in effect
according to their terms and payments to us willdzkiced from what was otherwise payable.

University of Minnesota

In 2003, we acquired the exclusive rights to themCAtechnology originally developed at the Univgrsit Minnesota pursuant to a license
agreement with the University. Over the past sdwezars, we further developed this technology dmednhanufacturing of the cells for use in
ongoing clinical trials. We refer to the lead dbkrapy as the MultiStem product platform. We dikgated to pay the University of Minnesota
a royalty based on worldwide commercial salesaarsed products if covered by a valid licensednaléhe low single-digit royalty rate may
be reduced if third-party payments for intellectpedperty rights are necessary or commerciallyrdb to permit the manufacture or sale of
the product. The royalty payment obligation andtéren of the license agreement expire upon thedeskpire licensed patent. Based on our
current patent portfolio, and absent any contirunetj renewals or extensions of existing patenéslast licensed patent to expire under the
license agreement is currently expected to expi@0R8. The license agreement does not have disgecmination date, but the University of
Minnesota can terminate the license agreementfomnaured event of default, as defined, or uponbamkruptcy and we can terminate the
license agreement at any time.

RTI

In 2010, we entered into an agreement with RTleleetbp and commercialize MAPC technoldogsed biologic implants for certain orthope
applications in the bone graft substitutes markea exclusive basis. Under the terms of our RTéagent, we received $5.0 million of
license fees in installments during 2010-2012.deoadance with the agreement, we are also eligibieceive an additional $35.5 million in
cash payments upon the successful achievementtafrceommercial milestones, though there can bassorance that such milestones will b
achieved, and no significant milestone paymenteweceived as of December 31, 2013. In additionremeive tiered royalties on worldwide
commercial sales of implants using our technolog&sed on a royalty rate starting in the mid-simliggts and increasing into the mid-teens.
We began receiving royalties from RTI in 2014. Rtga may be subject to a reduction if third-pgrayments for intellectual property rights
are necessary or commercially desirable to petreintanufacture or sale of the product.
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The term of the agreement is the longer of (i) frears from the effective date in 2010, (ii) twayafter the last sale of a licensed product,
(iii) the last to expire of any past, present dufe licensed patent, and (iv) the life of tradersts applicable to the licensed product. Either
party can terminate the agreement upon the othigr'pdankruptcy or for an uncured material bredMl can terminate the agreement if our
rights to our technology expire such that thera iisaterial effect on the development and commeézei@n of the licensed products. We can
terminate the agreement if RTI has not reacheckaifspd target of sales of the licensed produchinifive years of the effective date or a
specified target of annual sales each year theraft

Bristol-Myers Squibb

In 2000, we entered into a collaboration with Brigflyers Squibb to provide cell lines expressinglwalidated drug targets produced using
our RAGE technology for compound screening and ldgveent. This initial collaboration was expande@@92 and again in 2006, and was in
its final phase as amended in 2009. Bristol-Myeysilsh uses the cell lines in its internal drug depment programs and, in exchange, we
receive license fee and milestone payments andwiéintitled to receive royalties on the sale gf @pproved products. Depending on the use
of a cell line by Bristol-Myers Squibb and the pregs of drug development programs benefiting frioenuse of such a cell line, we may
receive as much as approximately $5.5 million grime in additional license fees and milestoagmpents, though we cannot assure you tha
any further milestones will be achieved or thatwi receive any additional milestone payments.oh®ecember 31, 2014, we received an
aggregate amount of $2.1 million in milestone pagtaand $9.8 million in license fees since the jioe of our collaboration with Bristol-
Myers Squibb.

The Bristol-Myers Squibb collaboration does notédawspecific termination date, but will terminatieen Bristol-Myers Squibb no longer has
an obligation to pay us royalties, which obligatgemerally continues until the later of the expiatof the Bristol-Myers Squibb patent
covering an approved product and ten years aftanuercial sales of that product began. If eithetyplareaches its material obligations and
fails to cure that breach within 60 days after cmfrom the non-breaching party, the non-breacharty may terminate the collaboration.

Competition

We face significant competition with respect to #agious dimensions of our business. With regarolutoefforts to develop MultiStem as a
novel stem cell therapy, currently, there are alemof companies that are actively developing stelinproducts, which encompass a range o
different cell types, including embryonic stem selimbilical cord stem cells, adulerived stem cells and processed bone marrow decie#s

Mesoblast Limited, or Mesoblast, is currently erggan clinical trials evaluating the safety andaef€y of Revascor, an allogeneic stem cell
product based on mesenchymal stem cell precurisatsite obtained from healthy consenting donoresg&feells also appear to display limited
expansion potential and biological plasticity. Atifehially, Mesoblast is developing Prochymal, a mesgmal stem cell product candidate that
it acquired from Osiris Therapeutics, Inc., and Mdast has a partnership with Cephalon, Inc., gh@®n, now owned by Teva
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., for treating conditionsudahg congestive heart failure, AMI, Parkinson’safise and Alzheimer’s disease.

Other public companies are developing stem-reldtedhpies, including Aastrom Biosciences, IncAastrom, Stem Cells Inc., Johnson &
Johnson, Celgene Corporation, or Celgene, Adva@edidTrechnology, Inc., CRYO-CELL International, InPluristem Therapeutics, Inc., or
Pluristem, and Cytori Therapeutics, Inc., or Cytbriaddition, private companies, such as Gamidal@, Plureon Corporation, NeoStem,
Inc., Tigenix NV and others, are also developinjtberapy related products or capabilities. Gitlea magnitude of the potential opportunity
for stem cell therapy, we expect competition irs thiea to intensify in the coming years.

We also face competition in our efforts to devetomppounds for the treatment of obesity. In 2012, hww treatments were approved by the
FDA for the treatment of obesity, Belviq (Lorcasgriwhich was developed by Arena Pharmaceuticats, br Arena, and Qsymia (a
proprietary combination of phentermine and topireyavhich was developed by Vivus, Inc., or Vivirs2014, another new drug combination
was approved, Contrave (a proprietary combinatfamatirexone and bupropion), which was develope®bgxigen. Prior to these recent
approvals, there was one approved therapeutic ptaauthe market for obesity, Xenical (also knownadli), which is marketed by F. Hoffm:

- LaRoche Ltd., or Roche. Potential side effecsmaimted with taking Xenical / Alli include crampinintestinal discomfort, flatulence,
diarrhea, and leakage of oily stool. Another olyeditig, Meridia, was approved for clinical use amarketed by Abbott Pharmaceuticals, but
was withdrawn from the market due to concerns iiggrincreased risk of cardiovascular disease tm#esamong patients taking the drug.
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There are many other companies that have previaitgynpted or are attempting to develop novelitneats for obesity, and a wide range of
approaches are being taken. Some of these compadliede large, multinational pharmaceutical comesusuch as Bristol-Myers Squibb,
Merck & Co., Inc., Roche, Sanofi, GlaxoSmithKlinke,por GlaxoSmithKline, Eli Lilly and Company anthers. There are also a variety of
biotechnology companies developing treatments besidy, including Neurosearch, Amgen Inc., or Amdgeageneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Nastech Pharmaceutical Company, Alizyme plc, AmiPiarmaceuticals, Inc., Neurocrine Biosciences, Bigionogi & Co., Ltd., Metaboli
Pharmaceuticals Limited, Kyorin Pharmaceutical Ctd,, and others. It is likely that, given the mégde of the market opportunity, many
companies will continue to focus on the obesityaaesnd that competition will remain high. If we areccessful at developing a 5SHT2c agonist
as a safe and effective treatment for obesitg, likely that other companies will attempt to depesafer and more effective compounds in the
same class, or will attempt to combine therapiesnieffort to establish a safer and more effedtieeapeutic product.

We believe our most significant competitors ardyfiitegrated pharmaceutical companies and biotalolgy companies that have substantially
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing, lamthan resources than we do. These companies roegeslin obtaining regulatory approval
for competitive products more rapidly than we candur products. In addition, our competitors mayelop technologies and products that ar
cheaper, safer or more effective than those bedvgldped by us or that would render our technolwggolete. Furthermore, some of these
companies may feel threatened by our activitiesatenpt to delay or impede our efforts to devedapproducts or apply our technologies.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent applicationdepts, trademarks, and contractual provisions @tept our proprietary rights. We believe
that to have a competitive advantage, we must dpwehd maintain the proprietary aspects of ourreldgies. Currently, we require our
officers, employees, consultants, contractors, faturers, outside scientific collaborators andnsoed researchers, and other advisors to
execute confidentiality agreements in connectiath wieir employment, consulting, or advisory relaships with us, where appropriate. We
also require our employees, consultants, and advihat we expect to work on our products to atpedisclose and assign to us all inventions
conceived during the work day, developed usingpsaperty, or which relate to our business. We alyehave over 200 patents for our
technologies.

We have a broad patent estate with claims diredctedmpositions, methods of production, and mettuddsse of certain non-embryonic stem
cells and related technologies. We developed, aeg@nd exclusively licensed intellectual propedyering our cell therapy product
candidates and other applications in the field. @oad intellectual property portfolio consistsapproximately 160 issued patents (of which
seventeen are United States patents) and mord 8taglobal patent applications around our stemteelinology and MultiStem product
platform. This includes fourteen United States p&t@and more than 100 international patents thglyap MAPC and related products, such as
MultiStem. The current intellectual property estathich incorporates additional filings and maydmten over time, could provide coverage
our stem cell product candidates, manufacturinggsses and methods of use through 2030 and belyoridermore, an extended period of
market exclusivity may apply for certain produasy(, exclusivity periods for orphan drug desigmatr biologics).

We have been active in the development, improvemedtprotection of our intellectual property politidhrough our prosecution efforts,
collaborative research efforts, and in-licensingpag other things. From time-to-time, we will alsogage in adversarial processes, such as
interference or litigation, to protect or advaneetain patents or applications. These activitigsagent an important cost of doing business, ar
can result in successes and setbacks due to tine mditthe processes. For example, over the paestaeyears, we have been involved in
several proceedings in the United States withral {harty focused on a technology developed afeMAPC technology. In an earlier
proceeding, our success resulted in the issuanagafent. However, in a more recent proceedingytarference board ruled that this patent
and another application of ours should be cancetletisuch ruling may be advanced into an appeagss. Over time, we expect to be
involved in similar proceedings with the objectivfedeveloping the portfolio to support and protgetvelopment and commercialization of our
or our licensees’ cell therapy products.

We have established a broad intellectual propestifgio related to our small molecule product caiates and functional genomics
technologies. We have a broad patent estate vatimsldirected to compositions, methods of makingd, methods of using our small molecule
drug candidates. We have six United States paterttshree patent applications with broad claimealéd to selective 5SHT2c agonists
discovered at Athersys that currently provide patenerage through as late as 2029. From our His&af3 program, we have six United
States patents with broad claims directed to comgeuliscovered at Athersys from two distinct cheingeries that currently provide patent
coverage through as late as 2028. In addition,wmeently have 37 issued patents (16 United Stadgsnps and 21 international patents) relatin
to compositions and methods for the RAGE technotbgy currently provide patent coverage througlatesas 2020, and five United States
patents and nine patent applications relating tadmproteins and candidate drug targets that wifabel through the application of RAGE
and to our other technologies that currently prevpdtent coverage through as late as 2022. The Ra@taology was developed by Dr. John
Harrington and other Athersys scientists internadlthe mid-1990s.
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We believe that we have broad freedom to use amaregcially develop our technologies and productidates. However, in the event that
we or our collaborators are developing, manufactyror selling potential products that are clairteahfringe a third party’s intellectual
property, a loss in litigation may prevent us froommercializing our products, unless that partytras rights to use its intellectual property.
Further, we may not be able to obtain any licemsgsired under any patents or proprietary righthwél parties on acceptable terms, or at all.
Even if we were able to obtain rights to the thpedty’s intellectual property, these rights maynioa-exclusive, thereby giving our competitors
access to the same intellectual property. Ultingat@e may be unable to commercialize some of otemqg@l products or may have to cease
some of our business operations as a result ohpateingement claims, which could severely hamn business.

Research and Development

Our research and development costs, which congibyly of costs associated with external clinitiél costs, preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persaosts$, legal expenses resulting from intellegiwaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, were $23 Womin 2014, $20.5 million in 2013 and $19.6 nahiin 2012.

Government Regulation

Any products we may develop and our research anelalement activities are subject to stringent goweent regulation in the United States
the FDA and, in many instances, by correspondingido and state regulatory agencies. The EuropegonUJor EU, has vested centralized
authority in the EMA and Committee on Proprietargditinal Products, or CPMP, to standardize revied/a@proval across EU member
nations. In Japan, the PDMA, a division of the Miny of Health, Labour and Welfare, or MHLW, regelathe development and
commercialization of medical therapies. Recentiypah’s parliament enacted new legislation to prentoe safe and accelerated development
of treatments using stem cells. The new regeneratiedicine law and revised pharmaceutical affainsdefine products containing stem cells
as regenerative medicine products and allow foctrelitional approval of such products if safetg baen confirmed in clinical trials, even if
their efficacy has not been fully demonstrated. [Bggslation creates a new, faster pathway fortbeltapy product approval, and offers the
potential to enable more rapid entry in the Japanesrket. The MHLW has been directed to developaatugpht new rules and procedures to
implement this legislation.

These regulatory agencies enforce comprehensittdetaregulations and guidelines governing the dievelopment process. This process
involves several steps. Initially, a company musiayate preclinical data to show safety before murasting may be initiated. In the United
States, a drug company must submit an IND to tha pior to securing authorization for human testiige IND must contain adequate data
on product candidate chemistry, toxicology and imeliam and, where appropriate, animal researcintet support initial safety.

A Clinical Trial Authorization, or CTA, is the Eupean equivalent of the IND. CTA requirements aseés! by each competent authority wi
the European Union and are enacted by local lawdarectives.

Any of our product candidates will require regutgtapproval and compliance with regulations mad&hited States and foreign government
agencies prior to commercialization in such coestriThe process of obtaining FDA or foreign regulatgency approval has historically beer
extremely costly and time consuming. The FDA retgdaamong other things, the development, testragnufacture, safety, efficacy, record
keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertigmgmotion, sale, and distribution of biologics arev drugs.

The standard process required by the FDA befoteaanpaceutical agent may be marketed in the UnitateSincludes:
. preclinical tests in animals that demonstrate ageable likelihood of safety and effectivenespg@isible) in human patien

. submission to the FDA of an IND, which must beeogffective before clinical trials in humans cameoence. If Phase 1 clinical
trials are to be conducted initially outside theitdth States, a different regulatory filing is requai, depending on the location of the
trial;

. adequate and well controlled human clinical ¢ri@l establish the safety and efficacy of the dnulgiologic product for the intended
disease indicatior

. for drugs, submission of a New Drug ApplicationNdDA, or a Biologic License Application, or BLA, i the FDA; anc
. FDA approval of the NDA or BLA before any commeidale or shipment of the dru
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Preclinical studies can take several years to cetaphnd there is no guarantee that an IND basédose studies will become effective to
permit clinical trials to begin. The clinical deepiment phase generally takes ten to fifteen yeaisnger, to complete (i.e., from the initiation
of Phase 1 through completion of Phase 3 studies)) such sequential studies may overlap or be cadbifter successful completion of
clinical trials for a new drug or biologic produEtDA approval of the NDA or BLA must be obtainedhig process requires substantial time
effort and there is no assurance that the FDAawitlept the NDA or BLA for filing and, even if filethat the FDA will grant approval. In the
past, the FDA'’s approval of an NDA or BLA has taken average, one to two years, but in some inetan@y take substantially longer. If
questions regarding safety or efficacy arise, &mtht studies may be required, followed by a ressbion of the NDA or BLA. Review and
approval of an NDA or BLA can take up to severange The FDA and other Regulatory agencies su@ivis and PMDA have regulations
that allow for faster approval paths and reviewleythat may reduce clinical development phase tefiop to between five and seven years t
commercialization. Such regulations include butraotlimited toaccelerated/conditional approval paths and revigsies of between six to t
months (priority/accelerated review cycles). Howetere are specific criteria that must be mejualify for these paths, such as high unmet
medical need, orphan designation, fast track, eiaregd circumstances and breakthrough designation.

In addition to obtaining FDA approval for each puot] each drug manufacturing facility must be icspd and approved by the FDA. All
manufacturing establishments are subject to ingpecby the FDA and by other federal, state, agdllagencies, and must comply with good
manufacturing practices, or GMP, requirements. Weat currently have any GMP manufacturing captidj and will rely on contract
manufacturers to produce material for any clintdals that we may conduct.

We must also obtain regulatory approval in othemtdes in which we intend to market any drug. Téguirements governing conduct of
clinical trials, product licensing, pricing, andmdursement vary widely from country to country.ABpproval does not ensure regulatory
approval in other countries. The current approvatess varies from country to country, and the tipent in gaining approval varies from that
required for FDA approval. In some countries, thke @rice of the drug must also be approved. Thangrreview period often begins after
market approval is granted. Even if a foreign ratpry authority approves a drug product, it mayapgrove satisfactory prices for the prod

In addition to regulations enforced by the FDA amérnational regulatory agencies, we are alsoesittp regulation under the Occupational
Safety and Health Act, the Environmental Protectiah the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Rese@onservation and Recovery Act, and
other present and potential future federal, statégcal regulations. Our research and developimwoives the controlled use of hazardous
materials, chemicals, biological materials, andotes radioactive compounds. Although we believe tha safety procedures for handling and
disposing of such materials currently comply innadlterial respects with the standards prescribestdig and federal regulations, the risk of
accidental contamination or injury from these matsrcannot be completely eliminated. In the evdrsuch an accident, we could be held
liable for any damages that result and any sudfiliiacould exceed our available resources.

Employees

We believe that our success will be based on, amtmay things, the quality of our clinical prograroar ability to invent and develop superior
and innovative technologies and products, and bilityato attract and retain capable managementahdr personnel. We have assembled a
high quality team of scientists, clinical developthmanagers, and executives with significant exgpee in the biotechnology and
pharmaceutical industries.

As of December 31, 2014, we employed 57 full-timgp®yees, including 18 with Ph.D. degrees. In addito our employees, we also use the
service and support of outside consultants andsadsi None of our employees is represented byanuand we believe relationships with our
employees are good.

Available Information

We use the Investors section of our web site, wiherays.com, as a channel for routine distributibmportant information, including news
releases, analyst presentations and financialrmdtion. We post filings as soon as reasonably jgedile after they are electronically filed w

or furnished to, the SEC, including our annual,rtgrdy, and current reports on Forms 10-K, 10-QJ 8rK; our proxy statements; and any
amendments to those reports or statements. All gastings and filings are available on the Invessmction of our web site free of charge. In
addition, this web site allows investors and oiht#rested persons to sign up to automaticallyiveoe-mail alerts when we post news release
and financial information on our web site. The SEH€b maintains a web site, www.sec.gov, that costegports, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding isstiexsfile electronically with the SEC. The contentany web site referred to in this annual
report on Form 10-K is not incorporated by refeeemto this annual report unless expressly noted.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The statements in this section, as well as statenumscribed elsewhere in this annual report, othier SEC filings, describe risks that could
materially and adversely affect our business, fifrcondition and results of operations, whichldalso cause the trading price of our equity
securities to decline. These risks are not the nsks that we face. Our business, financial comdiand results of operations could also be
affected by additional factors that are not prdgdatown to us or that we currently consider tarenaterial to our operations.

We have incurred losses since inception and we expe incur significant net losses in the foresedalfuture and may never become
profitable.

Since our inception in 1995, we incurred significkrsses and negative cash flows from operatiorsingurred net losses of $22 million in
2014, $31 million in 2013 and $15 million in 2014% of December 31, 2014, we had an accumulateditlefi$287 million and anticipate
incurring additional losses for at least the nextesal years. We expect to spend significant ressuover the next several years to enhance o
technologies and to fund research and developnientrgipeline of potential products. To date, dab#ally all of Athersys’ revenue has been
derived from corporate collaborations, license agrents and government grants. In order to achieféability, we must develop products
and technologies that can be commercialized by tisrough our existing or future collaborations.r@ubility to generate revenues and becom
profitable will depend on our ability, alone or wipotential collaborators, to timely, efficientipcdasuccessfully complete the development of
our product candidates. We have never earned reviemn selling a product and we may never do sopag of our product candidates have
been approved for sale, since they are currenthgliested in humans and animal studies. We caassuire you that we will ever earn revenue
or that we will ever become profitable. If we sust@sses over an extended period of time, we neayrtable to continue our business.

We will need substantial additional funding to ddep our products and for our future operations. e are unable to obtain the funds
necessary to do so, we may be required to delatedzack or eliminate our product development aitas or may be unable to continue our
business.

The development of our product candidates will nega commitment of substantial funds to conduetdbstly and time-consuming research,
which may include preclinical and clinical testimgcessary to obtain regulatory approvals and mingproducts to market. Net cash used in
our operations was $26 million in 2014, $23 millior2013 and $18 million in 2012.

At December 31, 2014, we had $26 million of casishcequivalent and investments, and we will nebdtantially more to advance our
product candidates through development. Furthernvezewill need to add additional capital to fund operations through the completion of
our current clinical trials. Our future capital teBgements will depend on many factors, including:

. our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip

. the progress and costs of our research and develtmograms, including our ability to develop ourrent portfolio of therapeut
products, or discover and develop new ol

. our ability, or our partners ability and willingss, to advance partnered products or programshargpeed in which they are
advanced

. the cost of prosecuting, defending and enforcintgmtaclaims and other intellectual property rigl

. the progress, scope, costs, and results of @atipical and clinical testing of any current otute pharmaceutical or MultiStem-
related products

. the time and cost involved in obtaining regulatapprovals

. the cost of manufacturing our product candide

. expenses related to complying with GMP of theraipgurbduct candidate:

. costs of financing the purchases of additionalte®piquipment and development technolog
. competing technological and market developme

. our ability to establish and maintain collaboratand other arrangements with third parties tesessbringing our products to
market and the cost of such arrangeme

. the amount and timing of payments or equity inwests that we receive from collaborators or charig®r terminations of future
or existing collaboration and licensing arrangeraamd the timing and amount of expenses we incsupporting these
collaborations and license agreeme

. costs associated with the integration of any neerafon, including costs relating to future mergamd acquisitions with compan
that have complementary capabiliti
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. expenses related to the establishment of saksnanketing capabilities for products awaiting awai or products that have been
approved

. the level of our sales and marketing expenses

. our ability to introduce and sell new produr

The extent to which we utilize our existing equptyrchase agreement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLiGAgpire Capital, as a source of funding
will depend on a number of factors, including thevailing market price of our common stock, thewoé of trading in our common stock and
the extent to which we are able to secure funds mther sources. The number of shares that we gibipsAspire Capital under the purchase
agreement on any given day and during the terrheoagreement is limited. Additionally, we and Asp@apital may not effect any sales of
shares of our common stock under the purchaseragrdgeduring the continuance of an event of def&yen if we are able to access the
remaining $23.5 million under the purchase agre¢ragiof December 31, 2014, we will still need addgl capital to fully implement our
business, operating and development plans.

We have secured capital historically from granerases, collaboration proceeds, and debt and egffidgsings. We will need to secure
substantial additional capital to fund our futuperations. We cannot be certain that additionaitabywill be available on acceptable terms ¢
all. In recent years, it has been difficult for quemies to raise capital due to a variety of fagtatsch may or may not continue. To the extent
we raise additional capital through the sale ofitgcgecurities, including to Aspire Capital, themmsvship position of our existing stockholders
could be substantially diluted. If additional fure® raised through the issuance of preferred siodebt securities, these securities are likely
to have rights, preferences and privileges seniout common stock. Fluctuating interest ratesaalgo increase the costs of any debt
financing we may obtain.

Failure to successfully address ongoing liquid@guirements will have a material adverse effeabumbusiness. If we are unable to obtain
additional capital on acceptable terms when needednay be required to take actions that harm aasmiess and our ability to achieve cash
flow in the future, including possibly the surrendé our rights to some technologies or productaspmities, delaying our clinical trials or
curtailing or ceasing operations.

We are heavily dependent on the successful devetagrand commercialization of MultiStem products, @if we encounter delays or
difficulties in the development of this product cditlate, our business could be harmed.

Our success is heavily dependent upon the sucteesfelopment of MultiStem products for certainedises and conditions involving acute or
ischemic injury or immune system dysfunction. Ousibess could be materially harmed if we encoutiféiculties in the development of this
product candidate, such as:

. delays in the ability to manufacture the prodaajuantities or in a form that is suitable for aeguired preclinical studies or
clinical trials;

. delays in the design, enroliment, implementationanpletion of required preclinical studies andiclal trials;

. an inability to follow our current developmentagegy for obtaining regulatory approval from tHeA-because of changes in the
regulatory approval proces

. less than desired or complete lack of efficacyafety in preclinical studies or clinical trials;c

. intellectual property constraints that preventresif making, using, or commercializing the prodwndidate

Our product candidates are in an early stage of dmpment and we currently have no therapeutic pratiiapproved for sale. If we are
unable to develop, obtain regulatory approval or rkat any of our product candidates, our financiabadition will be negatively affected,
and we may have to curtail or cease our operations.

Many factors, known and unknown, can adverselycaffénical trials and the ability to evaluate aguct’s efficacy. During the course of
treatment, patients can die or suffer other advevsats for reasons that may or may not be retatéitk proposed product being tested. Even
unrelated to our product, certain events can negkrss adversely impact our clinical trials. Agsutt, our ability to ultimately develop and
market the products and obtain revenues would suffe

Even promising results in preclinical studies amtal clinical trials do not ensure successfululesin later clinical trials, which test broader
human use of our products. Many companies in alustry have suffered significant setbacks in adedratinical trials, despite promising
results in earlier trials.
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We are in the early stage of product developmett,vee are dependent on the application of our t@lcigies to discover or develop therape
product candidates. We currently do not sell aryreyed therapeutic products and do not expectve hay products commercially available
for several years, if at all. You must evaluateénuight of the uncertainties and complexities affieg an early stage biotechnology company.
Our product candidates require additional reseanthdevelopment, preclinical testing, clinical rggtand regulatory review and/or approvals
or clearances before marketing. To date, no onet&nowledge has commercialized any therapeutidymts using our technologies and we
might never commercialize any product using ountedogies and strategy. In addition, we may notead in developing new product
candidates as an alternative to our existing plootfid product candidates. If our current produatdidates are delayed or fail, or we fail to
successfully develop and commercialize new prodantlidates, our financial condition may be neggtia&ected, and we may have to curtail
or cease our operations.

We may not successfully maintain our existing cdilarative and licensing arrangements, or establisewnones, which could adversely affi
our ability to develop and commercialize our produwandidates.

A key element of our business strategy is to consialize some of our product candidates throughabaltations with other companies. Our
strategy includes establishing collaborations @&®hking agreements with one or more pharmaceubgkbchnology or device companies,
preferably after we have advanced product candidateugh the initial stages of clinical developmétowever, we may not be able to
establish or maintain such licensing and collalonadrrangements necessary to develop and comrizeaiar product candidates. Even if we
are able to maintain or establish licensing oradmitation arrangements, these arrangements maerast favorable terms and may contain
provisions that will restrict our ability to dev@lptest and market our product candidates. Anytfaito maintain or establish licensing or
collaboration arrangements on favorable terms cadiersely affect our business prospects, finacoiadlition or ability to develop and
commercialize our product candidates.

Our agreements with our collaborators and licensegshave provisions that give rise to disputesurgigg the rights and obligations of the
parties. These and other possible disagreemenks leaa to termination of the agreement or delaysollaborative research, development,
supply, or commercialization of certain productdiaates, or could require or result in litigationasbitration. Moreover, disagreements could
arise with our collaborators over rights to intetleal property or our rights to share in any offiltere revenues of products developed by our
collaborators. These kinds of disagreements caddlt in costly and timeensuming litigation. Any such conflicts with owlaborators coul
reduce our ability to obtain future collaboratiggreéements and could have a negative impact onetatianship with existing collaborators.

Currently, our material collaborations and licegsimrangements are our collaborations with (a) @htagydevelop and commercialize
MultiStem cell therapy for the treatment of ischerstiroke in Japan, (b) Pfizer to develop and comiakze MultiStem for the treatment of
IBD and (c) RTI to develop and commercialize MARECHnology-based biologic implants for certain optbaic applications in the bone graft
substitutes market, and our license with the Umsitagiof Minnesota pursuant to which we licenseaaraspects of the MAPC technology.
These arrangements do not have specific termindttes; rather, each arrangement terminates upgooctturrence of certain events.

If our collaborators do not devote sufficient timend resources to successfully carry out their catted duties or meet expected deadlir
we may not be able to advance our product candidatea timely manner or at all.

Our success depends on the performance by oubodditors of their responsibilities under our cotlediion arrangements. Some potential
collaborators may not perform their obligationsitimely fashion or in a manner satisfactory toTygically, we cannot control the amount of
resources or time our collaborators may devotaitgpoograms or potential products that may be dged in collaboration with us. We are
currently involved in multiple research and devet@mt collaborations with academic and researchtutisins. These collaborators frequently
depend on outside sources of funding to conducboplete research and development, such as gnaotsey awards. In addition, our
academic collaborators may depend on graduatergsjdeedical students, or research assistantauctd certain work, and such individuals
may not be fully trained or experienced in certi@as, or they may elect to discontinue their pigdtion in a particular research program,
creating an inability to complete ongoing reseanch timely and efficient manner. As a result cfgl uncertainties, we are unable to control
the precise timing and execution of any experimérs may be conducted.

Additionally, our current or future corporate caltaators will retain the ability to pursue othesearch, product development or commercial
opportunities that may be directly competitive watlr programs. If these collaborators elect torii® or pursue other programs in lieu of
ours, we may not be able to advance product deredapprograms in an efficient or effective manifeat all. If a collaborator is pursuing a
competitive program and encounters unexpecteddinhar capability limitations, they may be motigdtto reduce the priority placed on our
programs or delay certain activities related tomnagrams or be unwilling to properly fund theiash of the development expenses for our
programs. Any of these developments could harnpoaduct and technology development efforts, whizhld seriously harm our business.
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We may experience delays in clinical trials and tagtory approval relating to our products that cadiladversely affect our financial results
and our commercial prospects for our pharmaceutiaal stem cell products.

In addition to the regulatory requirements for pharmaceutical programs, we will also require ratprly approvals for each distinct
application of our stem cell product. In each casewill be required to conduct clinical trialsdemonstrate safety and efficacy of MultiStem,
or various products that incorporate or use Mudtist For product candidates that advance to climésting, we cannot be certain that we or a
collaborator will successfully complete the clidit@als necessary to receive regulatory produgtrayals. This process is lengthy and
expensive.

We intend to seek approval for our product candisiéhrough the FDA approval process. To obtainleggry approvals, we must, among ot
requirements, complete clinical trials showing that products are safe and effective for a pawicindication. Under the approval process, we
must submit clinical and non-clinical data to deistosite the medication is safe and effective. Famgple, we must be able to provide data ant
information, which may include extended pharmacyg)dgxicology, reproductive toxicology, bioavailéity and genotoxicity studies, to
establish suitability for Phase 2 or large scalaseB clinical trials.

All of our product candidates are at an early stafggevelopment. As these programs enter and psedheough early stage clinical
development, or complete additional non-clinicatiteg, an indication of a lack of safety or lackefficacy may result in the early termination
of an ongoing trial, or may cause us or any ofamllaborators to forego further development of gipalar product candidate or program. The
FDA or other regulatory agencies may require extenglinical trials or other testing prior to grarg approval, which could be costly and time
consuming to conduct. Any of these developmentslavbimder, and potentially prohibit, our ability (ommercialize our product candidates.
We cannot assure you that clinical trials will atf demonstrate that our products are safe orteféec

Additionally, we may not be able to find acceptatddients or may experience delays in enrollingepés for our currently planned or any
future clinical trials. The FDA or we may suspend olinical trials at any time if either believdmat we are exposing the subjects participating
in the trials to unacceptable health risks. The FiDAnstitutional review boards and/or institutibbasafety committees at the medical
institutions and healthcare facilities where wekgeesponsor clinical trials may not permit a ttialproceed or may suspend any trial
indefinitely if they find deficiencies in the conchwof the trials.

Product development costs to us and our poterdlihmorators will increase if we have delays irtitesor approvals or if we need to perform
more or larger clinical trials than planned. We estio continue to rely on third-party clinical astigators at medical institutions and
healthcare facilities to conduct our clinical tsighnd, as a result, we may face additional dedgfntors outside our control. Significant delays
may adversely affect our financial results anddbmercial prospects for our product candidatesdmtaly our ability to become profitable.

The results seen in animal testing of our producralidates may not be replicated in humans.

This annual report discusses the safety and effisaen in preclinical testing of our lead produntdidates, including MultiStem, in animals,
but we may not see positive results when our gtheduct candidates undergo clinical testing in hasna the future. Preclinical studies and
Phase 1 clinical trials are not primarily desigtedest the efficacy of a product candidate in haspdéut rather to:

. test shor-term safety and tolerabilit
. study the absorption, distribution, metabolism efichination of the product candida

. study the biochemical and physiological effedtthe product candidate and the mechanisms ofring action and the relationship
between drug levels and effect; ¢

. understand the product candic's side effects at various doses and sched

Success in preclinical studies or completed clirtitals does not ensure that later studies olstriacluding continuing non-clinical studies and
large-scale clinical trials, will be successful noes it necessarily predict future results. The o failure in drug development is quite high,
and many companies in the biotechnology and phagutmal industries have suffered significant setsan advanced clinical trials, even after
promising results in earlier trials. Product cadié may fail to show desired safety and efficadaiger and more diverse patient populations
in later stage clinical trials, despite having pesged through early stage trials. Negative ormoksive results from any of our ongoing
preclinical studies or clinical trials could resuitdelays, modifications, or abandonment of ongainfuture clinical trials and the termination
of our development of a product candidate. Adddibn even if we are able to successfully comppgtetal Phase 3 clinical trials, the FDA

still may not approve our product candidates.
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Even if we obtain regulatory approval of any of oproduct candidates, the approved products may digexct to pos-approval studies and
will remain subject to ongoing regulatory requiremts. If we fail to comply, or if concerns are idéfied in subsequent studies, our approy
could be withdrawn and our product sales could hesgended.

If we are successful at obtaining regulatory apptéer MultiStem or any of our other product caratigs, regulatory agencies in the United
States and other countries where a product wildié may require extensive additional clinicalltriar post-approval clinical studies that are
expensive and time consuming to conduct. In pdei¢ctherapeutic products administered for thetineat of persistent or chronic conditions,
such as obesity, are likely to require extensii@foup studies and close monitoring of patienteafegulatory approval has been granted, fo
any signs of adverse effects that occur over a pmrgpd of time. These studies may be expensivdiarelconsuming to conduct and may
reveal side effects or other harmful effects ingyds that use our therapeutic products after #ieyon the market, which may result in the
limitation or withdrawal of our drugs from the matkAlternatively, we may not be able to conduahsadditional trials, which might force us
to abandon our efforts to develop or commerciatizeain product candidates. Even if post-approttalies are not requested or required, aftel
our products are approved and on the market, thaghkt be safety issues that emerge over time #watire a change in product labeling or that
require withdrawal of the product from the markettich would cause our revenue to decline.

Additionally, any products that we may successfdiyelop will be subject to ongoing regulatory riegmnents after they are approved. These
requirements will govern the manufacturing, packggmarketing, distribution, and use of our produtitwe fail to comply with such
regulatory requirements, approval for our produeéy be withdrawn, and product sales may be suspeide may not be able to regain
compliance, or we may only be able to regain coamgié after a lengthy delay, significant expens#t,ievenues and damage to our reputatior

We may rely on third parties to manufacture our Miftem product candidate.

Our current business strategy relies on third eaitth manufacture our MultiStem product candidatexcordance with good manufacturing
practices established by the FDA, or similar retjoites in other countries. These third parties matydeliver sufficient quantities of our
MultiStem product candidates, manufacture MultiSfgoduct candidates in accordance with specifioatior comply with applicable
government regulations. Additionally, if the maratfaed products fail to perform as specified, ousibess and reputation could be severely
impacted.

We expect to enter into additional manufacturingeagients for the production of product materidlany manufacturing agreement is
terminated or any third party collaborator exper&sa significant problem that could result in Eger interruption in the supply of product
materials to us, there are very few contract mastufars that currently have the capability to p&our MultiStem product on acceptable
terms, or on a timely and cost-effective basis.dafenot assure you that manufacturers on whom weleglend will be able to successfully
produce our MultiStem product on acceptable teonsn a timely or cost-effective basis. We canrssuae you that manufacturers will be able
to manufacture our products in accordance withppaduct specifications or will meet FDA or othequé@ements. We must have sufficient anc
acceptable quantities of our product materialsotodact our clinical trials and ultimately to marketr product candidates, if and when such
products have been approved by the FDA for margetinve are unable to obtain sufficient and acabf& quantities of our product material,
we may be required to delay the clinical testind ararketing of our products.

If we do not comply with applicable regulatory remements in the manufacture and distribution of oyroduct candidates, we may inci
penalties that may inhibit our ability to commerdizae our products and adversely affect our reven

Our failure or the failure of our potential collabtors or third party manufacturers to comply vétiplicable FDA or other regulatory
requirements including manufacturing, quality cohtlabeling, safety surveillance, promoting anplaiging may result in criminal prosecution,
civil penalties, recall or seizure of our produdtdal or partial suspension of production or ganuation, as well as other regulatory action
against our product candidates or us. Discoveprefiously unknown problems with a product, suppleanufacturer or facility may result in
restrictions on the sale of our products, includingithdrawal of such products from the market. ®beurrence of any of these events would
negatively impact our business and results of djpera

If we are unable to attract and retain key persorrend advisors, it may adversely affect our abilttyobtain financing, pursue
collaborations or develop our product candidates.

We are highly dependent on our executive officaéts/@n Bokkelen, Ph.D., our Chief Executive Offic&Yilliam Lehmann, J.D., M.B.A.,
President and Chief Operating Officer, John HatdngPh.D., Chief Scientific Officer and ExecutiVee President, Robert Deans, Ph.D.,
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medicind, lzaura Campbell, CPA, Vice President of Finanseyall as other personnel.
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These individuals are integral to the developmenitiategration of our technologies and to our pnesad future scientific collaborations,
including managing the complex research processéshe product development and potential commezeidbn processes. Given their
leadership, extensive technical, scientific andiicial expertise and management and operationatiexge, these individuals would be
difficult to replace. Consequently, the loss ofvesgs of one or more of these named individualdccoesult in product development delays or
the failure of our collaborations with current d@ntlure collaborators, which, in turn, may hurt aiility to develop and commercialize prodt
and generate revenues.

Our future success depends on our ability to attratain and motivate highly qualified managemamd scientific, development and
commercial personnel and advisors. If we are untbégtract and retain key personnel and advisomsay negatively affect our ability to
successfully develop, test and commercialize oodpet candidates.

Our ability to compete may decline if we are notsessful in adequately protecting our patented asitier proprietary technologies.

Our success depends in part on our ability to atdad maintain intellectual property that protemis technologies and our products. Patent
positions may be highly uncertain and may involemplex legal and factual questions, including thiitg to establish patentability of
compounds and methods for using them for which ek patent protection. We cannot predict the bheafitlaims that will ultimately be
allowed in our patent applications, if any, incluglthose we have in-licensed or the extent to whiehmay enforce these claims against our
competitors. We filed multiple patent applicatidhat seek to protect the composition of matterraethod of use related to our programs. In
addition, we are prosecuting numerous distinctrgefamilies directed to composition, methods ofdurction, and methods of use of MultiSt
and related technologies. If we are unsuccessfobiaining and maintaining these patents relatgadducts and technologies, we may
ultimately be unable to commercialize products tiatare developing or may elect to develop in there.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is therefore highly uncertain and we carassture you that:

. we were the first to file patent applicationd@invent the subject matter claimed in patentiapfibns relating to the technologies
or product candidates upon which we re

. others will not independently develop similar deatative technologies or duplicate any of our tetbgies;

. others did not publicly disclose our claimed tezlogy before we conceived the subject matter ohetlin any of our patent
applications

. any of our pending or future patent applicationt result in issued patent
. any of our patent applications will not result merferences or disputes with third parties regaydiriority of invention:

. any patents that may be issued to us, our caldbis or our licensors will provide a basis fontoercially viable products or will
provide us with any competitive advantages or milf be challenged by third partie

. we will develop additional proprietary technologtlat are patentabl
. the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfe our ability to do business;

. new proprietary technologies from third partiesjuding existing licensors, will be available t@ensing to us on reasonable
commercial terms, if at al

In addition, patent law outside the United Stasegricertain and in many countries intellectual proplaws are undergoing review and
revision. The laws of some countries do not proigetlectual property rights to the same exterd@®mestic laws. It may be necessary or u:
for us to participate in opposition proceedingsgétermine the validity of our competitors’ pateotgo defend the validity of any of our or our
licensor’s future patents, which could result ibbsiantial costs and would divert our efforts artdraton from other aspects of our business.
With respect to certain of our inventions, we dedidhot to pursue patent protection outside theddrittates, both because we do not believe
is cost effective and because of confidentialitpya@ns. Accordingly, our international competitoosild develop and receive foreign patent
protection for gene sequences and functions fochvhie are seeking United States patent proteatioabling them to sell products that we
developed.

Technologies licensed to us by others, or in-liegngchnologies, are important to our business.sEbpe of our rights under our licenses may
be subject to dispute by our licensors or thirdipar Our rights to use these technologies anddctige the inventions claimed in the licensed
patents are subject to our licensors abiding byehas of those licenses and not terminating tHarparticular, we depend on certain
technologies relating to our MultiStem technologghsed from the University of Minnesota, and #renination of this license could result in
our loss of some of the rights that enable usitzethis technology, and our ability to developgucts based on MultiStem could be seriousl
hampered.
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In addition, we may in the future acquire rightatilitional technologies by licensing such rightsf existing licensors or from third parties.
Such in-licenses may be costly. Also, we geneddiyot control the patent prosecution, maintenam@nforcement of in-licensed
technologies. Accordingly, we are unable to exertii® same degree of control over this intellequaperty as we do over our internally
developed technologies. Moreover, some of our anadmstitution licensors, collaborators and sdfemtaidvisors have rights to publish data
and information to which we have rights. If we cahmaintain the confidentiality of our technologa®d other confidential information in
connection with our collaborations, our abilitypimtect our proprietary information or obtain pdtprotection in the future may be impaired,
which could have a significant adverse effect onlusiness, financial condition and results of atiens.

We may not have adequate protection for our unpdtshproprietary information, which could adversediffect our competitive position.

In addition to patents, we will substantially rely trade secrets, know-how, continuing technoldgdicevations and licensing opportunities to
develop and maintain our competitive position. Hegre others may independently develop substanté]lyivalent proprietary information a
techniques or otherwise gain access to our tractetseor disclose our technology. To protect cadérsecrets, we may enter into confidenti
agreements with employees, consultants and poteotiaborators. However, these agreements mapmotide meaningful protection of our
trade secrets or adequate remedies in the evemiaothorized use or disclosure of such informatidkewise, our trade secrets or know-how
may become known through other means or be indepgigddiscovered by our competitors. Any of thegergs could prevent us from
developing or commercializing our product candidate

We may be sued for product liability, which could\ersely affect our business.

Because our business strategy involves the developamd sale by either us or our collaboratorsoafroercial products, we may be sued for
product liability. We may be held liable if any pitect we develop and commercialize, or any productollaborators commercialize that
incorporates any of our technology, causes injurig dound otherwise unsuitable during productitegtmanufacturing, marketing, sale or
consumer use. In addition, the safety studies wet merform and the regulatory approvals requirecbtomercialize our pharmaceutical
products, will not protect us from any such liayili

We carry product liability insurance that includewerage for human clinical trials. Currently, vaarg a $5 million per event, $5 million
annual aggregate coverage for both our produdigitiapolicy and our clinical trials protection. 8also intend to seek product liability
insurance for any approved products that we magldevor acquire. However, in the event there aoelpet liability claims against us, our
insurance may be insufficient to cover the exparisiefending against such claims, or may be insieffit to pay or settle such claims.
Furthermore, we may be unable to obtain adequatupt liability insurance coverage for commerceles of any of our approved products. If
such insurance is insufficient to protect us, @sauits of operations will suffer. If any produeHility claim is made against us, our reputation
and future sales will be damaged, even if we halegaate insurance coverage.

Many potential competitors, including those who tegreater resources and experience than we do, aeyelop products or technologis
that make ours obsolete or noncompetitive.

We face significant competition with respect to puwduct candidates. With regard to our effortdeégelop MultiStem as a novel stem cell
therapy, currently, there are a number of compahigisare actively developing stem cell productsicv encompass a range of different cell
types, including embryonic stem cells, adult-dedigéem cells, and processed bone marrow derivésl Gair future success will depend on ou
ability to maintain a competitive position with pext to technological advances. Technological agmknts by others may result in our
MultiStem product platform and technologies, aslaglour pharmaceutical formulations, becoming t#iso

We are subject to significant competition from phaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic compamieagdemic and research institutions,
government or other publicly funded agencies thafpairsuing or may pursue the development of theeripproducts and technologies that ar
substantially similar to our proposed therapeutadpcts and technologies, or that otherwise addhesmdications we are pursuing. Our most
significant competitors include major pharmaceutimanpanies such as Pfizer, Roche, Johnson & Johi$anofi and GlaxoSmithKline, as
well as smaller biotechnology or biopharmaceutimahpanies such as Celgene, Mesoblast, Aastrom, Sédisinc., Cytori, Pluristem, Arena
Pharmaceuticals and Vivus. Most of our current poténtial competitors have substantially greatseaech and development capabilities and
financial, scientific, regulatory, manufacturingarketing, sales, human resources, and experieaoenh do. Many of our competitors have
several therapeutic products that have already deeeloped, approved and successfully commercailimeare in the process of obtaining
regulatory approval for their therapeutic produstthe United States and internationally.
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Many of these companies have substantially greatgital resources, research and development resand experience, manufacturing
capabilities, regulatory expertise, sales and mnggesources, established relationships with gomes products companies and production
facilities.

Universities and public and private research in8tihs are also potential competitors. While thagmnizations primarily have educational
objectives, they may develop proprietary techn@sgelated to stem cells or secure patent protettiat we may need for the development of
our technologies and products. We may attempttmée these proprietary technologies, but thesedi&s may not be available to us on
acceptable terms, if at all. Our competitors, eitdene or with their collaborative partners, mageeed in developing technologies or product
that are more effective, safer, more affordablmore easily commercialized than ours, and our cditope may obtain intellectual property
protection or commercialize products sooner thamaeDevelopments by others may render our procuedidates or our technologies
obsolete.

Our current product discovery and development bollators are not prohibited from entering into aesk and development collaboration
agreements with third parties in any product fi€@dr failure to compete effectively would have gnglicant adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The availability, manner, and amount of reimbursemiefor our product candidates from government andyate payers are uncertain, and
our inability to obtain adequate reimbursement fany products could severely limit our product sales

We expect that many of the patients who seek tresattavith any of our products that are approvedrarketing will be eligible for Medicare
benefits. Other patients may be covered by priliatdth plans. If we are unable to obtain or retmiequate levels of reimbursement from
Medicare or from private health plans, our abildysell our products will be severely limited. Téygplication of existing Medicare regulations
and interpretive coverage and payment determinatiomewly approved products is uncertain and thegelations and interpretive
determinations are subject to change. The Medegscription Drug Improvement and Modernization, Actacted in December 2003,
provides for a change in reimbursement methodotbgireduces the Medicare reimbursement rates &oyrdrugs, which may adversely
affect reimbursement for any products we may dexeltedicare regulations and interpretive deterniamatalso may determine who may be
reimbursed for certain services, and may limitgbel of patients our product candidates are beewglbped to serve.

Federal, state and foreign governments continyedpose legislation designed to contain or red@adth care costs. Legislation and
regulations affecting the pricing of products lier potential products may change further or bgsstbbefore any of our potential products
approved for marketing. Cost control initiativesdiyvernments or third-party payers could decrdasetice that we receive for any one or all
of our potential products or increase patient amasce to a level that make our products underldpieent become unaffordable. In addition,
government and private health plans persistentijiehge the price and cost-effectiveness of theraperoducts. Accordingly, these third
parties may ultimately not consider any or all of products under development to be cost effectiviich could result in products not being
covered under their health plans or covered ondylatver price. Any of these initiatives or devetmgnts could prevent us from successfully
marketing and selling any of our products thataeroved for commercialization.

Public perception of ethical and social issues sounding the use of adu-derived stem cell technology may limit or discogeathe use of
our technologies, which may reduce the demand far therapeutic products and technologies and redumg revenues.

Our success will depend in part upon our abilitdéwelop therapeutic products incorporating oraleced through our adult-derived stem cell
technology. For social, ethical, or other reasgoesernmental authorities in the United States ahdracountries may call for limits on, or
regulation of the use of, aduderived stem cell technologies. Although we dous# the more controversial stem cells derived feombryos o
fetuses, claims that adult-derived stem cell tetdgies are ineffective, unethical or pose a dangéne environment may influence public
attitudes. The subject of stem cell technologiegeneral has received negative publicity and ambpsiblic debate in the United States and
some other countries. Ethical and other conceroatatur adultderived stem cell technology could materially lthet market acceptance of «
therapeutic products and technologies, resultirgjrimnished sales and use of any products we dectallevelop using adult-derived stem
cells.

Even if we or our collaborators receive regulatoapproval for our products, those products may nebercommercially successft

Even if we develop pharmaceuticals or MultiStenatesil products that obtain the necessary regulatgpyoval, and we have access to the
necessary manufacturing, sales, marketing andhiison capabilities that we need, our success migp# a significant degree upon the
commercial success of those products. If theseystedail to achieve or subsequently maintain miaakeeptance or commercial viability, our
business would be significantly harmed becausduiure royalty revenue or other revenue would bgetbelent upon sales of these products.
Many factors may affect the market acceptance antheercial success of any potential products thatnag discover, including:
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. health concerns, whether actual or perceivednéavorable publicity regarding our obesity drusfem cell products or those of our
competitors

. the timing of market entry as compared to competifiroducts
. the rate of adoption of products by our collabaiasind other companies in the indus

. any product labeling that may be required byRB& or other United States or foreign regulatorgmgjes for our products or
competing or comparable produc

. convenience and ease of administrat

. pricing;

. perceived efficacy and side effec

. marketing;

. availability of alternative treatment

. levels of reimbursement and insurance coverage

. activities by our competitor:

If we are unable to create and maintain sales, matikg and distribution capabilities or enter intoggeements with third parties to perfor
those functions, we will not be able to commerczaliour product candidates.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distriuttapabilities. Therefore, to commercialize ourdurct candidates, if and when such
products have been approved and are ready for tivagkee expect to collaborate with third partieperform these functions. We will either
need to share the value generated from the saleyoproducts and/or pay a fee to the contract safgemization. If we establish any such
relationships, we will be dependent upon the cdjpialsi of our collaborators or contract service\pders to effectively market, sell, and
distribute our product. If they are ineffectivesatling and distributing our product, or if theyodse to emphasize other products over ours, wi
may not achieve the level of product sales revethasve would like. If conflicts arise, we may e able to resolve them easily or
effectively, and we may suffer financially as auleslf we cannot rely on the sales, marketing distribution capabilities of our collaborators
or of contract service providers, we may be formedstablish our own capabilities. We have no eepee in developing, training or managing
a sales force and will incur substantial additiceglenses if we decide to market any of our fupmoglucts directly. Developing a marketing
and sales force is also time consuming and could/daunch of our future products. In addition, wil compete with many companies that
currently have extensive and wélirded marketing and sales operations. Our margetid sales efforts may be unable to compete ssfatly
against these companies.

We will use hazardous and biological materials inrdbusiness. Any claims relating to improper hanadg, storage or disposal of these
materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our products and processes will involve the cotedostorage, use and disposal of certain hazaraodidiological materials and waste
products. We and our suppliers and other collabosatre subject to federal, state and local reigmisigoverning the use, manufacture, stor
handling and disposal of materials and waste prgd&wven if we and these suppliers and collabosatomply with the standards prescribed b
law and regulation, the risk of accidental contaation or injury from hazardous materials cannottmpletely eliminated. In the event of an
accident, we could be held liable for any damabesresult, and any liability could exceed the tgvor fall outside the coverage of any
insurance we may obtain and exceed our financs@ukees. We may not be able to maintain insuranceoeptable terms, or at all. We may
incur significant costs to comply with current atdre environmental laws and regulations.

Disputes concerning the infringement or misapprogtion of our proprietary rights or the proprietarsights of others could be tim
consuming and extremely costly and could delay oesearch and development efforts.

Our commercial success, if any, will be signifidatitarmed if we infringe the patent rights of thpdrties or if we breach any license or other
agreements that we entered into with regard tdemimology or business.
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We are aware of other companies and academicutistis that have been performing research in teasaof adult derived stem cells. In
particular, other companies and academic institgtitave announced that they have identified nongonior stem cells isolated from bone
marrow or other tissues that have the ability tonfa range of cell types, or display the propeftglaripotency. To the extent any of these
companies or academic institutions currently havebtain in the future, broad patent claims, spatents could block our ability to use
various aspects of our discovery and developmetgss and might prevent us from developing or corial&ing newly discovered
applications of our MultiStem technology, or oth@&svconducting our business. In addition, it isgilole that some of the pharmaceutical
product candidates we are developing may not bengstile or may be covered by intellectual propeftiird parties.

We are not currently a party to any litigation witlgard to our patent or trademark positions. Harethe life sciences and other technology
industries are characterized by extensive litigategarding patents and other intellectual propegtyts. Many life sciences and other
technology companies have employed intellectugbenty litigation as a way to gain a competitive aghage. To the extent we are involved in
litigation, interference proceedings, oppositicleexamination, protest or other potentially advénsalectual property proceedings as a result
of alleged infringement by us of the rights of ather as a result of priority of invention disputeish third parties, we might have to spend
significant amounts of money, time and effort deliag our position and we may not be successfuhdadition, any claims relating to the
infringement of third-party proprietary rights atoprietary determinations, even if not meritoriocsuld result in costly litigation, lengthy
governmental proceedings, divert management’staiteand resources, or require us to enter intaltgyor license agreements that are not
advantageous to us. If we do not have the finamesdurces to support such litigation or appeatésmay forfeit or lose certain commercial
rights. Even if we have the financial resourcesdnotinue such litigation or appeals, we may losghe event that we lose, we may be forced t
pay very substantial damages; we may have to obtsthly license rights, which may not be availables on acceptable terms, if at all; or we
may be prohibited from selling products that aneni to infringe the patent rights of others.

Should any person have filed patent applicationsbtained patents that claim inventions also cldilmeg us, we may have to participate in an
interference proceeding declared by the relevatetpaegulatory agency to determine priority oféntion and, thus, the right to a patent for
these inventions in the United States. Such a pating could result in substantial cost to us e¥¢nel outcome is favorable. Even if successfu
on priority grounds, an interference action mayiitas loss of claims based on patentability grasinaised in the interference action. Litigat
interference proceedings or other proceedings odivkett management’s time and efforts. Even unsssfaéclaims could result in significant
legal fees and other expenses, diversion of managisrtime and disruption in our business. Uncatias resulting from initiation and
continuation of any patent proceeding or relatggdtion could harm our ability to compete and coiodve a significant adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openst

An adverse ruling arising out of any intellectuebperty dispute, including an adverse decisiorodhe priority of our inventions, could
undercut or invalidate our intellectual propertyspion. An adverse ruling could also subject usigmificant liability for damages, including
possible treble damages, prevent us from usingntdopies or developing products, or require usegatiate licenses to disputed rights from
third parties. Although patent and intellectualgedy disputes in the technology area are oftetesiethrough licensing or similar
arrangements, costs associated with these arramggmay be substantial and could include licenss &nd ongoing royalties. Furthermore,
necessary licenses may not be available to ustmfiegdory terms, if at all. Failure to obtain ednse in such a case could have a significant
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

To the extent we enter markets outside of the Udiftates, our business will be subject to politicatonomic, legal and social risks in those
markets, which could adversely affect our business.

There are significant regulatory and legal barrienqarkets outside the United States that we mwustcome to the extent we enter or attempt
to enter markets in countries other than the Uriteedes. We will be subject to the burden of conmglyvith a wide variety of national and
local laws, including multiple and possibly oventépg and conflicting laws. We also may experieniéicdlties adapting to new cultures,
business customs and legal systems. Any salespardtmns outside the United States would be stibjguolitical, economic and social
uncertainties including, among others:

. changes and limits in import and export contr
. increases in custom duties and tari

. changes in currency exchange ra

. economic and political instability

. changes in government regulations and le

. absence in some jurisdictions of effective lawpratect our intellectual property rights; a
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. currency transfer and other restrictions and leggpns that may limit our ability to sell certgimoducts or repatriate profits to the
United States

Any changes related to these and other factorslamlersely affect our business to the extent vier enarkets outside the United States.

Foreign governments often impose strict price carlr on approved products, which may adversely dffaar future profitability in those
countries, and the re-importation of drugs to thenited States from foreign countries that impose ggicontrols may adversely affect our
future profitability.

Frequently foreign governments impose strict paeetrols on newly approved therapeutic productaidfobtain regulatory approval to sell
products in foreign countries, we may be unablebiain a price that provides an adequate finametakn on our investment. Furthermore,
legislation in the United States may permit re-im@ion of drugs from foreign countries into theitéd States, including re-importation from
foreign countries where the drugs are sold at lgwiees than in the United States due to foreigregament-mandated price controls. Such a
practice, especially if it is conducted on a widesyl basis, may significantly reduce our poteitfigited States revenues from any drugs that
we are able to develop.

If we elect not to sell our products in foreign cotries that impose government mandated price cofgroecause we decide it
uneconomical to do so, a foreign government or pateffice may attempt to terminate our intellectuptoperty rights in that country,
enabling competitors to make and sell our products.

In some cases we may choose not to sell a prodictareign country because it is uneconomicabte@under a system of government-
imposed price controls, or because it could seydirait our profitability in the United States otreer markets. In such cases, a foreign
government or patent office may terminate any iet&lial property rights we may obtain with resgedhat product. Such a termination could
enable competitors to produce and sell our prouuittat market. Furthermore, such products mayxperted into the United States through
legislation that authorizes the importation of drdiggm outside the United States. In such an evemtnay have to reduce our prices, or we
may be unable to compete with low-cost providerswfdrugs, and we could be financially harmed eesalt.

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtWwhich could adversely affect our business.

At various times we have experienced periods afirgpowth in our employee numbers as a resultdrfaanatic increase in activity in
technology programs, genomics programs, collabgratisearch programs, discovery programs, and safageerations. At other times, we t
to reduce staff in order to bring our expensegia With our financial resources. Our success &b depend on the ability of our officers and
key employees to continue to improve our operatioapabilities and our management information anarfcial control systems, and to
expand, train and manage our work force.

If we acquire products, technologies or other bussses, we will incur a variety of costs, may havegration difficulties and may
experience numerous other risks that could adveysaffect our business.

To remain competitive, we may decide to acquirdtamdhl businesses, products and technologies. Wtectly have no commitments or
agreements with respect to, and are not activelkisg, any material acquisitions. We have limitggerience in identifying acquisition targe
successfully acquiring them and integrating theta our current infrastructure. We may not be ablsuccessfully integrate any businesses,
products, technologies or personnel that we mightime in the future without a significant expendi of operating, financial and managemen
resources, if at all. In addition, future acquéits could require significant capital infusions aodld involve many risks, including, but not
limited to the following:

. we may have to issue convertible debt or equtusties to complete an acquisition, which wouldté our stockholders and could
adversely affect the market price of our commoulst

. an acquisition may negatively impact our resaftsperations because it may require us to inagel@ane-time charges to earnings,
amortize or write down amounts related to goodavildl other intangible assets, or incur or assumstantial debt or liabilities, or it
may cause adverse tax consequences, substantiat@jon or deferred compensation char

. we may encounter difficulties in assimilating dantkgrating the business, technologies, prodpeisonnel or operations of
companies that we acqui

. certain acquisitions may disrupt our relationshifhvexisting collaborators who are competitivetie icquired busines

. acquisitions may require significant capital isifins and the acquired businesses, products ardiafies may not generate
sufficient revenue to offset acquisition cot
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. an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing businesseriliresources, increase our expenses and distractanagemen
. acquisitions may involve the entry into a geogragibusiness market in which we have little oipnior experience; an

. key personnel of an acquired company may decidéonebrk for us
Any of the foregoing risks could have a significadierse effect on our business, financial comtligind results of operations.

Increased information technology security threataémore sophisticated and targeted computer crinoeilld pose a risk to our systerr
networks, and products.

Increased global information technology securitg#ts and more sophisticated and targeted comgutee pose a risk to the security of our
systems and networks and the confidentiality, abélity and integrity of our data and communicasioWhile we attempt to mitigate these ri
by employing a number of measures, including emgaagefreshers, monitoring of our networks and syst@nd maintenance of backup and
protective systems, our systems, networks and ptedamain potentially vulnerable to advanced gégat threats. Depending on their nature
and scope, such threats could potentially leatieacompromising of confidential information and ¢oomications, improper use of our systt
and networks, manipulation and destruction of da¢fective products, production downtimes and apmral disruptions, which in turn could
adversely affect our reputation, competitiveneskrasults of operations.

If we do not continue to meet the listing standardstablished by The NASDAQ Capital Market, the conmstock may not remain listed fc
trading.

The NASDAQ Capital Market has established certaiangjtative criteria and qualitative standards ttaahpanies must meet in order to remair
listed for trading on these markets. We cannotantae that we will be able to maintain all necessaquirements for listing; therefore, we
cannot guarantee that our common stock will rerfisied for trading on The NASDAQ Capital Marketather similar markets.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal offices are located at 3201 Carnégienue in Cleveland, Ohio. We currently lease apipnately 45,000 square feet of space for
our corporate offices and laboratories, with sttéhe-art laboratory space. The lease began i0 20@ currently expires in March 2016, and
we have the option to renew annually through 2@L#.rent is $267,000 per year and our rental ratertot changed since the lease incepti
2000. Also, we currently lease office and labonaspace for our Belgian subsidiary. The lease atyrexpires in July 2015, and we have an
option to renew annually through July 2022. Theuahment in Belgium is approximately $220,000 amdubject to adjustments based on an
inflationary index. Our total rent expense for@ibperties was $517,000 in 2014. We also have #arofor additional space in Belgium that
expires in August 2015.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may become subject to varlegal proceedings that are incidental to the @dirtconduct of our business. Currently,
there are no such proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capitafhdaunder the symbol “ATHX.” Set forth below afeethigh and low sale prices for
our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market fog periods indicated.

High Low

Year ended December 31, 201:

Fourth Quarte $1.7¢ $1.1¢<
Third Quartel $1.9¢ $1.31
Second Quarte $3.5( $1.0¢
First Quartel $4.3:< $2.51
Year ended December 31, 2013:

Fourth Quarte $2.52 $1.52
Third Quartel $1.9¢ $1.47
Second Quarte $2.42 $1.54
First Quartel $1.8¢ $1.07

Holders

As of March 5, 2015, there were approximately 5dlgiérs of record of our common stock. Additiona#iipares of common stock are held by
financial institutions as nominees for beneficiain@rs that are deposited into participant accoantise Depository Trust Company, which are
considered to be held of record by Cede & Co. andreluded in the holders of record as one stolckdro

Dividend Policy

We would have to rely upon dividends and other payts1from our wholly owned subsidiary, ABT Holdi@®pmpany, to generate the funds
necessary to make dividend payments, if any, orcoommon stock. ABT Holding Company, however, isalgdistinct from us and has no
obligation to pay amounts to us. The ability of ABdlding Company to make dividend and other paysé&nus is subject to, among other
things, the availability of funds and applicablatetlaws. However, there are no restrictions ssajpaernment regulations or material
contractual arrangements that restrict the aboithBT Holding Company to make dividend and othayments to us. We did not pay cash
dividends on our common stock during the past thiesgs. We do not anticipate that we will pay aiwdgnds on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. Rather, we anticipate that Wlegetain earnings, if any, for use in the deveatamt of our business
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ITEM6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz
Revenues
Contract revenu
Grant revenu
Total revenue:
Costs and expense
Research and developmt
General and administrati\
Depreciatior
Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Income (expense) from change in fair value of wag
Other income (expense), r
Loss before income taxe
Income tax benefi
Net loss

Net loss per share, basi

Weighted average shares outstanding, t
Net loss per share, diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding, dil

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash and cash equivalel
Available-for-sale securities, shtem
Working capital

Total asset

Warrant liabilities and note payal
Total stockholder equity
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$ 28 $ 75t $ 7,38 $ 9,01t $ 6,68¢
1,337 1,68: 1,32¢ 1,32¢ 2,25¢
1,62: 2,43¢ 8,70¢ 10,34¢ 8,93¢
23,36¢ 20,48¢ 19,63¢ 18,93( 14,77¢
6,90¢ 6,06t 4,75: 4,91¢ 5,38’
36C 34€ 32C 27¢€ 284
(29,01) (24,45) (16,009 (13,780 (11,510
6,591 (6,322  2,40¢ 812 —
86 38 (1,13¢) (77€) 134
(22,33 (30,749 (14,739 (13,746 (11,37)
253 — — — —
$(22,08) $(30,749) $(14,73Y) $(13,746 $(11,377)
$ (029 $ (059 $ (045 $ (0.59 $ (0.60
76,95t 57,67 32,557 23,23¢ 18,93(
$ (03) $ (059 $ (045 $ (059 $ (0.60)
78,54 57,67¢ 32,557 23,23¢ 18,93(
December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
$26,127 $31,94¢ $2553: $ 8,78 $ 2,10¢
— — — 3,99¢ 13,07¢
22,55¢ 28,48 21,83: 7,01¢ 9,10¢
28,71¢ 34,18¢ 27,60: 15,70! 19,10¢
3,131 9,99¢ 2,87¢ 98¢ —
20,89¢ 19,82] 20,24, 7,29¢ 9,00¢
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and arialiysconjunction with “Item 8. Financial Statemgiind Supplementary Data” included
below in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are an international biotechnology company ihédcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine. Our MultiSten® cell therapy is
currently being evaluated in multiple clinical tsaOur current clinical development programs a@used on treating inflammatory and
immune disorders, neurological conditions, cardsowdar disease, and other conditions. We are @iglyiag our pharmaceutical discovery
capabilities to identify and develop small molecotenpounds with potential applications in indicaticsuch as obesity, related metabolic
conditions and certain neurological conditions.

Current Programs

By applying our proprietary MultiStem cell therapgoduct, we established therapeutic product devedop programs treating inflammatory
and immune disorders, neurological conditions, icaascular disease, and other conditions. Our iragrin the clinical development stage
include the following:

« Ischemic Stroke In our ongoing Phase 2 clinical study, we ardweating the administration of MultiStem cell theyap
patients that have suffered an ischemic strokeohirast to treatment with the thrombolytic tPA igghmust be administered with
three to four hours after a stroke, we are tregtitgents one to two days after the stroke hasroeduln preclinical studies,
administration of a single dose of MultiStem theragven one week after a stroke, resulted in dicamt and durable improvemer
This double blind, placebo-controlled trial is bggitonducted at leading stroke centers across titedJ8tates and Europe.
Enrolliment was completed in December 2014. We igatie announcing the interim safety and initialazf€y results in April 2015,
following the ninety-day patient evaluation andeigt of the unblinded clinical data. Also, in Fetiry 2015, we established a
collaboration with Chugai to develop and commeizé&aMultiStem for the treatment of ischemic strakdapan.

 Acute Myocardial Infarction We evaluated the administration of MultiStem &i@nts that suffered an AMI in a Phase 1
clinical study. The results of this study demortstiea favorable safety profile and encouragingssimfimprovement in heart
function among patients that exhibited severely mamised heart function prior to treatment. Thisadaas published in a leading
peer reviewed scientific journal, and one-yearofwHup data suggested that the benefit observedustained over time. We were
awarded a grant for up to $2.8 million to suppbet &dvancement of this clinical program, and wecarapleting preparations for
the launch of this Phase 2 clinical study, whichamécipate will commence in the second quarte2Qif5.

 Acute Respiratory Distress Syndromé@/e were awarded a grant for up to approximatly fnillion to support an initial
trial to treat patients suffering from ARDS. ARDsSa serious immunological and inflammatory conditiharacterized by
widespread inflammation in the lungs. ARDS canrlggered by pneumonia, sepsis, or other traumagme:sents a major cause
morbidity and mortality in the critical care setfirfThe medical need for a safe and effective treatrof ARDS is significant due to
its high mortality rate, and the number of patiéntdfects annually. The grant supporting this $ghaa clinical trial was awarded
Innovate UK to our UK subsidiary, Athersys Limiteth conjunction with Catapult. We are currentlgparing for the trial, which
we anticipate will commence in the second half @2

» Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant / GviHi/e completed a Phase 1 clinical study of the adstration of MultiStem cel
to patients suffering from leukemia or certain othlwod-borne cancers in which patients undergo radiatienapy and then recei
a hematopoietic stem cell transplant. Such pati@mtst significant risk for serious complicatiomgjuding graft-versus-host
disease, or GvHD, an imbalance of immune systeratim caused by transplanted immune cells thatlattarious tissues and
organs in the patient. Data from the study dematedrthe safety of MultiStem cells in this indicatiand suggested that the ther
may have a beneficial effect in reducing the inomeand severity of GVHD, as well as providing othenefits. The MultiStem
product has been designated as an orphan drulgef@vHD prophylaxis indication by both the FDA dalA, which may provide
market exclusivity and other substantial incentiard benefits. We have interacted with both the FEIDA EMA to finalize the
design of a single registration study. In Febri20¢5, the MultiStem product was granted Fast Toegignation by the FDA for
prophylaxis therapy against GvHD following hematepio cell transplantation. Currently, we are stagihis program for future
registrationdirected development dependent on our other clipicagrams and the achievement of certain busidegslopment ar
financial objectives.
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* Inflammatory Bowel DiseaseMultiStem therapy is being evaluated in a Phasknial study involving administration of
MultiStem to patients suffering from UC, the mostremon form of IBD. This study is being concludedday collaborative partne
Pfizer, and we released interim results in April20Data collection for the study has run through£to complete the secondary
evaluations, and subsequent analysis, such as thenmgvaluation and one year safety assessmentgarg completed by Pfizer in
2015. The interim results obtained from the triedwed that a single administration of MultiStenatpatient population with
longstanding, chronic advanced disease failed @avshmeaningful clinical effect at the eight-weekleation period. Despite not
showing a significant improvement compared to ghace the primary efficacy endpoints, the MultiStémrapy demonstrated
favorable safety and tolerability in the eight wedéillowing treatment. Furthermore, at four weglatjents getting MultiStem
treatment had a significantly higher proportiorredtal bleeding responders than placebo patiemggesting the possibility of a
transient effect from the single MultiStem dosetHe event that Pfizer does not move forward withgrogram, development and
commercialization rights would revert to us.

In addition to the programs described above, weaks@ conducting or supporting clinical activityather areas, such as solid organ transplant
which is an investigator initiated study being cocigd at a leading transplant center in EuropeaW¥elso engaged in the preparation stages
for translational and clinical studies in othegeeted areas.

In addition to our current and anticipated clinidalvelopment activities, we are engaged in pradirdevelopment and evaluation of
MultiStem therapy in other neurological, cardiowgac and inflammatory and immune disease areaseliss certain other indications. We
conduct such work both through our own internataesh efforts and through a broad global networkotiiborators.

We are routinely in discussions with third partdmut collaborating in the development of MultiStérarapy for various programs and may
enter into one or more business partnerships taramvthese programs over time.

We also partnered with RTI on the development ofipcts for certain orthopedic applications usingsiam cell technologies in the bone g
substitutes market. We began recognizing royaligmae from product sales in 2014 and may receivergiayments upon the successful
achievement of certain commercial milestones.

We are also engaged in the development of novell smadecule therapies to treat obesity and otherdiions, such as schizophrenia. We may
elect to enter into a partnership to advance tieldpment of our 5SHT2c agonist program, eithertf@r treatment of obesity, schizophrenia, or
both indications, as well as for certain programalving MultiStem.

Financial

In February 2015, we entered into a collaboratidth @hugai to develop and commercialize MultiStemthe treatment of ischemic stroke in
Japan. Under the terms of the agreement, we retaiveip-front cash payment of $10 million and antitled to receive a potential near-term
payment of $7 million tied to the results of ougoing Phase 2 clinical trial in ischemic stroke. ¥Way also receive additional success-based
development and regulatory milestones aggregapnm $38 million, as well as potential sales midests of up to 17.5 billion yen
(approximately $150 million based on the currerdrenge rate). We are also eligible for royaltiesiensales, starting in the low double digits
and increasing incrementally to the high teens deipg on net sales levels. Additionally, we wowdeive payments for product supplied to
Chugai.

In January 2014, we completed a registered dirféetiog generating net proceeds of approximately.8nillion through the issuance of
5,000,000 shares of common stock and warrantsrithpse 1,500,000 shares of common stock with arcisgeprice of $4.50 per share that
expire on July 15, 2016. The securities were solailtiples of a fixed combination of one sharea@ihmon stock and a warrant to purchase
0.30 shares of common stock at an offering price4o10 per fixed combination.

We have in place an equity purchase agreementAgiire Capital, which provides us the ability tdl shares to Aspire Capital from time-to-
time, as appropriate. As of December 31, 2014, arealect to sell to Aspire Capital up to an addiidb23.5 million of shares of common
stock under the agreement. During the quarter eBaéegmber 31, 2014, no shares were sold underghgedequity purchase agreement, and
during the year ended December 31, 2014, we s@d@b shares to Aspire Capital at an average pfi68.78. Also, since January 1, 2015
through March 9, 2015, we sold shares for approteipna3.3 million, in aggregate, to Aspire Capital.
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During the year ended December 31, 2014, we redgixgceeds of approximately $938,000 from the egerof warrants, resulting in the
issuance of 928,924 shares of common stock inggeegate.

In 2015, we were awarded a grant from Innovate WKich will support a Phase 2a clinical study evéhgthe administration of MultiStem
cell therapy to ARDS patients. The grant is exptbdeprovide up to approximately £2.0 million inpguwrt over the course of the study, which
will be conducted at leading clinical sites in thkK in conjunction with Catapult, a not-for-profienter focused on the development of the UK
cell therapy industry. We also received new gravaras in 2014 tied to process development and ipieal initiatives.

Results of Operations

Since our inception, our revenues have consistdidasfse fees, contract revenues and milestone @atgnfrom our collaborators, and grant
proceeds primarily from federal, state and fourdagrants. We have derived no revenue from the cential sale of therapeutic products to
date, but we receive royalties on commercial dayes licensee of products using our technologieseRrch and development expenses consi
primarily of external clinical and preclinical sjufees, manufacturing costs, salaries and relatesbpnel costs, legal expenses resulting from
intellectual property prosecution processes, figailosts, and laboratory supply and reagent cééesexpense research and development cost
as they are incurred. We expect to continue to nsaaficant investments in research and develognmeanhance our technologies, advance
clinical trials of our product candidates, expand i@gulatory affairs and product development céjpials, conduct preclinical studies of our
product and manufacture our product candidatesefaéand administrative expenses consist primafialaries and related personnel costs,
professional fees and other corporate expensegxXpkrt to continue to incur substantial lossesutincat least the next several years.

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Erdleckmber 31, 2013

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $1.6 million for the yeae@mkcember 31, 2014 from $2.4 million in 2013leefng a $0.3 million
decrease in our Pfizer contract revenues and arfiillidn decrease in milestone payments from Bh#igers Squibb, partially offset by an
increase of $0.2 million in royalty payments fromfilRAbsent any new collaborations, we expect ountiget revenues to be comprised of
revenues associated with our recent Chugai colddioor, royalty payments from RTI, potential comni@ranilestone payments from RTI, and
potential milestone payments and royalties frons®tiMyers Squibb. Grant revenue decreased $0IRmfor the year ended December 31,
2014 compared to the year ended December 31, poib3arily due to completed grants and the timing@nt-funded projects. Our grant
revenues fluctuate from period-to-period based@m grant awards, completed grants and the timirgyarit-related activities.

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased tbr#fon for the year ended December 31, 2014
from $20.5 million for the year ended DecemberZ113. The increase of $2.9 million related primyard an increase in personnel costs of
$0.9 million, an increase in research suppliesOod $nillion, an increase in clinical and preclididavelopment costs of $0.5 million, an
increase in stockased compensation of $0.5 million, an increasegal and professional fees of $0.1 million, andremease in other reseai
and development costs of $0.3 million for the yerded December 31, 2014 from the comparable pari2d13. Personnel costs rose due to
selective personnel additions and annual compemsaitreases. The increase in research supplieslieato an increase in internal process
development activities. Our clinical and preclinidavelopment costs primarily reflect costs asgediavith our MultiStem clinical trials and
include contract research organization costs,ainnanufacturing costs, manufacturing processldpueent costs and clinical consulting
costs. The increase in our clinical and preclinazats is primarily due to increased clinical stedgts. Stock-based compensation increased
primarily due to additional months of ratable exgeirom restricted stock units granted in June 2848 the implementation of an annual
equity incentive program in June 2013. The incréasegal fees resulted from increased patent esgenassociated with patent prosecution,
national filings, and interparty proceedings ardteal filings. Based on our planned clinical depeh@nt and manufacturing process
development activities, we expect our 2015 annesdarch and development expenses to be higheflfné0compared to 2014, reflecting
increased clinical development costs, and sucts eaifitvary over time based on clinical manufaatgrcampaigns and the timing and stage of
clinical trials underway. Other than external exgEnfor our clinical and preclinical programs, weendt track our research expenses by prc
rather, we track such expenses by the type oficostred.

General and Administrative Expens€eneral and administrative expenses increased.@onfilion in 2014 from $6.1 million in 2013. The
$0.8 million increase in 2014 compared to 2013 dwes primarily to an increase of $0.6 million inckebased compensation and an increase |
personnel costs of $0.3 million. Stock-based coragton increased in 2014 compared to 2013 primdrily to additional months of ratable
expense from restricted stock units granted in 22163, and the implementation of an annual equaitgntive program in June 2013. The
increase in personnel costs related to the addifigrersonnel over the past twelve months and drommapensation increases. We expect our
general and administrative expenses to continsaralar levels in 2015.
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Depreciation.Depreciation expense increased to $0.4 milliondh4from $0.3 million in 2013 due to depreciationreew capital purchases.

Income (Expense) from Change in Fair Value of Wats. Income of $6.6 million and expense of $6.3 milliwas recognized during the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectivelyhéomarket value change in our warrant liabilitiElse fluctuation is related to the impact
of new warrant issuances and changes in warraneyptimarily affected by our stock price and témaining lives of the issued warrants.

Income Tax BenefiThe income tax benefit in 2014 represents refuredfdskign tax credits.

Other Income (Expense), nébther income (expense), net, for the years endambidber 31, 2014 and 2013 remained relatively stardiand
was comprised of interest income and expense,@eéyh currency gains and losses.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Erdlecember 31, 2012

RevenuesRevenues decreased to $2.4 million for the yeae@ftecember 31, 2013 from $8.7 million for 2012ecting a $4.0 million
decrease in our Pfizer contract revenues and ar§#lidn decrease in our RTI contract revenues. 2af2 contract revenues included the
amortization of Pfizer payments, including a $6i0iam up-front license fee, research and developnfiending, and payments for
manufacturing services over the estimated perfocmg@eriod that ended in June 2012. Grant reverareased $0.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended Dexe3tp2012, primarily due to completed grants peeplaced with new, larger awards,
as our grants are focused now on late-stage piealiand early-stage clinical development programs.

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses increased ®ritilon for the year ended December 31, 2013
from $19.6 million for the year ended DecemberZ112. The increase of $0.9 million is primarily gmised of an increase in patent legal fee:
of $0.6 million, an increase in personnel cost$@b6 million, an increase in stock-based compeosakpense of $0.5 million, an increase in
facility costs of $0.1 million, and an increase@search supplies of $0.1 million for the year ehBecember 31, 2013 from the comparable
period in 2012. These increases were partiallyebdtly a decrease in clinical and preclinical depelent costs of $0.6 million and a decreas
sponsored research costs of $0.3 million in 20¥8pared to 2012. The increase in patent legal femdted from increased patent expenses
associated with patent prosecution, national firend interparty proceedings and related filifige increase in personnel costs related to the
addition over the past twelve months of personappsrting our preclinical and clinical programs,aamual merit increase in salaries, and
increased performance bonus payments. The incieasaeck-based compensation in 2013 compared ta Bglated primarily to restricted
stock units granted to our named executive offig@Z013 in exchange for the termination of anialtbntive agreement, which vest over a
three-year period, and the issuance of stock optioour executives as part of the implementaticamcannual equity incentive program. Our
clinical and preclinical development costs primaréflect costs associated with our MultiStem daditrials and include contract research
organization costs, clinical manufacturing costanofacturing process development costs and clicima$ulting costs. The decrease in our
clinical and preclinical costs in 2013 compare@®4d.2 relates primarily to fewer manufacturing camgps and less contract research
organization costs for our clinical studies, neinafeased manufacturing process development (®gtssored research costs decreased due
fewer academic research institution costs beingired under our grant-funded programs. Other thadgreal expenses for our clinical and
preclinical programs, we do not track our reseapgbenses by project; rather, we track such expdmst®e type of cost incurred.

General and Administrative Expens€gneral and administrative expenses increased.ionfilion in 2013 from $4.8 million in 2012. The
$1.3 million increase in 2013 compared to 2012 g primarily to an increase of $0.6 million inclkeébased compensation, an increase in
other general and administrative costs of $0.3ionillelated to outside services and recruitings;ast increase in legal and professional fe:
$0.3 million related primarily to SEC filings, aaah increase in personnel costs of $0.2 million. iflceease in stock-based compensation in
2013 compared to 2012 related primarily to restdcitock units granted to our named executiveafiin 2013 in exchange for the
termination of an old incentive arrangement, whiekt over a three-year period, and the issuanstok options to our executives as part of
the implementation of an annual equity incentivegoam. The increase in outside services relateah iacrease in investor relations costs and
advisory fees, as well as our being designatecteslerated filer in 2013, resulting in additionaternal costs associated with the required
attestation of internal controls. The increaseetal and professional fees related primarily taregl additional SEC filings and related
activities, and corporate advisory services. Tloegase in personnel costs related to the addifipersonnel over the past twelve months, an
annual merit increase in salaries, and increasddrpgance bonus payments.

Depreciation.Depreciation expense was $0.3 million in both 28t8 2012.

Income (Expense) from Change in Fair Value of Wats. Expense of $6.3 million and income of $2.4 millwas recognized during the ye
ended 2013 and 2012, respectively, for the chamgfeei valuation of our warrant liabilities.
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Other Income (Expense), ndh 2013, we had net other income of $38,000 cortpb&r net other expense of $1.1 million in 2012luded in
other income (expense), net, are interest incoareign currency gains and losses, and any readjaets and losses on the sale of our assets.
Also, included in 2012 were the final cash andlstibased milestone payments to our former lendecsimection with our equity offerings
amounting to $1.3 million, net of a gain of $183)0@lated to an equity-method investment that vepsdated in 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of liquidity include our cash balarmed any available-fogale securities. At December 31, 2014, we had $2dlibn in cash an
cash equivalents. We have primarily financed owarapons through business collaborations, grardihghand equity financings. We conduct
all of our operations through our subsidiary, AB®ltHng Company. Consequently, our ability to fund operations depends on ABT Holding
Company’s financial condition and its ability to keadividend payments or other cash distributionsstoThere are no restrictions such as
government regulations or material contractualrayeanents that restrict the ability of ABT Holdingi@pany to make dividend and other
payments to us.

We incurred losses since inception of operatiork9®5 and had an accumulated deficit of $287 nmilab December 31, 2014. Our losses hav
resulted principally from costs incurred in reséaaad development, clinical and preclinical prodietelopment, acquisition and licensing
costs, and general and administrative costs asedaidth our operations. We used the financing peds from equity and debt offerings and
other sources of capital to develop our technokdie discover and develop therapeutic productidanes, develop business collaborations

to acquire certain technologies and assets. Dihi@gears ended December 2014, 2013 and 2012 dixglissuances pursuant to our equity
purchase arrangement with Aspire Capital descri@mow, we completed registered direct, public andape equity offerings generating net
proceeds of approximately $18.8 million, $18.4 ioiiland $29.2 million, respectively.

In January 2014, we completed a registered dirféetinog generating net proceeds of approximately.8illion through the issuance of
5,000,000 shares of common stock and warrantsrehpae 1,500,000 shares of common stock with artieeeprice of $4.50 per share that
expire on July 15, 2016. The securities were solthiltiples of a fixed combination of one share@inmon stock and a warrant to purchase
0.30 shares of common stock at an offering price4o10 per fixed combination.

In December 2013, we completed a registered diféeting generating net proceeds of approximat&§.4 million through the issuance of
10,000,000 shares of common stock and warrantsrithpse 3,500,000 shares of common stock with arcise price of $2.50 per share and
an expiration date of March 31, 2015. The securittere sold in multiples of a fixed combinatiornooke share of common stock and a warrant
to purchase 0.35 shares of common stock at anrafferice of $2.00 per fixed combination. In Jayu2015, we amended all of the 2013
warrants to purchase 3,500,000 shares of commaohk giancrease the exercise price to $2.75 pereshadl extend the expiration date to

May 31, 2015.

In November 2011, we entered into an equity puretz@gseement with Aspire Capital, which provided #hspire Capital was committed to
purchase up to an aggregate of $20.0 million ofeshaf our common stock over a two-year term, sligeour election to sell any such shares
As part of the agreement, Aspire Capital made a@mlimvestment of $1.0 million in us and receiv286,667 additional shares as compens
for its commitment. As of September 2013, we hdd abh the remaining shares that were availablesurtide 8,000,000 shares of common
stock registered for resale under the equity fgcivhich was due to expire early in 2014. In OetoB013, we terminated the expiring 2011
equity purchase agreement with Aspire Capital aridred into a new 2013 equity purchase agreemehtAsipire Capital to purchase up to an
aggregate of $25.0 million of shares of our comrsimtk over a new two-year period. The terms of2BE3 equity facility are similar to the
previous arrangement, and we issued 333,333 shhoes common stock to Aspire Capital as a commithfee in October 2013 and filed a
registration statement for the resale of 10,0004@0es of common stock in connection with the aquity facility.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 204.3pld 250,000 and 6,566,666 shares, respectieespire Capital at average prices of
$3.78 and $1.70 per share, respectively. As of Bee 31, 2014, we received proceeds of approxim&tet.4 million in aggregate under the
Aspire equity purchase agreements since its inmei 2011. Also, since January 1, 2015 throughdd&, 2015, we sold shares for
approximately $3.3 million, in aggregate, to Asplrapital.

Investors in certain of our equity offerings haeeeaived warrants to purchase shares of our cominok, of which warrants to purchase an
aggregate of 9.3 million shares remain outstandirigecember 31, 2014 with a weighted average eseeprice of $2.49 per share. The
exercise of warrants could provide us with caskcgeds. During the year ended December 31, 2014eweéved proceeds of approximately
$938,000 from the exercise of warrants, resultinthe issuance of 928,924 shares of common stottleiaggregate. During the year ended
December 31, 2013, we received proceeds of appeiglyn$402,000 from the exercise of warrants, tespin the issuance of 397,826 shares
of common stock in the aggregate. No warrants weegcised in 2012 and 2011. Also, since Janua2p15, we received proceeds of
approximately $1.0 million from the exercise of 98 warrants.
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In connection with our license agreement with Chuga received an up-front cash payment of $10iomland are entitled to receive a
potential near-term payment of $7 million tied he results of our ongoing Phase 2 clinical trigbithemic stroke. We may also receive
additional success-based development and regulatibegtones aggregating up to $38 million, as aelpotential sales milestones of up to
17.5 billion yen (approximately $150 million basaulthe current exchange rate). We are also elifivleoyalties on net sales, starting in the
low double digits and increasing incrementallyhte high teens depending on net sales levels. Aadilliy, we would receive payments for
product supplied to Chugai.

Under the terms of our agreement with Pfizer, veedligible to receive milestone payments of upi03million upon the successful
achievement of certain development, regulatory@mmercial milestones, though there can be no asserthat we will achieve any
milestones. No significant milestone payments Haa@n received as of December 31, 2014. Pfizer pmjsr manufacturing product for
clinical development and commercialization purpo¥és may elect to co-develop with Pfizer, in whadse, the parties would share
development and commercialization expenses andp(idfany) on an agreed basis beginning at PBadimical development. Alternatively,
we may elect to not co-develop with Pfizer, in whoase Pfizer will pay us tiered single-digit rdigd on worldwide commercial sales of
MultiStem IBD products. Any royalties may be sulbjeccertain reductions related to market excligj\patent claims and credits from sales
milestone payments.

Under the terms of our RTI agreement, we are dédib receive cash payments aggregating up to $8Blidn upon the successful
achievement of certain commercial milestones, thahgre can be no assurance that such milestotidsevéchieved, and no milestone
payments have been received as of December 31, BDaddition, we are entitled to receive tieregaities on worldwide commercial sales of
implants using our technologies based on a royatty starting in the mid-single digits and incregsnto the mid-teens, and we began
receiving royalty payments in 2014.

We remain entitled to receive license fees fordtrghat were delivered to Bristol-Myers Squibbemolur completed 2001 collaboration, as
well as milestone payments and royalties on comgsaeveloped by Bristol-Myers Squibb using our tedbgy, though there can be no
assurance that we will achieve any such milestonesyalties.

We are obligated to pay the University of Minnesatayalty based on worldwide commercial salesoafnsed products if covered by a valid
licensed patent. The low single-digit royalty ratay be reduced if third-party payments for inteliat property rights are necessary or
commercially desirable to permit the manufactureade of the product.

In 2012, we entered into an arrangement with treb@lCardiovascular Innovation Center, or GCIC, tredCleveland Clinic Foundation in
which we are entitled to proceeds of up to $500j60be form of a forgivable loan to fund certaireginical work. Interest on the loan accrues
at a fixed rate of 4.25% per annum and is addé¢demutstanding principal. The loan is forgivabdeséd on the achievement of a certain
milestone within three to four years. GCIC has aedr® the four-year term, with an expiration ddt®&arch 31, 2016. As of December 31,
2014, we had drawn $166,000 of this financing ($288 including accrued interest).

In 2015, we were awarded a grant from Innovate WKich will support a Phase 2a clinical study evahgathe administration of MultiStem
cell therapy to ARDS patients. The grant is expetbeprovide up to approximately £2.0 million inpgwrt over the course of the study, which
will be conducted at leading clinical sites in thi€ in conjunction with Catapult, a not-for-profienter focused on the development of the UK
cell therapy industry. We also received new graverds in 2014 tied to process development andipieal initiatives. In 2013, we were
awarded a federal grant that is expected to praw® $2.8 million in support of a Phase 2 clihstady evaluating the administration of
MultiStem to patients who have suffered an AMI2D1L2, we were awarded grant funding aggregating S@lion to further advance our
MultiStem programs and cell therapy platform, intthg further development of MultiStem for the tmeant of TBI and further development of
our cell therapy formulations and manufacturingadalities, from federal, state and European org#tions.

We will require substantial additional funding irder to continue our research and product developpr®grams, including preclinical
evaluation and clinical trials of our product cataties and manufacturing process development. Aémber 31, 2014, we had available cash
and cash equivalents of $26 million, and we intendheet our short-term liquidity needs with avaiatash. Over the longer term, we will
make use of available cash, but will have to cagito generate additional funding to meet our neadsugh business development
opportunities, as well as grant-funding opportesitiAdditionally, we are raising capital from titeetime through the equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital, subject to its vaduamd price limitations. We also manage our castidigrring certain discretionary costs and
staging certain development costs to extend ourabpeal runway, as needed. Over time, we may danshe sale of additional equity
securities, or possibly borrowing from financingtitutions.
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Our capital requirements over time depend on a murabfactors, including progress in our clinicevglopment programs, our clinical and
preclinical pipeline of additional opportunitiesdatheir stage of development, additional exteroats such as payments to contract research
organizations and contract manufacturing orgaroeati additional personnel costs, and the cosifirig find prosecuting patent applications
and enforcing patent claims. The availability afidis impacts our ability to advance multiple cliipeograms concurrently, and any shortfa
funding could result in our having to delay or ailrtesearch and development efforts. Further giieguirements may change at any time due
to technological advances, business developmeinttacir competition from other companies. We canassure you that adequate funding

be available to us or, if available, that it wi# bvailable on acceptable terms.

We expect to continue to incur substantial loskasugh at least the next several years and may iosses in subsequent periods. The amour
and timing of our future losses are highly uncert@ur ability to achieve and thereafter sustaofiability will be dependent upon, among
other things, successfully developing, commerdiadjizand obtaining regulatory approval or cleararioesur technologies and products
resulting from these technologies.

Cash Flow Analysis

Net cash used in operating activities was $25.8anjl$22.8 million and $17.7 million in 2014, 2048d 2012, respectively, and represel

the use of cash to fund operations, clinical trialed preclinical and process development actsuitlée expect that net cash used in operating
activities will be higher in total in 2015 compared2014 in connection with increased clinical depeent activities for our MultiStem
product candidates and platform. Net cash use@énating activities has fluctuated significantly aguarter-to-quarter basis over the past few
years primarily due to the receipt of collaboratiees and payment of specific clinical trial costsch as clinical manufacturing campaic
contract research organization costs, and manufagtprocess development projects.

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities $(0.3) million, $(0.4) million and $3.9 miltidn 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
fluctuations from period to period were due to tin@ng of purchases and maturity dates of investsiand the purchase of equipment.
Purchases of equipment were $297,000, $385,00624id,000 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. ¥peet that our capital equipment
expenditures will continue at similar levels in 30dompared to 2014.

Financing activities provided cash of $20.3 millior2014 related to the January 2014 registerezttloffering, the exercise of common stock
warrants, and equity sales to Aspire Capital, fitte@sury stock purchases. Financing activitievioled cash of $29.6 million in 2013 related
to the December 2013 registered direct offering,akercise of common stock warrants, and equigsdal Aspire Capital. Financing activities
provided cash of $30.5 million in 2012 relatedhe March 2012 private placement, the October 2@titipoffering, and equity sales to Asp
Capital.

Our contractual payment obligations as of Decerdfie£014 are as follows:

Payment due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total Less than 1 Yea 1-3 Years 3-5 Years More than 5 Years

Operating leases for facilities and equipment lea $437,00( $ 370,00( $ 67,00( $ — $ —

Note payabld?) 183,00( — 183,00( — —
$620,00( $ 370,00( $250,00(

(1) Consists of a loan pursuant to an arrangeméhttiie GCIC and the Cleveland Clinic, which isgimable upon the achievement of a
certain milestone

We lease office and laboratory space under operégases. Our lease for our corporate offices abdrhtories began in 2000 and currently
expires in March 2016, and we have the option neweannually through 2019. Our rent is $267,000yper and our rental rate has not
changed since the lease inception in 2000. Alsdease office and laboratory space for our Belgialosidiary that currently expires in July
2015 and includes options to renew annually thraligh 2022, and the annual rent of approximateB0$200 is subject to adjustments based
on an inflationary index. We also have an optianafidditional space in Belgium that expires in AUg&15. Our total rent expense for all
properties was $517,000 in 2014,

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimags

The SEC defines critical accounting policies aséhthat are, in management’s view, important tgptirerayal of our financial condition and
results of operation and demanding of managemgmtment. Our discussion and analysis of finanogeldition and results of operations are
based on our consolidated financial statements;twi@ve been prepared in accordance with Unite@<Stgenerally accepted accounting
principles. The preparation of these financialestagnts requires us to make estimates on experamten various assumptions that we believ
are reasonable under the circumstances, the refuitsich form the basis for making judgments aktbetcarrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from atheurces. Actual results may differ from thosénestes.

A discussion of the material implications of uneértties associated with the methods, assumptiothestimates underlying our critical
accounting polices is as follows:

Revenue Recognitio

Our license and collaboration agreements may contaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatigaj, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluate
under Accounting Standards Codification, or ASG3-@8, Multiple-Element Arrangementgach required deliverable is evaluated to deteri
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogritiased on whether the deliverable has “standealalue” to the customer. The
arrangement’s consideration that is fixed or deteatvle is then allocated to each separate unitodunting based on the relative selling price
of each deliverable. In general, the consideradiotated to each unit of accounting is recognagthe related goods or services are deliv
limited to the consideration that is not contingepon future deliverables.

Revenues that we earned through December 31, 28/tlieen recognized under our accounting poliay poi the adoption of ASU 2009-13,
Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangemon January 1, 2011. The performance period fommultiple element arrangements has concluded.

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20l not materially modified thereafter, we coméirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this pdiie deliverables under the arrangement are ateduto assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable evid@fdair value, and if so, are accounted for amgle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earnimgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff Acauyiitulletin, or SAB, Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urfilscoounting based on the specific terms of eatlhlwarative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if appatgy on a prospective basis based upon avaifable and circumstances. Future changes i
estimates of the performance period may materalpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aims received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accompgabgiance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboradmrounting) paid to us are recorded on a gross lmathe statements of operations as
contract revenues.

We recognize revenue from at-risk, performance stolees that are substantive in the period thatnitestone is achieved, as defined in the
respective contracts.

We entered into collaboration agreements with Pf#zel RTI that contain multiple elements and deéibdées. For a description of the
collaboration agreement and the determination ofrest revenues, see Note E to our audited corselidfinancial statements. In 2015, we
will review our license agreement with Chugai fotgntial multiple elements and deliverables und8CA605-25.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., delivemg acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.qg., clinical trial phasasd as such, are not based on estimates thatisegeptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are eted@nd as milestones are achieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding unclest reimbursement programs primarily from fedaral state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, angliab, are not based on estimates that are sudeeptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tesksmapleted.
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We recognize revenue from royalties relating toshie by a licensee of the licensed product. Rpyeitenue is recognized on an accrual basi
in accordance with the substance of the relevamtemgent and based on the receipt from the liceofstbe relevant information to enable
calculation of the royalty due.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost anreifprofit sharing are reviewed to determine themeeof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arraegésrare also reviewed to determine if one parsysade or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal pg¢
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of dpesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princigzaty for an activity, then the costs and reverassociated with that activity are recognized
on a gross basis in the statement of operatiores a€bounting may be susceptible to change if the@af a collaborator’s business changes.
Currently, our only collaboration accounted foranet basis is our cosharing collaboration with Angiotech, which waswérated in 2011. |
2015, we will review our license agreement andatmtration with Chugai for potential accounting aobaborative arrangement.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors that manage and mertioe trials. We obtain initial estimates
total costs based on enrollment of subjects, ptomagement estimates and other activities. Actosts are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the abotyand if we are invoiced based on progress paysmas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatielmical trial costs may be subject to revisi@ssclinical trials progress, and any revision:
are recorded in the period in which the facts g rise to the revisions become known.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseatrtight-line method and use a Black-Schole®ogiricing model to estimate the
grant-date fair value of share-based awards. Thea®&d term of options granted represent the perfitiche that option grants are expected to
be outstanding. We use the “simplified” method atculate the expected life of option grants givenlonited history and determine volatility
by using our historical stock volatility. Estimatefsfair value are not intended to predict actualife events or the value ultimately realized by
persons who receive equity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrentsed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifshdéprfeitures differ from those estimates and
if our expectations on forfeitures changes. If atfarfeitures vary from the estimate, we will rgoize the difference in compensation expensi
in the period the actual forfeitures occur or wbgtions vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptime®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chamfpects and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially affeatstimate of the fair value of our share-bassanents and the related amount recognize
in our financial statements.

Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities

The estimated fair value of warrants accountec@$diabilities, representing a level 3 fair valueasure, is determined on the issuance date a
subsequently marked to market at each financiartigyy date. The fair value of the warrants israatied using the expected volatility based ol
our historical volatility for warrants issued aftianuary 1, 2013, or for warrants issued prior0®3? using the historical volatilities of
comparable companies from a representative peapgelected based on industry and market capitalizaeach of which using a Black-
Scholes pricing model. The fair value of certairrnaats is determined using probability weightedrage assumptions that give consideration
to contractual terms in the warrants, such as arcese price repricing feature, as defined.

Pending Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncemel

Refer to Note B to the consolidated financial steats for a discussion of recently issued accogrgfandards.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwarodkiog statements within the meaning of the PriBgeurities Litigation Reform Act of
1995 that involve risks and uncertainties. Thesedod-looking statements relate to, among otherghi the expected timetable for
development of our product candidates, our growttexyy, and our future financial performance, udahg our operations, economic
performance, financial condition, prospects, arfetofuture events. We have attempted to identifwéwd-looking statements by using such
words as “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,” “contiafl “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “myd’ “plans,” “potential,” “should,”
“suggest,” “will,” or other similar expressions. @e forward-looking statements are only predictam are largely based on our current
expectations. These forward-looking statementsapipea number of places in this annual report.
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In addition, a number of known and unknown riskg;artainties, and other factors could affect treueacy of these statements. Some of the
more significant known risks that we face are fhksrand uncertainties inherent in the processseidering, developing, and commercializ
products that are safe and effective for use asahutmerapeutics, including the uncertainty regaydivarket acceptance of our product
candidates and our ability to generate revenues fdllowing risks and uncertainties may cause @tuwal results, levels of activity,
performance, or achievements to differ materiaiynf any future results, levels of activity, perf@mee, or achievements expressed or impliec
by these forward-looking statements:

. our ability to raise capital to fund our operatip

. the timing and nature of results from our MultiStelimical trials;

. the possibility of delays in, adverse results of] axcessive costs of the development prot
. our ability to successfully initiate and compleliical trials of our product candidate

. uncertainty regarding market acceptance of oodyet candidates and our ability to generate reegnncluding MultiStem cell
therapy for the prevention of GvHD and the treathwérstroke, AMI, IBD, ARDS and other disease irations;

. changes in external market factc
. changes in our indust's overall performanc
. changes in our business strate

. our ability to protect and defend our intelledtpeoperty and related business operations, innythe successful prosecution of our
patent applications and enforcement of our paights, and operate our business in an environnfemaipid technology and
intellectual property developmet

. our possible inability to realize commercially valle discoveries in our collaborations with pharendical and other biotechnolo
companies

. our ability to meet milestones under our collaboratgreements
. our collaborator ability to continue to fulfill their obligations wer the terms of our collaboration agreem

. the success of our efforts to enter into newtagia partnerships and advance our programs, imguevithout limitation, in the
United States, Europe and Jap

. our possible inability to execute our strategy thuehanges in our industry or the economy gener
. changes in productivity and reliability of suppsg
. the success of our competitors and the emergenmeevotompetitors; an

. the risks mentioned elsewhere in this annual repoform 1-K under Item 1A“Risk Factor¢’

Although we currently believe that the expectaticefected in the forward-looking statements agsomable, we cannot guarantee our future
results, levels of activity or performance. We utaee no obligation to publicly update forward-land statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, excepbtherwise required by law. You are advised, howgteeconsult any further disclosures we
make on related subjects in our reports on Forr®,18-K and 10-K furnished to the SEC. You shouiderstand that it is not possible to
predict or identify all risk factors. Consequentpu should not consider any such list to be a detagset of all potential risks or uncertainties.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to interest rate risk is related toilmestment portfolio and our borrowings. Fixeteravestments and borrowings may have
their fair market value adversely impacted fromrgd®s in interest rates. Due in part to these factaur future investment income may fall
short of expectations. Further, we may suffer lsssenvestment principal if we are forced to selturities that have declined in market value
due to changes in interest rates. When approfraged on interest rates, we invest our excesspeashbrily in debt instruments of the United
States government and its agencies and corporbteséeurities, and as of December 31, 2014, wenbadvestments. We have been investing
conservatively due to the current economic condiitiand have prioritized liquidity and the presdpratf principal in lieu of potentially hight
returns. As a result, we experienced no losseb@principal of our investments.

We enter into loan arrangements with financialiindbns when needed and when available to us. &idinber 31, 2014, we had no borrow
outstanding other than a forgivable note payaldeaated with local grant funding bearing fixedigiwable interest of 4.25% per annum.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Athersys, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Athersys, Inc. as of December 31, 288142013, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and compsaleloss, stockholders’ equity and cash flowselach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014. Our audits also includefiiancial statement schedule listed in the Iratdtem 15(a) (2). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibilityeo€ompany’s management. Our responsibility iscpyess an opinion on these financial
statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digs in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Athersys,
Inc. at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the cataell results of its operations and its cash flimwgach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.Segelly accepted accounting principles. Also, in opinion, the related financial statem
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasanicial statements taken as a whole, presentyg faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@nited States), Athersys, Inc.'s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2014, based on criteria establishedtémial Control-Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (2013 framework) and our regated March 12, 2015 expressed
an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 12, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Athersys, Inc.

We have audited Athersys, Inc.’s internal contradrdfinancial reporting as of December 31, 2014gllaon criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (2013 framework) (the
COSO criteria). Athersys Inc.’s management is rasijtide for maintaining effective internal contrales financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accompagyManagement's Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting in Iltem 9A. Ouspensibility is to express an opinion on the conyfmimternal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staigdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtagasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corixar financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Athersys, Inc. maintained, in akt@rial respects, effective internal control oveancial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the consolidated
balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 20d 3hamelated consolidated statements of operatindscomprehensive loss, stockholders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three yeathé period ended December 31, 2014 of Athersigs,and our report dated March 12, 2015
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 12, 2015
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

December 31

2014 2013
Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 26,12 $ 31,94¢
Accounts receivabl 694 52C
Prepaid expenses and ot 427 387
Total current asse 27,24¢ 32,85¢
Equipment, ne 1,27(¢ 1,33¢
Deferred tax asse 20C —
Total asset $ 28,71¢ $ 34,18¢
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,760 $ 2,24¢
Accrued compensation and related bent 1,06(C 1,065
Accrued clinical trial cost 12¢ 88
Accrued expense 664 884
Deferred revenu 75 8€
Total current liabilities 4,69z 4,36¢
Note payable 18z 17¢€
Warrant liabilities 2,94¢ 9,82:
Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, at stated value; 10,000,000 slaautb®rized, and no shares issued and outstantling a
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2 — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 150,000,000 steargmrized, 77,706,816 and 70,749,212 shares issued
at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, resggctand 77,706,816 and 70,683,480 shares
outstanding at December 31, 2014 and December03B, 2espectivel 78 71
Additional paic-in capital 307,33 284,32:
Treasury stock, at cost; 65,732 shares at DeceBihed013 — (135)
Accumulated defici (286,52() (264,43))
Total stockholder equity 20,89: 19,82:
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 28,71¢ $ 34,18t

See accompanying notes.
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Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsarehoss

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Revenues
Contract revenu $ 28€ $ 75¢ $ 7,38(
Grant revenu 1,33 1,68: 1,32¢

Total revenue 1,628 2,43¢ 8,70¢
Costs and expense
Research and development (including stock compiemsexpense of $1,158, $639 and

$150 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectiv 23,36¢ 20,48« 19,63¢
General and administrative (including stock compéns expense of $1,447, $884 a
$331 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectiv 6,90¢ 6,06¢ 4,75

Depreciatior 36C 34¢€ 32C

Total costs and expens 30,63¢ 26,89¢ 24,70¢
Loss from operation (29,019 (24,45Y) (16,007
Income (expense) from change in fair value of watganet 6,591 (6,329 2,40¢
Other income (expense), r 86 38 (1,139
Loss before income taxe (22,33%) (30,749 (14,73
Income tax benefi 253 — —
Net loss $ (22,08) $ (30,749 $ (14,73
Net loss per common share, bas $ (0.29) $ (0.59) $ (0.4%)
Weighted average shares outstanding, t 76,954,50 57,674,83 32,556,78
Net loss per common share, dilute: $ (0.3)) $ (0.59) $ (0.4%)
Weighted average shares outstanding, dil 78,541,44 57,674,83 32,556,78
Items included in other comprehensive Ic

Proportional share of comprehensive loss of equigthod investmer — — (28)
Comprehensive los: $ (22,089 $ (30,749 $ (14,769

See accompanying notes.
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Balance at January 1, 20
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common stock and warrants
net of issuance cos
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plar
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (lo
items
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common stock from warrant
exercises
Issuance of common stock and warra
net of issuance cos
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plar
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stock based compensati
Issuance of common stock from warr
exercises
Issuance of common stock and warrants,
net of issuance cos
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plar
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 201

See accompanying notes.

Athersys, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In Thousands, Except Share Amounts)

Accumulated

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Total
Treasury Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders
Number Stated Number Par Paid-in
of Share: Value of Shares Value Capital Stock Income Deficit Equity
— $ — 2448726 $ 24 $ 226206t $ — % 28 $ (21896() $ 7,29¢
— — — — 481 — — 481
— — 28,561,55 2¢ 27,20: — — 27,23:
— — 9,81¢ — — — — —
— — — — — — (14,73Y (14,73Y
— — — — — (28 — (28
— — 53,058,63 53 253,88¢ — — (233,69Y) 20,247
— — — — 1,52¢ — — — 1,527
— — 397,82t — 7917 — — — 797
— — 16,899,99 17 28,11 137 — — 28,26"
— — 327,02 1 1 (272 — — (270)
— — — — — — — (30,74 (30,749
— — 70,683,48 71 284,32: (13%) — (264,439 19,82:
— — — — 2,60t — — — 2,60t
— — 928,92 1 86¢ 69 — — 93¢
— — 5,250,001 5 19,69¢ 35¢ — — 20,06:
— — 844,41 1 (157) (292 — — (44¢)
— — — — — — — (22,087 (22,089
= $ — 77,70681 $ 78 $ 30733 $ — % — $ (286,520 $ 20,89¢
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Athersys, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Net loss

(In Thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities

Depreciatior

Realized gain on investments and avail-for-sale securitie

Stocl-based compensatic
Issuance of common stock to former lenc
Change in fair value of warrant liabiliti
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenu
Net cash used in operating activit
Investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of availa-for-sale securitie
Purchases of equipme
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warnaet
Proceeds from exercise of warra
Purchase of treasury sto
Proceeds from note payat
Net cash provided by financing activiti
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivz
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of "

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

$(22,087) $(30,749) $(14,73Y

36C 34€ 32C
— — (189
2,608 1,52¢ 481
— — 1,00¢
(6,59) 6,32 (2,409
(199) 7 14
(174) (30) 19¢
(40) (101) 58C
33t (19€) 19¢
(11) 86 (3,140

(25,79) (22,789 (17,669

— — 4,231
(297) (385) (347)
(297) (385) 3,80

19,62  29,45: 30,35’
93¢ 402 —
(292) (272) —

— — 16€

20,267 29,58 30,52

(582])  6,41F 16,74

31,046 2553:  8,78E

$26,127 $31,94¢ $ 2553
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Athersys, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

A. Background

We are an international biotechnology company ithédcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine and operate in one business
segment. Our operations consist primarily of reseand product development activities.

B. Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include eapants and results of operations and those oivbotly-owned subsidiaries. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have baamated in consolidation. Investments in joint tges are accounted for using the equity
method when we do not control the investee, buetibg ability to exercise significant influence ptlee investee’s operations and financial
policies. We liquidated an investment in an inaefivint venture in 2012 and recognized a gain &35100.

Revenue Recognition

Our license and collaboration agreements may aontaitiple elements, including license and techgglaccess fees, research and
development funding, manufacturing revenue, coatigaj, milestones and royalties. The deliverableden such an arrangement are evaluate
under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 625, Multiple-Element ArrangementBach required deliverable is evaluated to determir
whether it qualifies as a separate unit of accogrtiased on whether the deliverable has “standeatalue” to the customer. The arrangeneent
consideration that is fixed or determinable is thocated to each separate unit of accountingdoanehe relative selling price of each
deliverable. In general, the consideration allogddteeach unit of accounting is recognized as ¢feged goods or services are delivered, limite
to the consideration that is not contingent updariideliverables.

Revenues that we have earned through Decembef34,ave been recognized under our accountingypptior to the adoption of ASU
2009-13 Multiple-Deliverable Revenue ArrangemeatsJanuary 1, 2011. The performance period fommultiple element arrangements have
concluded..

For agreements entered into prior to January 11 20l not materially modified thereafter, we coméirio apply our prior accounting policy
with respect to such arrangements. Under this ypdiiee deliverables under the arrangement are atedduo assess whether they have
standalone value and objective and reliable evig@fdair value, and if so, are accounted for amgle unit. We then recognize revenue for
each unit based on the culmination of the earngmgsess under ASC 605-S25, issued as Staff Acauytilletin (“SAB”) Topic 13, and our
estimated performance period for the single urfilscoounting based on the specific terms of eatlhlwarative agreement. We subsequently
adjust the estimated performance periods, if apfaty on a prospective basis based upon avaifable and circumstances. Future changes i
estimates of the performance period may matenalpact the timing of future revenue recognized. Aimis received prior to satisfying the
revenue recognition criteria for contract revenaiesrecorded as deferred revenue in the accompabgiance sheets. Reimbursement amc
(other than those accounted for using collaboradmrounting) paid to us are recorded on a gross lmathe statements of operations as
contract revenues.

We recognize revenue from at-risk, performance stolees that are substantive in the period thatnitesstone is achieved, as defined in the
respective contracts.

Also included in contract revenue are license feesived from Bristol-Myers Squibb, which are sfieally set forth in the license and
collaboration agreement as amounts due to us lmasedr completion of certain tasks (e.g., delivemg acceptance of a cell line) and
development milestones (e.qg., clinical trial phasasd as such, are not based on estimates thatiseeptible to change. Such amounts are
invoiced and recorded as revenue as tasks are eted@nd as milestones are achieved.

Similarly, grant revenue consists of funding unclest reimbursement programs primarily from fedaral state sources for qualified research
and development activities performed by us, angliab, are not based on estimates that are sudeeptithange. Such amounts are invoiced
(unless prepaid) and recorded as revenue as tesksmapleted.
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We recognize revenue from royalties relating toshie by a licensee of the licensed product. Rpyeitenue is recognized on an accrual basi
in accordance with the substance of the relevamtemgent and based on the receipt from the liceofstbe relevant information to enable
calculation of the royalty due.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with atority of three months or less when purchased todsh equivalents. Cash equivalents are
primarily invested in money market funds and conuia¢paper. The carrying amount of our cash eqaivial approximates fair value due to
the short maturity of the investments.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures, which agngisarily of costs associated with external daliand preclinical study fees,
manufacturing costs, salaries and related persaosts$, legal expenses resulting from intellegiwaperty application processes, and
laboratory supply and reagent costs, includingatiieed allocated overhead expenses, are chargeghémse as incurred.

Collaborative Arrangements

Collaborative arrangements that involve cost anrieifprofit sharing are reviewed to determine themeeof the arrangement and the nature of
the collaborative parties’ businesses. The arraegésrare also reviewed to determine if one parsysade or primary responsibility for an
activity, or whether the parties have shared resipdity for the activity. If responsibility for aactivity is shared and there is no principal pgz
then the related costs of that activity are recogphiby us on a net basis in the statement of dpesate.g., total cost less reimbursement from
collaborator). If we are deemed to be the princjgzaty for an activity, then the costs and reverassociated with that activity are recognized
on a gross basis in the statement of operatiores a€bounting may be susceptible to change if the@af a collaborator’s business changes.
Currently, we have no collaborations accountedfoa net basis.

Clinical Trial Costs

Clinical trial costs are accrued based on workgreréd by outside contractors that manage and mertioe trials. We obtain initial estimates
total costs based on enrollment of subjects, ptomagement estimates and other activities. Actosts are typically charged to us and
recognized as the tasks are completed by the abotyand if we are invoiced based on progress paysnas opposed to actual costs, we
develop estimates of work completed to date. Aatielmical trial costs may be subject to revisi@ssclinical trials progress, and any revision:
are recorded in the period in which the facts g rise to the revisions become known.

Royalties

We may be required to make future royalty paymemtsertain parties based on product sales undmrdie agreements. We did not pay any
royalties during the three-year period ended Deeer8h, 2014.

Investments in Available-for-Sale Securities

We determine the appropriate classification of gir@nt securities at the time of purchase and afisate such designation as of each balance
sheet date. Our investments typically consist ateédhStates government obligations and corporaté skcurities, which are classified as
available-for-sale and are valued based on quatedsin active markets for identical assets. Aalali-for-sale securities are carried at fair
value, with the unrealized gains and losses, nappficable tax, reported as a component of accatedlother comprehensive income. The
amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted fioorization of premiums and accretion of discodatmaturity. Such amortization or accretion
is included in interest income. Realized gainslasdes on available-for-sale securities are inaludénterest income. The cost of securities
sold is based on the specific identification metHaterest earned on securities classified as aviaHfor-sale is included in interest income.

Long-Lived Assets

Equipment is stated at acquired cost less accuetutigpreciation. Laboratory and office equipmeatdapreciated on the straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives (three to ten yeaeasehold improvements are amortized over tbetashof the lease term or estimated useful
life.

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment wéemts or changes in circumstances indicate lieatarrying amount of the asset or relatec
group of assets may not be recoverable. If the@rpduture undiscounted cash flows are less thararrying amount of the asset, an
impairment loss is recognized at that time. Measrg of impairment may be based upon appraisakehaalue of similar assets or
discounted cash flows.
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Patent Costs and Rights

Costs of prosecuting and maintaining patents atehpaights are expensed as incurred. We haveffiledroad intellectual property protection
on our proprietary technologies. We currently haumerous United States patent applications anésponding international patent
applications related to our technologies, as wethany issued United States and international tmaten

Warrant Liabilities

We account for common stock warrants as eitheililigls or as equity instruments depending on thectfic terms of the warrant agreements.
Registered common stock warrants that could reaquish settlement are accounted for as liabilités.classify these warrant liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheet as non-current liaslifThe warrant liabilities are revalued at faiueaat each balance sheet date subsequent to
initial issuance. Changes in the fair market vaitithe warrants are reflected in the consolidatatement of operations as income (expense)
from change in fair value of warrants.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is recorded at cost and any differdretween the cost basis and the selling priteeasury stock is recognized as additional
paid-in capital. Treasury stock is relieved onratfin-first-out basis at actual cost. At Decem®g&r2014, we had no shares of common stock
held in treasury, and at December 31, 2013, wetbad32 shares of common stock held in treasuryaaadable for reissuance.

Comprehensive Loss

The proportional share of comprehensive incomel@sglof our equity method investment, which wasitigted in 2012, is the only compon
of accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our accounts receivable are generally comprisedrafunts due from collaborators and granting auiilesrand are subject to concentration of
credit risk due to the absence of a large numbeustomers. At December 31, 2014, the majoritywfaccounts receivable are due from
collaborators. We do not require collateral frorasth customers.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States requires management 1
make estimates and assumptions that affect the @noeported in the financial statements and acemiyipg notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Stock-Based Compensation

We recognize stock-based compensation expenseeairtight-line method and use a Black-Schole®pgiricing model to estimate the fair
value of option awards. The expected term of ogtigranted represent the period of time that ofjiamts are expected to be outstanding. We
use the “simplified” method to calculate the expeédife of option grants given our limited histarfyexercise activity and determine volatility
by using our historical stock volatility. The faialue of our restricted stock units are equal ®dlosing price of our common stock on the date
of grant and is expensed over the vesting period stnaight-line basis. Estimates of fair valuerastintended to predict actual future events o
the value ultimately realized by persons that rexzeiquity awards.

Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrentsed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifshdéprfeitures differ from those estimates. If
actual forfeitures vary from the estimate, we retpg the difference in compensation expense ipéred the actual forfeitures occur or when
options vest.

All of the aforementioned estimates and assumptima®valuated on a quarterly basis and may chamfpects and circumstances warrant.
Changes in these assumptions can materially affeatstimate of the fair value of our share-bassanents and the related amount recognize
in our financial statements.
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The following weighted-average input assumptionsawesed in determining the fair value of the Conymatock options:

December 31

2014 2013 2012
Volatility 104.0% 109.2% 117.3%
Risk-free interest rat 2.1% 1.5% 0.8%
Expected life of optiol 6.09 year: 6.14 year 5.72 year
Expected dividend yiel 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Income Taxes

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determbeskd on the differences between the financialrtiggoand tax basis of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the tax rate and laws tlyriereffect. We evaluate our deferred income tatcedetermine if a valuation allowance
should be established against the deferred taxsassé the valuation allowance should be redugsased on consideration of all available
evidence, both positive and negative, using a “nlikedy than not” standard.

We had no liability for uncertain income tax pamits as of December 31, 2014 and 2013. Our polityriecognize potential accrued interest
and penalties related to the liability for uncertaix benefits, if applicable, in income tax experidet operating loss and credit carryforwards
since inception remain open to examination by guanthorities, and will for a period post utilizati

Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share have beenumapising the weighted-average number of sharesrofmon stock outstanding during the
period. For each reporting period, we evaluatdribeme from our warrant liabilities and consideratifer it results in a potentially dilutive
effect to net loss per share. For the year endegber 31, 2014, we had such a dilutive reconighatelated to our warrants with an exercise
price of $1.01, which are included in the tableohelAny such warrants are then omitted from theseghent following table of instruments
that were excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share. The table below reconcileaghéss and the number of shares used to
calculate basic and diluted net loss per sharthtoyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 20ftiyusands.

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholc- basic $(22,08:) $(30,749) $(14,73%)
Less: income from change in fair value of warre (2,147 — —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders ueethlculate diluted ne
loss per shar $(24,227) $(30,747) $(14,73%)
Denominator:
Weightec-average shares outstand- basic 76,95¢ 57,67¢ 32,557
Potentially dilutive common shares outstandi
Warrants 1,58¢ — —
Weightec-average shares used to calculate diluted net krsshare 78,54 57,67¢ 32,555
Basic- net loss per shai $ (0.29) $ (0.59 $ (0.4H
Dilutive — net loss per shal $ (0.3)) $ (0.59 $ (0.4%)
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We have outstanding options, restricted stock wmtbwarrants that are not used in the calculatfatiluted net loss per share because to do ¢
would be antidilutive. The following instruments ri@eexcluded from the calculation of diluted neslpgr share because their effects would be
antidilutive:

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Stock options 6,383,45 5,129,57! 4,058,18:
Restricted stock unit 1,889,26 2,449,341 70,81«
Warrants 6,310,00i 8,909,022 5,806,85:

14,582,72 16,487,95 9,935,85.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsrdqaFASB”) issued ASU No. 2014-0Revenue from Contracts with CustomeAsSU
2014-09 requires an entity to recognize revenuerimanner that depicts the transfer of promised goodervices to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the erditpects to be entitled in exchange for those goodsrvices. To achieve that core principle,
the amendment provides five steps that an entiylshapply when recognizing revenue. The amendmlentspecifies the accounting of some
costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with a custenand expands the disclosure requirements arcamtdacts with customers. An entity can
either adopt this amendment retrospectively to gaich reporting period presented or retrospectiwveith the cumulative effect of initially
applying the update recognized at the date ofirdpplication. The amendment is effective for aimaporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permiti®d.are in the process of evaluating, but havelatgrmined, the impact that the adoption
of ASU 2014-09 will have on our consolidated fin@hstatements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-REsentation of Financial Statements - Going CongcBisclosure of Uncertainties about an
Entity's Ability to Continue as a Going Concerwhich establishes management’s responsibiligvluate whether there is substantial doubt
about an entity’s ability to continue as a goinga&rn and, if so, to provide related footnote disates. ASU 2014-15 provides a definition of
the term ‘substantial doubt’ and requires an assestfor a period of one year after the date tmaffinancial statements are issued or availabl
to be issued. Management will also be required/&duate and disclose whether its plans alleviaédloubt. The guidance is effective for the
annual periods ending after December 15, 2016 m@tedrin periods thereafter with early adoption pétedi. We are in the process of evaluating
the impact the new guidance will have on our disates.

C. Equipment
December 31
Equipment consists of (in thousan 2014 2013
Laboratory equipment $ 6,162 $6,70:
Office equipment and leasehold improveme 2,84¢ 2,814
9,011 9,513
Accumulated depreciatic (7,749 (8,189

$1,27( $ 1,33¢

In 2014 and 2013, we disposed of approximately $tilBon and $1.5 million, respectively, of obsa@daboratory equipment, office equipment
and leasehold improvements, all of which was fdéypreciated.

D. Financial Instruments
Fair Value Measuremen

We classify the inputs used to measure fair vaite the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets fortidahassets or liabilities

Level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets forlsingissets or liabilities, or unadjusted quotedgxifor identical or similar ass¢
or liabilities in markets that are not active, mputs other than quoted prices that are obserdabtee asset or liability
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Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liabil

The following table provides a summary of the ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair valu@ recurring basis as follows: (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014 Usi

Balance as o
Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other
December 31 Observable Inputs Significant
Markets for Identical Unobservable
Description 2014 Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
Warrant liabilities $  2,94¢ $ — $ — $ 2,94¢
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 Usil
Balance as o
Quoted Prices in Active Significant Other
December 31 Observable Inputs Significant
Markets for Identical Unobservable
Description 2013 Assets (Level 1 (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3
Warrant liabilities $ 9,82 $ — $ — $ 9,82:¢

We review and reassess the fair value hierarctssifleations on a quarterly basis. Changes fromquagter to the next related to the
observability of inputs in a fair value measurenmaty result in a reclassification between fair eahierarchy levels. There were no
reclassifications for all periods presented.

The estimated fair value of warrants accountea$diabilities, representing a level 3 fair valueasure, was determined on the issuance date
and subsequently marked to market at each finaregarting date. We use the Black-Scholes valuatiodel to value the warrant liabilities at
fair value. The fair value is estimated using thpezted volatility based on our historical volagilior warrants issued after January 1, 2013, ol
for warrants issued prior to 2013, using the histdivolatilities of comparable companies from presentative peer group selected based on
industry and market capitalization. The fair vatii¢he warrants is determined using probabilitygheed-average assumptions, when
appropriate. The following inputs were used at Delzer 31, 2014:

Warrants Issuec Warrants Issuec Warrants Issuec Warrants Issuec
January 2014 December 201! March 2012 February 2011
Expected volatility 81.2% 57.(% 67.(% 63.2%
Risk-free interest rat 0.67% 0.04% 0.67% 0.25%
Expected life 1.54years 0.25years 2.20years 1.09years
Fair value at December 31, 201
(in thousands) $ 29z $ 42 $ 2,507 $ 10€

A roll-forward of fair value measurements usingnsfigant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the vaauts is as follows (in thousands):

Year ended
December 31, 201
Balance January 1, 2014 $ 9,82:
Issuance of warrants January 2( 2,01z
Settlements from exerci (2,29¢)
Income for the perio (6,597
Balance December 31, 201 $ 2,94¢

Financing Arrangement

We lease office and laboratory space under operégases. The lease for our corporate offices alnoratories began in 2000 and currently
expires in March 2016, and we have the option n@weannually through 2019. Our rent is $267,000ygar and our rental rate has not
changed since the lease inception in 2000. Alsdease office and laboratory space for our Belgialosidiary, which currently expires in July
2015 and includes options to renew annually thralugi 2022, with annual rent of approximately $280, subject to adjustments based on a
inflationary index. We also have an option for diddial space in Belgium that expires in August 2015

Aggregate rent expense was approximately $517$081,,000 and $415,000 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, e¢&sply. The future annual minimu
lease commitments at December 31, 2014 are appatedyrtb370,000 for 2015 and $67,000 for 2016.
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In 2012, we entered into an arrangement with theb@lCardiovascular Innovation Center (“GCIC”) @hd Cleveland Clinic Foundation
pursuant to which we are entitled to proceeds abugb00,000 in the form of a forgivable loan taducertain remaining preclinical work using
MultiStem to treat congestive heart failure anddmeparing the program for an investigational neuwgdapplication with the United States F
and Drug Administration. Interest on the loan aesrat a fixed rate of 4.25% per annum, and is atléte outstanding principal. The
principal and interest on the loan will be forgivieased on the achievement of a certain milestame)ated to the preclinical work, within thr
to four years. GCIC has agreed to the four-yean tevith an expiration date of March 31, 2016. ADaicember 31, 2014 and 2013, we have
drawn $166,000 of this financing ($183,000 inclgdinterest), which is reflected on the balance she@ non-current note. The fair value of
our note payable at December 31, 2014 is not d@tabte due to lack of marketability of the note phle.

Our former lenders retained a right to receive ieing milestone payments up to $1.3 million as ecBmber 31, 2011 (from an original
amount of $2.25 million) upon the occurrence ofaerevents, and the final balance was settledlinrf 2012 in connection with equity
offerings during the year. We elected to pay 75%hefmilestone payments in shares of common stottleger-share offering prices in 2012
and $1.3 million in cash and stock-based milesfmmenents were recognized as other expense in 2012.

We paid no interest during the three years endextimber 31, 2014.

E. Collaborations and Revenue Recognition
Pfizer

In 2009, we entered into a collaboration with Pfile. (“Pfizer”) to develop and commercialize ddultiStem® product candidate to treat
inflammatory bowel disease (“IBD") for the worldvédnarket on an exclusive basis. Under the terniiseohgreement, we received a non-
refundable up-front payment from Pfizer and rese&umading and support through June 2012. We agibddi to receive milestone payments
upon the successful achievement of certain devedapmegulatory and commercial milestones, for Wwhie evaluated the nature of the event:
triggering these contingent payments and concltldatthese events constituted substantive milesttiveg will be recognized as revenue in
period in which the underlying triggering event o In concluding that each milestone is substantve considered factors such as whether
the associated consideration fairly representeettie level of effort required to reach the mibest or the value added to the product based o
the achievement of such milestone. No significaitéstone revenue has been recognized to date.

Pfizer pays us for manufacturing product for clatidevelopment and commercialization purposes, lwisicecognized in the period that the
manufacturing services are performed. Pfizer hggarsibility for development and regulatory act@st including decision-making regarding
the advancement or cessation of further developumsaer the collaboration. If the product is suctidgsdeveloped, Pfizer would also have
sole responsibility for commercialization. We magoe to co-develop with Pfizer, in which case, plaeties would share development and
commercialization expenses and profits, if anyanragreed-upon basis beginning at Phase 3 clidéadlopment. Alternatively, we may elect
to not co-develop with Pfizer, in which case Pfiaéli pay us tiered single-digit royalties on worlitle commercial sales of MultiStem IBD
products. Any royalties may be subject to certaifuctions related to market exclusivity, pateninetaand credits from sales milestone
payments. In the event that Pfizer does not moegthgram forward, the development and commeraitidim rights would revert to us.

RTI Surgical, Inc

In 2010, we entered into an agreement with RTI Batginc. (“RTI”) to develop and commercialize ligic implants using our technology for
certain orthopedic applications in the bone gralffissitutes market on an exclusive basis. Undeteims of the agreement, we received a non-
refundable license fee in installments and perfaroertain services that were concluded in 2012 avéeeligible to receive cash payments t
the successful achievement of certain commercistones. We evaluated the nature of the evegtgetiing these contingent payments and
concluded that these events are substantive ahdetrenue will be recognized in the period in whégtth underlying triggering event occurs.
No milestone revenue has been recognized to dataldition, we are entitled to receive tiered rbgalon worldwide commercial sales
implants using our technologies based on a royatty starting in the mid-single digits and incregsnto the mid-teens. Any royalties may be
subject to a reduction if third-party paymentsifaellectual property rights are necessary or coneially desirable to permit the manufacture
or sale of the product.

F. Capitalization and Warrant Liability
Capitalization

At both December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had 150lmshares of common stock and 10.0 million skatundesignated preferred stock
authorized. No shares of preferred stock have seied as of December 31, 2014.

58



Table of Contents

The following shares of common stock were resefeeduture issuance:

December 31

2014 2013
Stock-based compensation plans 9,903,58: 11,020,51
Warrants to purchase common st— former lender: — 149,02t
Warrants to purchase common st— 2011 offering 1,310,001 1,310,00!
Warrants to purchase common st— 2012 offering 3,021,07 3,950,00:
Warrants to purchase common st— 2013 offering 3,500,001 3,500,001
Warrants to purchase common st— 2014 offering 1,500,001 —

19,234,66 19,929,53

As of December 31, 2014, the terms of our outstapdiarrants to purchase shares of common stockanithighted average exercise price of
$2.49 were as follows:

Number of
Underlying Shares Exercise Price Expiration
1,310,00! $3.55 February 2, 201
3,021,07 $1.01 March 14, 201"
3,500,001 $2.50 March 31, 201!
1,500,00! $4.50 July 15, 201¢
9,331,07

In January 2014, we completed a registered dirféetinog generating net proceeds of approximately.8illion through the issuance of
5,000,000 shares of common stock and immediatedycésable warrants to purchase 1,500,000 sharesnafnon stock with an exercise price
of $4.50 per share that expire on July 15, 201@. Sécurities were sold in multiples of a fixed camakion of one share of common stock and
warrant to purchase 0.30 shares of common stoak affering price of $4.10 per fixed combination.

In December 2013, we completed a registered diféeting generating net proceeds of approximat&§.4 million through the issuance of
10,000,000 shares of common stock and warrantsrithpse 3,500,000 shares of common stock with arcese price of $2.50 per share and
an expiration date of March 31, 2015. When the B@00 warrants were issued, 1,401,218 were notisadale until June 3, 2014. The
securities were sold in multiples of a fixed conation of one share of common stock and a warraptitohase 0.35 shares of common stot
an offering price of $2.00 per fixed combinatiom.January 2015, we amended all of the December @@if&nts to purchase 3,500,000 share
of common stock to increase the exercise price 8arb0 to $2.75 per share, and to extend the dipirdate from March 31, 2015 to May 31,
2015.

In October 2012, we completed a public offeringayating net proceeds of approximately $18.3 mildlmmmugh the issuance of 19,802,000
shares of common stock at a price of $1.01 peesthaiNovember 2012, the underwriters exercisedlirtheir right to purchase an additional
2,970,300 shares of common stock, solely to cover-allotments. The exercise of the full over-atient option generated an additional $2.8
million of net proceeds.

In March 2012, we completed a private placememrrfaing generating net proceeds of approximatel¥ 88llion through the issuance of
4,347,827 shares of common stock and five-yearamésrto purchase 4,347,827 shares of common stitislaw exercise price of $2.07 per
share. The securities were sold in multiples akad combination of one share of common stock an@ugiant to purchase one share of
common stock at an offering price of $2.07 perdixembination, and the warrants include price mtide in the event we sell stock below the
exercise price, as defined. As a result of the REt@012 public offering and in accordance withtdrens of the warrants, we sought and
obtained stockholder approval in February 201%thuce the exercise price of these warrants to §le@%share. Warrants to purchase 2,29z
shares of common stock have been exercised tordatéting in aggregate proceeds of $2.3 million.

In February 2011, we completed a registered dofeting with net proceeds of $11.8 million throutte issuance of 4,366,667 shares of
common stock and five-year warrants to purchas&0]0®0 shares of common stock with an exercise mfié3.55 per share. The securities
were sold in multiples of a fixed combination ofoshare of common stock and a warrant to purch&sef@ share of common stock at an
offering price of $3.00 per fixed combination.
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Aspire Capital

In November 2011, we entered into an equity purelz@seement with Aspire Capital Fund, LLC (“Asp@apital”), which provided that Aspil
Capital was committed to purchase up to an aggeegfe20.0 million of shares of our common stockro& two-year term, subject to our
election to sell any such shares. Under the agnegme have the right to sell shares, subject tmoevolume limitations and a minimum floor
price, at a modest discount to the prevailing miapkiee. As part of the agreement, Aspire Capitatiman initial investment of $1.0 million in
us and received 266,667 additional shares as caapen for its commitment. As of September 2013 hae sold all the remaining shares tha
were available under the 8,000,000 shares of constomk registered for resale under the equityifgcilvhich was due to expire early in 20.

In October 2013, we terminated the expiring 201ditgpurchase agreement with Aspire Capital anérextinto a new 2013 equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital to purchase up taggregate of $25.0 million of shares of our commsimek over a new two-year period. The
terms of the 2013 equity facility are similar t@ threvious arrangement, and we issued 333,333sshioeir common stock Aspire Capital as &
commitment fee in October 2013 and filed a regigmastatement for the resale of 10,000,000 shafreemmon stock in connection with the
new equity facility.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 204.3pld 250,000 and 6,566,666 shares, respectieespire Capital at average prices of
$3.78 and $1.70 per share, respectively. As of Bee 31, 2014, we received proceeds of approxim&tet.4 million in aggregate under the
Aspire equity purchase agreements since their tramem 2011, and we can elect to sell to Aspir@i@d up to an additional $23.5 million of
shares of common stock under the current agree@eme January 1, 2015 through March 9, 2015, weesttares for approximately $3.3
million, in aggregate, to Aspire Capital.

Warrant Liabilities

The warrants we issued in the January 2014 andrbleee2013 registered direct offerings contain avigion for a cash payment in the event
that the shares are not delivered to the holddimvittvo trading days. The cash payment equals $t@a@y per $2,000 of warrant shares for
each day late. The warrants we issued in both theeM2012 private placement and the February 2€distered direct offering each contain a
provision for net cash settlement in the event thette is a fundamental transaction (e.g., mesgde, of substantially all assets, tender offer, ol
share exchange). If a fundamental transaction sdgouwvhich the consideration issued consists afagh or stock in a non-public company,
then the warrant holder has the option to receagh @qual to a Black Scholes value of the remainirexercised portion of the warrant.
Further, the March 2012 warrants include pricegrtidn in the event we sell stock below the exerpisce, as defined, and the exercise price
was reduced in February 2013 to $1.01 per shaag@sult of the October 2012 public offering.

The warrants have been classified as liabilitissy@posed to equity, due to the potential adjustrizethe exercise price that could result upon
late delivery of the shares or potential cashesgitint upon the occurrence of certain events asided@bove, and are recorded at their fair
values at each balance sheet date.

G. Stock-Based Compensation

We have two incentive plans that authorized aneggge of 11,500,000 shares of common stock fordsmaremployees, directors and
consultants, which reflects an increase in sharéwazed of 6,000,000 that was approved in 20h#&s€ equity incentive plans authorize the
issuance of equity-based compensation in the fdrstock options, stock appreciation rights, regédcstock, restricted stock units,
performance shares and units, and other stock-lzagadis to qualified employees, directors and ceensis. As of December 31, 2014, a total
of 1,596,417 shares of common stock have beendssuger our equity incentive plans.

As of December 31, 2014, a total of 1,630,859 share available for issuance under our equity @msation plans and stock-based awards
to purchase 8,272,724 shares of common stock westanding. We recognized $2,605,000, $1,523,000481,000 of stock-based
compensation expense in 2014, 2013 and 2012, risggc

Stock Options

The weighted average fair value of options graimezD14, 2013 and 2012 was $1.29, $1.42 and $XkRshare, respectively. The total fair
value of options vested during 2014, 2013 and 2042 $940,000, $585,000 and $420,000, respectidelpecember 31, 2014, total
unrecognized estimated compensation cost relatedvwested stock options was approximately $2,5%9,8@ich is expected to be recognized
by mid-2018 using the straight-line method. Theghigéd average contractual life of unvested optairBecember 31, 2014 was 9.07 years.
The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested optiliares and option shares expected to vest asoaftber 31, 2014 was $30,000.
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A summary of our stock option activity and relabefibrmation is as follows:

Outstanding January 1, 2012

Granted

Forfeited / Terminated / Expire
Outstanding December 31, 20

Granted

Exercisec

Forfeited / Expirec
Outstanding December 31, 20

Granted

Exercisec

Forfeited / Expirec
Outstanding December 31, 2014

Vested during 2014
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 20

Weighted
Average
Number Exercise
of Options Price
4,499,60: $ 4.6
290,15( 1.44
(731,56 4.92
4,058,18 4.3€
1,336,92! 1.71
(1,312 1.2€
(264,22)) 3.3¢
5,129,57! 3.7z
1,420,80! 1.6¢
(103,48)) 1.7¢
(63,44)) 1.9¢
6,383,45 $ 3.31
661,97 $ 1.7%
4,437,28! $ 4.0¢

December 31, 201

Options Outstanding

Options Vested and Exercisabl

Weighted Weighted
Average Weighted Average Weighted
Remaining Remaining
Number Contractual Average Number Contractual Average
of Exercise of Exercise
Exercise Price Options Life Price Options Life Price
$1.13-2.94 3,221,45 832 $ 1.77 1,289,78! 728 $ 1.9t
$3.10-5.00 3,054,501 24z $ 4.87 3,040,001 23¢ $ 4.8¢
$5.28-7.80 107,50( 49¢ $ 5.2t 107,50( 49¢ $ 5.2¢
6,383,45 4,437,28!
Restricted Stock Uni
A summary of our restricted stock unit activity asethted information is as follows:
Number
of Weighted
Restricted Average
Stock Units Fair Value
Outstanding January 1, 2012 39,30( $ 2.6¢
Granted 56,71¢ 1.45
Veste-common stock issue (9,819 2.6¢
Forfeited/expirec (15,389 1.8¢
Outstanding December 31, 20 70,81« 1.8¢
Granted 2,851,96. 1.71
Veste-common stock issue (468,35 1.72
Forfeited/expirec (5,079 1.77
Outstanding December 31, 20 2,449,341 1.71
Granted 460,11: 1.6%
Veste-common stock issue (1,013,44) 1.71
Forfeited/expirec (6,749 1.6¢
Outstanding December 31, 201 1,889,26 $ 1.7C
Vested/Issued cumulative at December 31, 20 1,491,62. $ 1.7:
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The total fair value of restricted stock units eestiuring 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $1,734,000, $805nd $26,000, respectively. At
December 31, 2014, total unrecognized estimategeasation cost related to unvested restricted sinitk was approximately $2,991,000,
which is expected to be recognized by mid-2018guittie straight-line method.

H. Income Taxes

At December 31, 2014, we had U.S. federal net dipgréoss and research and development tax cradigforwards of approximately
$88,283,000 and $2,934,000, respectively. Suchatipgrlosses and tax credits may be used to refdtises taxable income and tax liabilities
and will expire at various dates between 2019 &852We also had foreign net operating loss areidartax credit carryforwards of
approximately $12,170,000 and $200,000, respegti&ich foreign operating losses do not expiretararedits will expire between 2015 ¢
2019. We also had state and city net operatingdasyforwards aggregating approximately $35,99@,@uch operating losses may be used t
reduce future taxable income and tax liabilitied il expire at various dates between 2015 ancb203

The utilization of net operating loss and tax crediryforwards generated prior to October 2012¢€t®n 382 Limited Attributes”) is
substantially limited under Section 382 of the tntéd¢ Revenue Code as a result of our equity offgifinOctober 2012. U.S. federal net
operating loss carryforwards of $48,213,000, raseand development tax credits of $2,723,000, &ate sand local net operating loss
carryforwards of $29,218,000 generated in 20142048, as well as foreign net operating loss carwdods of $12,170,000 and foreign tax
credits of $200,000, are not subject to annualétians. The Section 382 Limited Attributes mayused to reduce future taxable income and
tax liabilities and will expire at various datesween 2015 and 2031.

Significant components of our deferred tax assetsa follows (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 34,65 $ 20,701
Research and development credit carryforw. 3,13¢ 1,47:
Compensation expen 3,17 3,35:
Other 1,08¢ 50¢
Total deferred tax asse 42,05; 26,04:
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (41,857 (26,047)
Net deferred tax asse $ 20C $ —

Because of our cumulative losses, substantiallgfate deferred tax assets have been offset lajuamtion allowance. We have not paid incc
taxes for the three-year period ended Decembe2BH. In 2014, we recognized a refundable tax liereddted to research and development
credits associated with our foreign subsidiary.

I. Profit Sharing Plan and 401(k) Plan

We have a profit sharing and 401(k) plan that cegeibstantially all employees and allows for diserary contributions by us. We make
employer contributions to this plan, and the expemas approximately $284,000 in 2014, $97,000 &B82@nd $98,000 in 2012.

J. Subsequent Events
Chugai Collaboration

In February 2015, we entered into a collaboratidth @hugai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (“Chugaid)develop and commercialize MultiStem
therapy for ischemic stroke in Japan on an exctubasis. Under the agreement, Chugai will be resptnfor the development and
commercialization of MultiStem for ischemic strakeJapan, and we will have the primary responsjbitir the manufacture of product for
both clinical and commercial purposes. The pawtiflscoordinate Japanese and global regulatoryiiets and clinical development plans for
MultiStem treatment of ischemic stroke.
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In accordance with the agreement, we received anomp cash payment of $10 million and are entitiedeceive a potential nesgrm paymer
of $7 million tied to the results of our ongoingaBk 2 clinical trial in ischemic stroke. We mayoaisceive additional success-based
development and regulatory milestones aggregating $38 million, as well as potential sales midests of up to 17.5 billion yen
(approximately $150 million based on the currerdrenge rate). We are also eligible for royaltiesiensales, starting in the low double digits
and increasing incrementally to the high teens déipg on net sales levels. Additionally, we wowdeive payments for product supplied to
Chugai.

Grant Award

In 2015, we were awarded a grant from Innovate tWKupport of a Phase 2a clinical study evaluatiegatdministration of MultiStem cell
therapy to acute respiratory distress syndromepiti The grant is expected to provide up to apprately £2.0 million (approximately $3.1
million based on the current exchange rate) in stipgver the course of the study, which will be docted at leading clinical sites in the Uni
Kingdom in conjunction with the Cell Therapy Cathlpa not-for-profit center focused on the devel@ntof the United Kingdom cell therapy
industry.

K. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
The following table presents quarterly data forykars ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, in thdeisarcept per share data:

2014
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter  Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenues $ 707 $ 38 $ 29¢ $ 23t $ 1,62
Net income (loss $(11,48) $ 675 $(4,719) 9$(6,559) $(22,087)
Basic net income (loss) per common st $ (0.15) $ 0.01 $ (0.06) $ (0.0 $ (0.29
Diluted net loss per common shi $ (0.15) $(0.09 $ (0.08 $ (0.0 $ (0.3)
2013
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year
Revenues $ 32¢ $ 571 $ 621 $ 92C $ 2,43¢
Net loss $(9,38¢) $(5,94€) $(5,614) $(9,795) $(30,74)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (0.1¢) $ (0.11) $ (0.10 $ (0.15) $ (0.59

Due to the effect of quarterly changes to outstagm@hares of common stock and weightings, the ahossper share will not necessarily ec
the sum of the respective quarters.
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ITEM9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduresAn evaluation was carried out under the superviaiae with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive @ffiand our principal financial officer, of the effveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the period coverethibyahnual report on Form 10-K. Based on that eatan, these officers have concluded that
as of December 31, 2014, our disclosure contradspracedures are effective.

Management'’s report on internal control over finandal reporting: Management is responsible for establishing and taigimg adequate
internal control over financial reporting, as steim is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Einthe supervision and with the
participation of management, including our printigeecutive officer and principal financial officave conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of internal control over financigdoeting based on the 2013 framework in Internalt@dr— Integrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred@ommission. Based on this evaluation under 8 Zramework in Internal Control
— Integrated Framework, management concluded thantarnal control over financial reporting wasesffive as of December 31, 2014. The
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcegporting as of December 31, 2014 has been alibiteernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtieport, which is included in Item 8 of this amhweport on Form 10-K and incorporated
herein by reference.

Changes in internal control: During the fourth quarter of 2014, there has beeohange in our internal control over financialogjmg that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, our internal control over fir@al reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On January 27, 2015, the Board of Directors of@Gbenpany, upon the recommendation of the Compems&tionmittee of the Board of
Directors of the Company, approved a cash bonwenine plan (the “Plan”) for the year ended Decen#de 2015 for the named executive
officers of the Company. The Plan provides thahgaarticipant is eligible to earn a bonus during @lvard term of January 1, 2015 through
December 31, 2015. The Plan provides for the faligwarget bonus percentages of the named exeafficer’s salary during the award ter
weighted as set forth below on the achievemenpetified corporate goals, with the remainder basethdividual/functional performance. T
corporate goals include advancing the Companyrsazl programs for MultiStem, executing againstelstablished operating plan and capital
acquisition objectives, and advancement of stratpgitnership and program activities. There isarmblly adopted plan document for the

Plan.

Targe

Weighting on
Title Bonus Corporate Goa
Chief Executive Officer 60% 100%
President & Chief Operating Offic: 45% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 45% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medit 40% 60%
Vice President of Financ 30% 60%

A summary of the plan is attached to this annyabrieon Form 10-K as Exhibit 10.50 and is herelmpiporated herein by reference thereto.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The persons listed below are the directors andutixecofficers of the Company as of March 12, 2015.

Name Age Current Position and Office

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D. 54 Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director
William (B.J.) Lehmann, Jr., J.I 49 President and Chief Operating Offic

John J. Harrington, Ph.I 47 Chief Scientific Officer, Executive Vice Presidemtd Directol
Robert Deans, Ph.I 63 Executive Vice President of Regenerative Medit
Laura K. Campbell, CP, 51 Vice President of Financ

Lee E. Babiss, Ph.L 59 Director (Lead Director

Ismail Kola, Ph.D 58 Director

Lorin J. Randal 71 Director

Kenneth H. Traul 53 Director

Jack L. Wyszomiersk 59 Director

Executive Officers and Directo

Gil Van Bokkelen, Ph.D.Dr. Van Bokkelen has served as our Chief Execuiiffecer and Chairman since August 2000. Dr. Van
Bokkelen co-founded Athersys, Inc. in 1995 and eeras Chief Executive Officer and Director sinae @ompany’s founding. Prior to May
2006, he also served as the Company'’s President/drBokkelen is also the Chairman of the Boar@oternors for the National Center for
Regenerative Medicine. He served as the Chairm#meodhlliance for Regenerative Medicine from 20fkfotigh 2012, a Washington D.C.
based consortium of companies, patient advocaaypgralisease foundations, and clinical and reseastitutions that are committed to the
advancement of the field of regenerative medicamel served ex officio from 2013 to 2014. He hasexton a number of other boards,
including the Biotechnology Industry OrganizatioE€S board of directors (from 2001 to 2004, andhf2008 to present). He received his
Ph.D. in Genetics from Stanford University SchaoMdicine, his B.A. in Economics from the Univeysof California at Berkeley, and his
B.A. in Molecular Biology from the University of Gfornia at Berkeley.

Dr. Van Bokkelen brings to the Board leadershiggersive business, operating, financial and sciergitperience, and tremendous
knowledge of our Company and the biopharmaceutichistry. Dr. Van Bokkelen also brings his broaatsigic vision for our Company to the
Board of Directors and his service as the ChairarahChief Executive Officer of Athersys createsitical link between management and the
Board, enabling the Board to perform its oversighttion with the benefit of management’'s perspestion the business. In addition, having
the Chief Executive Officer, and Dr. Van Bokkel@nparticular, on our Board of Directors providas €ompany with ethical, decisive and
effective leadership.

John J. Harrington, Ph.D. Dr. Harrington co-founded Athersys in 1995 and $exyved as our Chief Scientific Officer, Executivied/
President and Director since our founding. Dr. htagton led the development of the RAGEechnology, as well as its application for gene
discovery, drug discovery and commercial protedpiction applications. He is a listed inventor @era20 issued or pending United States
patents, has authored numerous scientific pubdinatiand has received numerous awards for his wuarkiding being named one of the top
international young scientists by MIT Technologwke in 2002. Dr. Harrington has overseen the theusic product development programs
at Athersys since their inception, and is also $eclion the clinical development and manufacturingutiStem® . During his career, he has
also held positions at Amgen and Scripps Clinicréteived his B.A. in Biochemistry and Cell Biolofypm the University of California at S
Diego and his Ph.D. in Cancer Biology from Stanfordversity.

Dr. Harrington’s scientific experience and deepersthnding of our Company, combined with his dftaweinnovation and excellence,
position him well to serve on the Board of Direstor

Executive Officer

William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., J.D. Mr. Lehmann joined Athersys in September 2001 aaglderved as our President and Chief Operatin
Officer since June 2006. Prior to that time, Mrhb@ann was Athersys’ Executive Vice President ofp@cate Development and Finance from
August 2002 until June 2006, when he became AtseRagsident and Chief Operating Officer. From 1892001, Mr. Lehmann was with
McKinsey & Company, Inc., an international managetro®nsulting firm, where he worked extensivelyhaiiew technology and servitasec
businesses in the firm’s Business Building practitor to joining McKinsey, he worked at Wilsomr&ini, Goodrich & Rosati, a Silicon
Valley law firm, and worked with First Chicago Corgation, a financial institution. Mr. Lehmann regai his J.D. from Stanford University,
his M.B.A. from the University of Chicago, and #sA. from the University of Notre Dame.
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Robert J. Deans, Ph.DDr. Deans joined Athersys in February 2003 to lg@dCompany’s regenerative medicine research and
development activities and has served as our Execuice President since June 2011. Prior to tina tDr. Deans was Vice President of
Regenerative Medicine, until he was named Senioe Yresident of Regenerative Medicine in June 2806 Executive Vice President in June
2011. Dr. Deans is highly regarded as an expestem cell therapeutics, with over twenty yearsxgfegience in this field. From 2001 to 2003,
Dr. Deans worked for early-stage biotechnology canigs. Dr. Deans was formerly the Vice PresideiRegearch at Osiris, a biotechnology
company, from 1998 to 2001 and Director of ResearcthDevelopment with the Immunotherapy DivisiorBakter International, Inc., a glol
healthcare company, from 1992 to 1998. Dr. Dearsalgd previously on faculty at USC Medical Schodlos Angeles, between 1981 and
1998, in the departments of Microbiology and Neoggl at the Norris Comprehensive Cancer CenterDBans was an undergraduate at MIT,
received his Ph.D. at the University of Michigandalid his post-doctoral work at UCLA in Los Anggle

Laura K. Campbell, CPA. Ms. Campbell joined Athersys in January 1998 argidmmved as our Vice President of Finance since Jun
2006. Ms. Campbell joined Athersys initially as @ofler, followed by Director of Finance and Senidirector of Finance, and currently ser
as Vice President of Finance. Prior to joining Aflys, she was at Ernst & Young LLP, a public actiagrfirm, for 11 years in the firm’s audit
practice. During her tenure with Ernst & Young LINts. Campbell specialized in entrepreneurial sewiand the biotechnology industry se
and participated in several initial public offersmagMs. Campbell received her B.S., with distinctionBusiness Administration from The Ohio
State University.

Directors

Lee E. Babiss, Ph.D Dr. Babiss has served as Lead Director sinceli2ct®013 and a Director since August 2010. Dr. Bals
currently Chief Scientific Officer and Executivedéi President of Discovery Innovation of PPD, laccpntract research organization, wher:
has served since February 2010, and Chief ExecOtifieer of X-Rx, a majority-owned subsidiary of PPInc., providing strategic direction
and scientific leadership in support of drug disagv Dr. Babiss was formerly President and DirecfoGlobal Pharmaceutical Research at
Roche, a pharmaceutical company, from 1998 urgibppointment at PPD, Inc. Prior to Roche, Dr. Baibpent seven years with Glaxo, Inc.,
now GlaxoSmithKline, a pharmaceutical company, wher held senior positions, including Vice PresidérBiological Sciences and
Genetics. Dr. Babiss received his doctorate in dh@mlogy from Columbia University and completed pastdoctoral fellowship at the
Rockefeller University, where he served as an &sgisind associate professor. Dr. Babiss has mt@ivmerous fellowship awards and grants
and serves on several scientific advisory comnstseel boards. Dr. Babiss has published over 60rpg&rwed scientific papers.

Dr. Babiss’ brings over 20 years of experience tgpieg and leading research and development progrhiis strategic leadership and
product development knowledge provide a valuabiepgestive to the Board.

Ismail Kola, Ph.D . Dr. Kola has served as a Director since Octob&02Dr. Kola is currently Executive Vice PresidehtUCB S.A. in
Belgium, a biopharmaceutical company dedicateti¢adevelopment of innovative medicines focusecherfields of central nervous system
and immunology disorders, and President of UCB Niadicines, UCB’s discovery research through prde¢ancept organization, since
November 2009. Dr. Kola was formerly Senior Vice$dent, Discovery Research and Early Clinical Rete& Experimental Medicine .
Schering-Plough Research Institute, the pharmazdutisearch arm of Schering-Plough Corporatigghaamaceutical company, and Chief
Scientific Officer at Schering-Plough Corporatifnom March 2007 until his appointment at UCB. PtioiSchering-Plough, Dr. Kola held
senior positions from January 2003 to March 200Mextck, a pharmaceutical company, where he wasogsfice President and Site Head,
Basic Research. From 2000 to 2003, Dr. Kola wae Wiesident, Research, and Global Head, Genomiescgcand Biotechnology, at
Pharmacia Corporation, a pharmaceutical compargr frhis position with Pharmacia, Dr. Kola spé&btyears as Professor of Human
Molecular Genetics and was Director of the CerdgreFunctional Genomics and Human Disease at Molkestical School in Australia.

Dr. Kola received his Ph.D. in Medicine from theildrsity of Cape Town, South Africa, his B.Sc. frone University of South Africa, and t
B.Pharm. from Rhodes University, South Africa. Rola served on the board of directors of Astex @peutics (NASDAQ: ASTX) since Me
2010 until its sale to Otsuka Pharmaceuticals itoer 2013, and currently serves on the boardretthrs of Biotie Therapies (and previously
Synosia who merged with Biotie) since February 2@t previously served on the board of directbi®rdek Pty Ltd from 2009 to 2011, ¢
Promega Corporation from 2003 to 2007. Dr. Koladahored 160 technical publications in scientfid medical journals and is the named
inventor on at least a dozen patents. Dr. Kola$éldjunct Professorships of Medicine at Washindtioiversity in St. Louis, Missouri, and
Monash University Medical School; a Foreign AdjuRcbfessorship at the Karolinska Institute in Statkn, Sweden; and was elected Willi
Pitt Fellow at Pembroke College, Cambridge UniwgrdiK in 2008. Dr. Kola has also been appointédsiting Professor at Oxford
University, Nuffield School of Medicine, Oxford Ulsjnce September 2012.
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For more than 20 years, Dr. Kola has created agérigetween the scientific and academic worlds thaagious projects funded by
renowned institutes, and Dr. Kola’s experience laadership in taking numerous drugs from the retestage to market or late stage
development brings a unique and valuable perspetdiour Board.

Lorin J. Randall. Mr. Randall has served as a Director since Septe@@/. Mr. Randall is an independent financialstdtant and
previously was Senior Vice President and Chief k@i Officer of Eximias Pharmaceutical Corporatiardevelopment-stage drug
development company, from 2004 to 2006. From 2002004, Mr. Randall served as Senior Vice PresidadtChief Financial Officer of i-
STAT Corporation, a publicly-traded manufacturenaddical diagnostic devices that was acquired blyod_aboratories in 2004. From 1995
to 2001, Mr. Randall was Vice President and Chieéfkcial Officer of CFM Technologies, Inc., a pablitraded manufacturer of
semiconductor manufacturing equipment. Mr. Randaliently serves on the boards of directors of AacdFherapeutics, Inc. (NASDAQ:
ACOR) since 2006, where he serves on the audit dieerand is a member of the compliance and nomimaand governance committees,
and Nanosphere, Inc. (NASDAQ: NSPH) since 2008,revhe serves as chairman of the audit committeqreléously served on the board:
directors of Tengion, Inc. (OTCQB: TNGN) from 20fitB82014, where he served as chairman of the aaditdttee and a member of the
compensation committee, and Opexa Therapeutics(NMRKSDAQ: OPXA) from 2007 to 2009, where he serasdchair of the audit committ:
Mr. Randall received a B.S. in accounting from Peansylvania State University and an M.B.A. fronrtNeastern University.

Mr. Randall’s strong financial and human resouttzéskground and his service on the audit and congpienscommittees of other
companies provides expertise to the Board, inctydim understanding of financial statements, comgigrspolicies and practices, corporate
finance, developing and maintaining effective intdrcontrols, accounting, employee benefits, inmesits and capital markets. These qualities
also formed the basis for the Board’s decisionpypoint Mr. Randall as chairman of the Audit Comadtand the Compensation Committee.

Kenneth H. Traub . Mr. Traub has served as our Director since J@i& 2Mr. Traub is currently the President and Chieécutive
Officer of Ethos Management LLC, which specializesvesting in and enabling companies to exectrtgegies to build and unlock
stockholder value, since 2009. Mr. Traub is alswently a general partner of Rosemark Capital,ieape equity firm since 2013. Mr. Traub
served as President, Chief Executive Officer angctior of American Bank Note Holographics, Inc. ABNH, a global leader in product and
document security, from 1999 until its sale in 26@3DS Uniphase Corporation, or JDSU, a providemptical products and measurement
solutions for the communications industry. Mr. Thananaged the turnaround, growth and sale of ABR#owing the sale of ABNH,

Mr. Traub served as Vice President of JDSU in 2008994, Mr. Traub co-founded Voxware, Inc., ar@er in ‘Voice over IP’
communication technologies and acted as its Exexitice President, Chief Financial Officer and dioe until 1998. Prior to Voxware, he w
Vice President of Finance of Trans-Resources,NiicTraub currently serves on the boards of dinects the following publicly traded
companies: (i) MRV Communications, Inc. (OTC: MRV&hce November 2011 and as Chairman since Ja204g;, where he is a membel
the audit committee, compensation committee andmeting and governance committee; (i) DSP Groap, (NASDAQ: DSPG) since May
2012, where he is a member of the compensation deenand chairman of the strategic committee; @nd/itesse Semiconductor Corp.
(NASDAQ: VTSS) since March 2013, where he is a mendf the compensation committee. Mr. Traub alseeskon the board of Phoenix
Technologies Ltd. (NASDAQ:PTEC) from November 2@Bfugh its sale in December 2010, where he wasralar of the audit committee
and compensation committee, served on the boatile® Technologies, Inc. (NASDAQ: MIPS) from Novemi2®11 through its sale in
February 2013, where he was a member of the andigavernance committee, served on the board s&jRac. (NASDAQ: IPAS) from June
2009 through June 2013, where he was a membee aiimpensation committee and the corporate goveenamd nominating committee and
served on the board of Xyratex Limited (NASDAQ: XRJTfrom June 2013 through its sale in March 201here he was a member of the a
committee. Mr. Traub received a M.B.A. from Harv@dsiness School in 1988 and a B.A. from Emory @Ersity in 1983.

As a director for Athersys, Mr. Traub contributés éxtensive experience and expertise in managidggeowing companies to maximize
shareholder value.

Jack L. Wyszomierski. Mr. Wyszomierski has served as a Director sincee 2010 and is currently retired. From 2004 uhisl
retirement in June 2009, Mr. Wyszomierski servethasExecutive Vice President and Chief Financitfic®r of VWR International, LLC, a
supplier and distributor of laboratory suppliesyipgent and supply chain solutions to the globséaech laboratory industry. From 1982 to
2004, Mr. Wyszomierski held positions of increasiagponsibility within the finance group at SchgrPlough Corporation, a pharmaceutical
company, culminating with his appointment as Exe@elVice President and Chief Financial Officer 898. Prior to joining Schering-Plough,
he was responsible for capitalization planningogtManufacturing Company, a producer of mining pquént, and was a management
consultant at Data Resources, Inc., a distributeconomic data. Mr. Wyszomierski currently sergashe board of directors of Xoma
Corporation (NASDAQ: XOMA) since 2010, where hecat®rves as chairman of the compensation comnaittdes a member of the audit
committee, and Exelixis, Inc. (NASDAQ: EXEL) sing804, where he serves as chairman of the audit é@emMr. Wyszomierski was alsc
member of the board of directors and chairman efatidit committee at Unigene Laboratories, Inc. QODUGNE) from 2012 to 2013.

Mr. Wyszomierski holds a M.S. in Industrial Admitrstion and a B.S. in Administration, ManagemerieSce and Economics from Carnegie
Mellon University.
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Mr. Wyszomierski's extensive financial reportingcaunting and finance experience and his servigh®mudit committees of other
public companies, as well as his experience irhdadthcare and life sciences industries, provigdemtial expertise to the Board, including an
understanding of financial statements, corporai@nte, developing and maintaining effective intecoatrols, accounting, investments and
capital markets.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Based solely on a review of reports of ownershepports of changes of ownership and written reptasens under Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act that were furnished to the Companindusr with respect to fiscal year 2014 by persehs were, at any time during fiscal year
2014, Directors or officers of the Company or béamnelf owners of more than 10% of the outstandingres of common stock, all filing
requirements for reporting persons were met.

Code of Ethics

Athersys has adopted a code of ethics that apialiiés principal executive officer, principal fingial officer and principal accounting
officer. Athersys’ code of ethics is posted undher investors tab of its website at www.athersys.othersys will post any amendments to, or
waivers of, its code of ethics that apply to itepipal executive officer, principal financial offr and principal accounting officer on its
website.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseelmgdccounting and financial reporting processelefCompany and the audits of the
financial statements of the Company. The Audit Cattem is also directly responsible for the appoietiy compensation, retention and
oversight of the work of the Company’s independarditors, including the resolution of disagreemémttsveen management and the auditors
regarding financial reporting. Additionally, the ditt Committee approves all relatpasty transactions that are required to be disdigsesuar
to Item 404 of Regulation B: The current members of the Audit Committee aweriJ. Randall, Kenneth H. Traub and Jack L. Wysiroski.
The Board of Directors has determined that eadfiroRandall, Mr. Traub and Mr. Wyszomierski is aautlit committee financial expert,” as
defined in Item 407(d)(5)(ii) of Regulation S-K,chan “independent director,” as defined in the NAEDIisting standards.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Summary

This section discusses the principles underlyingesecutive compensation policies and decisionstia@anost important factors relevant
to an analysis of these policies and decisionsotides qualitative information regarding the manand context in which compensation is
awarded to and earned by our named executive offieghich include Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen, our Chiefdcutive Officer, Ms. Laura Campbe
our Vice President of Finance, Mr. William (B.J8hmann, Jr., our President and Chief Operatingc@ffiDr. John Harrington, our Executive
Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, and Robert Deans, our Executive Vice President ofdRegative Medicine, and places in
perspective the data presented in the compendatites and narratives that follow.

We are an international biotechnology company ithédcused primarily in the field of regenerativedicine. Our MultiStem cell therapy
has been evaluated in two completed Phase 1 dliniaks and is currently being evaluated in tw@oimg Phase 2 clinical trials, as well as an
investigatorled Phase 1 trial. We are also applying our phaeutdcal discovery capabilities to identify and deyesmall molecule compoun
with potential applications in indications sucho@iesity, related metabolic conditions and cert@uaralogical conditions. These represent i
areas of clinical need, as well as substantial cernial opportunities. As further discussed in #@stion, our compensation and benefit
programs help us attract, retain and motivate idd&ls who will maximize our business results byrkirng to meet or exceed established
company or individual objectives. In addition, vesvard our executive officers for meeting certaimedlepmental milestones, such as
completing advancements in product candidate dpwadot, strategic partnerships or other financaigdactions that add to the capital
resources of the Company or create value for stidkins.
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The following are the highlights of our 2014 comgation and benefit programs:
. increased the base salaries of our named exeaffigers;
. paid cash bonuses to our named executive offiaeid

. granted stock options and restricted stock awirds to our named executive officers under anual equity compensation
program.

The following discussion and analysis of our congagion and benefit programs for 2014 should be tegether with the compensation
tables and related disclosures that follow thigisecThis discussion includes forward-looking staents based on our current plans,
considerations, expectations and determinationstady@ compensation program. Actual compensatiaisiies that we may make for 2015
and beyond may differ materially from our recengtpa

Compensation Objectives and Philosophy
Our executive compensation programs are designed to
. recruit, retain, and motivate executives and enmgdgythat can help us achieve our core business;

. provide incentives to promote and reward supgrerformance throughout the organization, whiehrefer to as Pay for
Performance

. facilitate stock ownership and retention by ouraetves and other employees; ¢

. promote alignment between executives and other@mapbk and the lo-term interests of stockholde

The Compensation Committee seeks to achieve thgsetives by:
. establishing a compensation program that is mateipetitive and internally fai

. linking individual and corporate performancdhwiertain elements of compensation through theofisguity grants, cash
performance bonuses or other means of compensti®mralue of which is substantially tied to th@iaeement of our
Company goals; an

. when appropriate, given the nature of our bessnhrewarding our executive officers for both Camypand individual
achievements with or-time performance award

At the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, appneaiely 82% of the votes cast were voted in favahefapproval of our named
executive officer compensation. Our Compensatiom@dtee believes that the stockholder vote reirdsrthe objectives and philosophy of
executive compensation programs.

Components of Compensation

Our executive compensation program includes tHewvidhg elements:

. base salary

. cash bonuse:

. long-term equity incentive plan awards; ¢

. retirement and health and other insurance ben

Our Compensation Committee has not adopted anyalasminformal policies or guidelines for allocajicompensation between long-
term and currently paid-out compensation, betweeh @and non-cash compensation or among differemsfof non-cash compensation. We

consider competitive practices, relative managenes and operating responsibilities of each ekigelofficer when determining the
compensation elements to reward his or her akidifynpact short-term and long-term results.
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Role of the Chief Executive Officer

Historically, our Chief Executive Officer has takiér lead in providing our Board of Directors wéttivice regarding executive
compensation. For 2014, the Compensation Comngtiesidered recommendations from our Chief Execuiiffecer regarding the
compensation for and performance of our executffieens in relation to company-specific strategaats that were established by the
Compensation Committee and approved by the BoaRdrettors. These achievements related to potembialis payments and salary incree
The Compensation Committee considers the recomniendanade by our Chief Executive Officer becauskei®knowledge of the business
and the performance of the other executive officEhe@ Compensation Committee is not bound by thatiit receives from our Chief
Executive Officer. Instead, the Compensation Conemiexercises independent discretion when makiagugive compensation decisions. We
describe and discuss the particular compensatioisidas made by the Compensation Committee regauttiem 2014 compensation of our
named executive officers below under “Elementsxddative Compensation.”

Role of the Independent Compensation Consultant

From time to time, the Compensation Committee btamed the services of an independent compensatizsultant, Arnosti Consultin
Inc., or Arnosti. During 2014, at the request a&f @ompensation Committee, Arnosti assisted the @osgtion Committee in evaluating the
base salaries to be paid to named executive défamed the annual equity awards to be granted copapde. The Company pays the cost for
Arnosti’s services. However, the Compensation Catemiretains the sole authority to direct, termér@tengage Arnosti’s services. In 2014,
the Compensation Committee considered and assaksetbvant factors, including but not limited thpse set forth in Rule 10C-1(b)(4)(i)
through (vi) under the Exchange Act, that couldegige to a potential conflict of interest withpest to Arnosti’s work. Based on this review,
we are not aware of any conflict of interest thad been raised by the work performed by Arnosti.

Elements of Executive Compensation

Base Salary. We pay base salaries to provide axeaufficers with a competitive level of financis¢curity. We establish base salarie:
our executives based on the scope of their respititiss, taking into account competitive marketqueensation paid by other companies for
similar positions. Base salaries are generallyesggd annually, with adjustments based on the iddalis responsibilities, performance and
experience during the year. This review generatlyuos each year following an annual review of ifdlial performance.

In general, the Company and the executive teanopeed well in 2014 against many key goals and olvjes, as measured against the
metrics of key programmatic achievements (e.gnjadl, preclinical and core capability developmeht)siness development objectives,
operational and financial performance (e.g., bualyegoals, capital acquisition and management),jsietiectual property (e.g., patent
issuances and new filings, competitive positionjrgiong others. Each executive’s performance wakiated based on the Company’s
performance as a whole, combined with an evaluatfondividual performance against specific goald abjectives relevant to his or her area
of responsibility. Overall, nearly half of corpogajoals were achieved in 2014, taking into accthatta business partnership was not achie
which was, and continues to be, an important goal.

For 2014, the Compensation Committee and the Bofalbdrectors approved an increase in base sala?yQif% for 2014 as compared to
2013 for the Chief Executive Officer, an adjustmieased on both performance and comparative magtatmiovided to the Compensation
Committee by Arnosti. Also for 2014, the CompermatCommittee and the Board of Directors approvedeiases for each of the other named
executive officer’'s salary for 2014 as compare@@&3 based primarily on Company performance foytee ended December 31, 2013. The
increases were as follows: Mr. Lehmann — 2.05%Harrington — 2.06%; Dr. Deans — 2.04%; and Ms. plaefl — 2.07%.

For 2015, the Compensation Committee and the Bofalbdrectors approved an increase in base salaty % for 2015 as compared to
2014 for the Chief Executive Officer, an adjustmigased on both performance and comparative mastetmtovided to the Compensation
Committee by Arnosti. Also for 2015, the CompermatCommittee and the Board of Directors approvedeiases for each of the other named
executive officer’s salary for 2015 as compare@@a4 based primarily on Company performance foytree ended December 31, 2014. The
increases are as follows: Mr. Lehmann — 1.83% Harrington — 1.84%; Dr. Deans — 1.66%; and Ms. Castip- 1.81%.
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Cash BonusesGiven the nature of our business, when appragnia reward our named executive officers with graneince-related
bonuses. We utilize annual incentive bonuses targwfficers and other employees for achieving emafe objectives and for individual
annual performance objectives. These objectivesaglenerally to strategic factors, including adesment of our product candidates,
identification and advancement of additional progsaor product candidates, establishment and maintenof key strategic relationships, and
to financial factors, including raising capital hedence to budgets and cash management.

The Compensation Committee recommended and thelBggaroved a cash bonus incentive program for ¢élae gnded December 31,
2014 for our named executive officers. Under th&®dcentive program, each participant was eligiblearn a target bonus of a specified
percentage of the named executive officer’'s salanng the award term, weighted on the achieveraggpecific corporate goals, with the
remainder based on individual/functional performaras set forth below:

Weighted Or
Target Bonu Corporate Goa Functional Performan:
Dr. Van Bokkelen 60% 100% 0%
Dr. Harrington 45% 80% 20%
Mr. Lehmanr 45% 80% 20%
Dr. Deans 40% 60% 40%
Ms. Campbel 30% 60% 40%

The evaluation of goal achievement is at the dismreof Compensation Committee and Board of Directiased on input from the Chief
Executive Officer (with respect to the named exweudfficers other than the Chief Executive Officérhe 2014 corporate goals included
program and collaboration goals, including new bess development, progress on MultiStem clinicabigoment and cash management
objectives. However, any bonus ultimately paid urae annual incentive program is at the discretibthe Board of Directors based on the
recommendation of the Compensation Committee, gtied faith consideration of executive officer peniance, overall company
performance, market conditions and cash availgbllite do not have a formally adopted plan docunf@nthe 2014 incentive program,
although the Compensation Committee recommendedh&nBoard of Directors approved the specific caapmgoals, target bonus levels and
weightings between corporate and functional peréoroe. The Compensation Committee and the Boardretdrs agreed that each of the
named executive officers would be entitled to ausonnder the 2014 incentive program as a resuftddfidual performance and the
achievement of operational and strategic objectiv@914, specifically the achievement of patiemoiment and regulatory approval goals for
the Company’s clinical studies, capital managenaextthe receipt of new grant funding, and othee gmogram development and sector
leadership goals, resulting in the payment of beaumsed on a percentage of such officers’ 201l dmaries as follows:

Bonus Achieve Cash Bonus Pa
Dr. Van Bokkelen 28.5% $  133,00(
Dr. Harrington 21.6% $ 82,00(
Mr. Lehmanr 21.6% $ 82,50(
Dr. Deans 16.¢% $ 55,00(
Ms. Campbel 14.6% $ 36,00(

For the year ending December 31, 2015, the Compiensaommittee recommended and the Board of Dirsapproved a similar cash
bonus incentive plan for our named executive officevith no changes to the target bonus perceritag®ir named executive officers from

2014.

The 2015 corporate goals include strategic partigisbjectives, advancing and achieving clinicalelepment and related support
activities for MultiStem, program advancement objexs, and executing against the established dpgratan and capital acquisition

objectives.

Long-Term Incentive ProgramNe believe that we can encourage superior long-performance by our executive officers and
employees through encouraging them to own, andtaggithem with the acquisition of, our common &td@ur equity compensation plans
provide our employees, including named executifieers, with incentives to help align their inteiewith the interests of our stockholders.
believe that the use of common stock and stockebagmrds offers the best approach to achievingbjactive of fostering a culture of
ownership, which we believe will, in turn, motivaiar named executive officers to create and enhstoogholder value. We have not adopted
stock ownership guidelines, but our equity compgosalans provide a principal method for our exaauofficers to acquire equity in our

company.
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Our equity compensation plans authorize us to geanbng other types of awards, options, restristedk and restricted stock units, or
RSUs, to our employees, Directors and consult&hstorically, we elected to use stock options asprimary long-term equity incentive
vehicle. However, we began awarding RSUs to ourer@ctutive employees in 2011 and to our named ¢ixecofficers in 2013. We expect to
continue to use equity-based awards as a longiteremtive vehicle because we believe:

* equity-based awards align the interests of oecetives with those of our stockholders, suppgragfor-performance culture, foster
an employee stock ownership culture and focus theagement team on increasing value for our stodehns}

* equity-based awards have the potential to increase ire\adaed on our performance and the growth of ogkgirice;

* equity-based awards help to provide a balantleet@verall executive compensation program becausie base salary and our
discretionary annual bonus program focus on steort-pperformance, vesting equity-based awards reimardases in stockholder
value over the longer term; a

» the vesting period of equ-based awards encourages executive retention aortisef preserve stockholder val

In 2014, we granted 657,664 stock options and Z22RB8SUs to our named executive officers, as wedtask options and RSUs to our
other employees. We revised our long-term equitgritive program for our named executive officer2043 in connection with the
termination of an outdated incentive program amditiitiation of an ordinary-course annual equityaagvprogram.

Annual equity awards are tied to factors such afopaance, peer and market analysis, and totakggwnership level of each named
executive officer, and further enhance the reterdiod long-term stock ownership features of ouitggucentive program. In determining the
number of stock-based awards to be granted to nammxltive officers, we review annually our namgelcgitive officers’ equity ownership
positions, and we take into account the individsiakope of responsibility, ability to affect resudind stockholder value, anticipated future
contributions to increases in shareholder valud,tha value of equity-based awards in relationtt@oelements of the individual named
executive officer’s total compensation. We alsdeevcompetitive compensation data, an assessmeémdiofdual performance, a review of
each named executive officer’s existing long-tengentives, retention considerations and a subgd@&termination of the individual’'s
potential to positively impact future stockholdalwe. Equity-based awards are granted from tinierte by the Compensation Committee and
the Board of Directors, with input from independeoimpensation consultants, as appropriate. Thewolly stock option and RSU awards w
granted to our named executive officers in JunetZXElpart of our program for annual equity-basedrdsy which vest quarterly over a four-
year period

Stock Option Restricted Stock Uni
Dr. Van Bokkelen 207,68( 92,32(
Dr. Harrington 121,15: 53,85¢
Mr. Lehmanr 121,15: 53,85¢
Dr. Deans 103,84( 46,16(
Ms. Campbel 103,84( 46,16(

Retirement and Insurance BenefitSonsistent with our compensation philosophy, veéntain benefits for our named executive officers,
including medical, dental, vision, life and dis@iigiinsurance coverage and the ability to contebiat a 401(k) retirement plan. The named
executive officers and employees have the abiityarticipate in these benefits at the same leVéésmake employer contributions to our 401
(k) retirement plan and contributed approximated%000 in 2014. We provide such retirement andtih@@surance benefits to our employ:
to retain qualified personnel.

In addition, Dr. Van Bokkelen, Dr. Harrington, Mrehmann, Dr. Deans and Ms. Campbell also receivagamy-paid life insurance
benefits in the amounts of $2.0 million for Dr. VBokkelen, Dr. Harrington and Mr. Lehmann, and $tiion for Dr. Deans and
Ms. Campbell. These additional life insurance petiare provided to these officers due to theiemsive travel requirements and contributions
to the Company.

Severance Arrangements

See the disclosure under “Potential Payments Ugomihation or Change of Control” for more infornmatiabout severance
arrangements with our named executive officers Wéeide such severance arrangements in order tweaigat our executives will focus on
the best interests of the business at all timehowt undue concern for their own financial segurit
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Employment Agreements and Arrangements

We believe that entering into employment agreemeittseach of our named executive officers was sgagy for us to attract and retain
talented and experienced individuals for our sel@eel positions. In this way, the employment agrests help us meet the initial objective of
our compensation program. Each agreement con&imstand arrangements that we agreed to througstlarmgth negotiation with our named
executive officers. We view these employment agergmas reflecting the minimum level of compensatiat our named executive officers
require to remain employed with us, and thus thirdiek of our compensation program for our nameaatvee officers. For more details of
our employment agreements and arrangements, sdethesure under “2014 Summary Compensation Table.

General Tax Deductibility of Executive Compensation

We structure our compensation program to compli Witernal Revenue Code Section 162(m). Under &edt62(m) of the Code, there
is a limitation on tax deductions of any publiclglth corporation for individual compensation to agrtexecutives of such corporation
exceeding $1.0 million in any taxable year, unkhgscompensation is performangased. The Compensation Committee manages ourtive
programs to qualify for the performance-based exemphowever, it also reserves the right to previmpensation that does not meet the
exemption criteria if, in its sole discretion, &tdrmines that doing so advances our businesstlgjec
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2014 Summary Compensation Table

The following table and narrative set forth certmiformation with respect to the compensation ecuhéring the fiscal year ended

December 31, 2014 by our named executive officers.

All Other
Stock Option Compensatior
Name and Principal Salary Bonus Awards Awards Total
Position Year (%) (EB]6)] (2, 3)(%) (GIE)) $ (5)
Gil Van Bokkelen, 201<¢ $466,81' $133,000 $ $286,59! $1,061,01.
Chief Executive 152,32¢ $ 22,27
Officer (6) 201: $450,00( $118,80( $1,188,51i $264,55( $ 12,62( $2,034,48
201z $430,00¢ $107,500 $ 0 3 0 $ 12,62( $ 550,12
Laura Campbell, 201¢  $247,26' $ $ $143,29¢ $
Vice President 36,00( 76,16« $ 13,10¢ 515,83
of Finance 201 $239,30( $ 42,00 $ 632,02( $ 85800 $ 5,10¢ $1,004,23
201z $231,56: $ 40,50C $ 0 3 0 $ 510¢ $ 277,17:
William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr., 201¢ $382,01' $ $ $167,19( $
President and 82,50( 88,86: $ 11,168 731,73(
Chief Operating Officer 201 $371,40( $ 84,00C $ 980,92: $164,45( $ 4,67° $1,605,44
201z $358,84¢ $ 77,000 $ 0 3 0 $ 4,67: $ 440,52
John Harrington, 201¢ $380,01' $ $ $167,19( $
Chief Scientific Officer and 82,00( 88,86: $ 10,52t 728,59(
Executive Vice President (6) 201 $369,40( $ 83,50( $ 975,64. $143,000 $ 4,358 $1,575,89
201z $357,11« $ 77,80 $ 0 3 0 $ 4,358 $ 439,27
Robert Deans, 201¢ $326,57( $ $ $143,29¢ $
Executive Vice President, 55,00( 76,16« $ 10,42 611,45:
Regenerative Medicine 201¢ $318,00( $ 65,000 $ 839,88 $114,40( $ 5,62( $1,342,90
$ $

(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

()

(6)

201z $307,50( $ 62,30( 0 % 0 5,62( $ 375,42(
The target bonuses as a percentage of salary neesased in 201«

Amounts do not reflect cash compensation algtuateived by our named executive officers. Th@ants for annual stock awards that
began in 2014 for our named executive officersesgnt the grant date full value of restricted stawiks that vest over a four-year period.
The fair value of restricted stock unit awardsakalated in accordance with Accounting Standarodifi@ation 718 (“ASC 718”"),
excluding the impact of potential forfeitures. Asmtions used in the calculation of these amourgsradiuded in the Notes to the audited
consolidated financial statements included hereirte fiscal year ended December 31, 2!

In 2005, in connection with a restructuringrernal programs and to retain and motivate exeesit Athersys entered into incentive
agreements that provided the executives finaneigigipation in the event of certain merger or asijjon or asset sale transactions. The
agreements were established prior to our commak &teing publicly traded, had precluded the grantifiroutine equity awards to
officers, and had become outdated. In 2013, thedBapproved arrangements whereby the officers dgreterminate their incentive
agreements in return for one-time grants of RSWshieir past service and performance and the glhditeceive routine annual grants of
equity-based awards, to better align managemeantives with corporate objectives. The amountgtiese 2013 stock awards represent
the grant date full value of the RSUs that vest @athree-year period. The fair value of RSUs Isudated in accordance with ASC 718,
excluding the impact of potential forfeitures. Asmtions used in the calculation of these amourgsradiuded in the Notes to the audited
consolidated financial statements included hereirte fiscal year ended December 31, 2!

Amounts do not reflect cash compensation algtuateived by our named executive officers. Theants for option awards reflect the
full grant date fair value of the equity awards maldiring the fiscal years ended December 31, 2684813 in accordance with ASC
718, excluding the impact of potential forfeituréssumptions used in the calculation of these ansoare included in the Notes to the
audited consolidated financial statements include@in for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2

Total column includes salary, bonus and nom-casnpensation related to stoslised awards. For example, Dr. Van Bokkelen salas
$450,000 in 2013, but the $2,034,488 total inclutlas-cash compensation related to a stock-basedidhat was received in 2013 tied
to the termination of an incentive agreement. Se[8 above

Drs. Van Bokkelen and Harrington also servedwsDirectors for 2014, 2013 and 2012 but didnegeive any compensation as our
Directors.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards for 2014

The following table sets forth plan-based equityaelg granted to our named executive officers du2iy under our equity
compensation plans.

All Other Stocl All Other
Option Awards
Awards: Grant Date Fa
Number of Number of Exercise ol
Shares of Stoc Securities Base Price of Value of Stocl
Underlying Option Award: and Option
or Units Options Awards
Name Grant Date (#) (#) ($/sh) 3?3
Gil Van Bokkelen June 17, 201(1) 92,32( $ 152,32¢
June 17, 201(2) 207,680 $ 165 $ 286,59
Laura Campbel June 17, 201(1) 46,16( $ 76,16«
June 17, 201(2) 103,84( $ 1.65 $ 143,29¢
William (BJ) Lehmann, Ji June 17, 201(1) 53,85¢ $ 88,86
June 17, 201(2) 121,15: $ 1.65 $ 167,19
John Harringtor June 17, 201(1) 53,85¢ $ 88,86
June 17, 201(2) 121,15: $ 1.65 $ 167,19
Robert Dean June 17, 201(1) 46,16( $ 76,164
June 17, 201(2) 103,84( $ 1.65 $ 143,29¢

(1) RSUs granted under our Lc-Term Incentive Plar

(2) Options granted under our Lc-Term Incentive Plar

(3) The amounts in this column represent the gitate fair value of the options calculated in acaamt with ASC 718, excluding the impact
of potential forfeitures

Employment Agreements and Arrangements

Dr. Gil Van BokkelenOn December 1, 1998, we entered into a yeer-employment agreement, effective April 1, 198@h Dr. Gil Van
Bokkelen, to serve initially as President and CErécutive Officer. The agreement automaticallyeres for subsequent one-year terms on
April 1 of each year unless either party givesc®bf termination at least thirty days before thd ef any term. Under the terms of the
agreement, Dr. Van Bokkelen was entitled to anahitase salary of $150,000, which may be increaséde discretion of the Board of
Directors, and an annual discretionary incentivieusoof up to 33% of his base salary. His salan2fi5 is $475,000 and his target annual
incentive bonus is 60% of his base salary. Dr. Bakkelen also received options to purchase shdresnamon stock upon his employment
that were terminated in 2007, and his current stgatlons are described in the table below. Dr. Bakkelen is also entitled to life insurance
coverage for the benefit of his family in the ambohat least $1.0 million (which is $2.0 millionrf2015) and an automobile for business use
(which was eliminated in 2014). For more informatabout severance arrangements under the agreeseerihe disclosure under “Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control.”\lan Bokkelen has also entered into a non-comgetind confidentiality agreement
with us under which, during his employment anddqreriod of 18 months thereafter, he is restrifétech, among other things, competing with
us.

Dr. John J. HarringtonOn December 1, 1998, we entered into a one-yealogmpnt agreement, effective April 1, 1998, with
Dr. John J. Harrington to serve initially as Exé@oeitvice President and Chief Scientific Officer.eTagreement automatically renews for
subsequent one-year terms on April 1 of each yel@sa either party gives notice of terminationeasst thirty days before the end of any term.
Under the terms of the agreement, Dr. Harringtos aritled to an initial base salary of $150,00Bich may be increased at the discretion of
the Board of Directors, and an annual discretiomacgntive bonus of up to 33% of his base salary.ddlary for 2015 is $387,000 and his
target annual incentive bonus is 45% of his bakysaDr. Harrington also received options to pa®é shares of common stock upon his
employment that were terminated in 2007, and higeoti stock options are described in the tablevbeldr. Harrington is also entitled to life
insurance coverage for the benefit of his familyhia amount of at least $1.0 million (which is $&hDlion for 2015). For more information
about severance arrangements under the agreemenhesdisclosure under “Potential Payments Upomihation or Change of Control.”
Dr. Harrington has also entered into a non-comipeténd confidentiality agreement with us underchhiduring his employment and for a
period of 18 months thereafter, he is restrictedhframong other things, competing with us.
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Laura K. CampbellOn May 22, 1998, we entered into a two-year empkynagreement with Laura K. Campbell to serveditjtias
Controller. The agreement automatically renewsstdrsequent one-year terms on May 22 of each yéassuaither party gives notice of
termination at least thirty days before the endrof term. Under the terms of the agreement, Ms.fDathwas entitled to an initial base salary
of $70,200, which may be increased at the disanaifdhe Board of Directors. Her salary for 201%251,750 and her target annual incentive
bonus is 30% of her base salary. Ms. Campbellralseived options to purchase shares of common sipok her employment that were
terminated in 2007, and her current stock optigesdascribed in the table below. For more infororaibout severance arrangements unde
agreement, see the disclosure under “Potential BatgJpon Termination or Change of Control.”

William (B.J.) Lehmann, JOn January 1, 2004, we entered into a four-yead@mpent agreement with Mr. Lehmann to serve ititial
as Executive Vice President of Corporate Develogrard Finance. The agreement automatically renewsubsequent one-year terms on
January 1 of each year unless either party givésanof termination at least thirty days before ¢mel of any term. The agreement was ame
in 2013 to modify the duration of his severancam@gement, with no change to the events triggeriicy severance. Under the terms of the
agreement, Mr. Lehmann was entitled to an initedebsalary of $250,000, which may be increaseueadiscretion of the Board of Directors.
His salary for 2015 is $389,000 and his target ahimcentive bonus is 45% of his base salary. Mhrbann also received options to purchase
shares of common stock upon his employment that veminated in 2007, and his current stock optamesdescribed in the table below. For
more information about severance arrangements uhdergreement, see the disclosure under “Potdtdiahents Upon Termination or
Change of Control.” Mr. Lehmann has also enteréal &@non-competition and confidentiality agreemeith us under which, during his
employment and for a period of twelve months thiéeeahe is restricted from, among other thingsnpeting with us.

Dr. Robert DeansOn October 3, 2003, we entered into a fgear employment agreement with Dr. Robert Dearsetee initially as Vic
President of Regenerative Medicine. The agreementratically renews for subsequent one-year temm@aober 3 of each year unless eithel
party gives notice of termination at least thirgyd before the end of any term. Under the terntesefgreement, Dr. Deans was entitled to an
initial base salary of $200,000, which may be iases at the discretion of the Board of Directons, an annual discretionary incentive bonus
of up to 30% of his base salary. His salary for®21$332,000 and his target annual incentive b@d8% of his base salary. Dr. Deans also
received options to purchase shares of common sifpek his employment that were terminated in 2@@d, his current stock options are
described in the table below. For more informatibout severance arrangements under the agreemerhesdisclosure under “Potential
Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control.”[D¥ans has also entered into a non-competitiorcanfidentiality agreement with us
under which, during his employment and for a pedbdix months thereafter, he is restricted frompag other things, competing with us.

Equity Compensation Plans

In June 2007, we adopted two equity compensatianspwhich authorize the Board of Directors, oommittee thereof, to provide
equity-based compensation in the form of stockamstj restricted stock, RSUs and other stock-bas@dds, which are used to attract and
retain qualified employees, Directors and conststalaquity awards are granted from time to timeauritle guidance and approval of the
Compensation Committee. Total awards under thesesphs amended, are currently limited to 11,5@sb@res of common stock, of which
1,630,859 shares remain available for issuanceeaéber 31, 2014.

401(k) Plan

We have a tax-qualified employee savings and raetiré plan, also known as a 401(k) plan that cogkif our employees. Under our
401(k) plan, eligible employees may elect to redhed current compensation by up to the statytgriescribed annual limit, which was
$17,500 in 2014, and have the amount of the reslucintributed to the 401(k) plan. The trusteethef401(k) plan, at the direction of each
participant, invest the assets of the 401(k) ptadesignated investment options. We may make nragabvi profit-sharing contributions to the
401(k) plan in amounts to be determined by the 8@&Directors. We made matching contributionshi® 401(k) plan during fiscal 2014 at a
maximum rate of 100% of the first $3,000 of paparit contributions, plus 40% of participant conitibns in excess of $3,000 per participant,
which amounted to approximately $284,000 in 201 F01(k) plan is intended to qualify under Sect6i of the Internal Revenue Code, so
that contributions to the 401(k) plan and incommned on the 401(K) plan contributions are not téxaitil withdrawn, and so that any
contributions we make will be deductible when made.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at 2014 Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth outstanding optitwesd by our named executive officers at Decembef@14.

Name
Gil Van Bokkelen

Laura Campbel

William (BJ) Lehmanr

John Harringtor

Robert Dean

Option Awards

Stock Awards

Number of Market
Value of
Number of Shares or Shares or
Securities Number of Units of Units of
Underlying Securities Stock Stock
Unexercise( Underlying Option That Have That Have
Unexercised Exercise
Options Options Not Not
#) #) Price Option Expiration Vested Vested
Exercisable Unexercisabl ($) Date (#) [©)]
25,96( 181,72t $ 1.6t June 17, 20z (1) — —
69,37¢ 115,62 $ 1.71 June 18, 20Z (1) — —
25,00( 0 $ 5.2¢ December 23, 20: (2) — —
712,50( 0 $ 5.0C June 8, 201 (3) — —
— — — — 347,52((4) $549,08: (5)
— — — — 80,78((6) $127,63:(5)
12,98( 90,86( $ 1.6F June 17, 20z (1) — —
22,50( 37,50 $ 1.71 June 18, 20z (1) — —
17,50( 0 ¢$5.z2¢ December 23, 20: (2) — —
200,00( 0 $ 5.0 June 8, 201 (3) — —
— — — — 184,80: (4)  $291,98¢ (5)
— — — — 40,39((6) $ 63,81¢(5)
15,14¢ 106,00 $ 1.6% June 17, 20z (1) — —
43,12t 71,87  $ 1.71 June 18, 20z (1) — —
22,50( 0 ¢ 5.z2¢ December 23, 20: (2) — —
400,00( 0 $ 5.0C June 8, 201 (3) — —
- - - - 286,81¢(4) $453,17.(5)
— — — — 47,12¢(6) $ 74,45¢(5)
15,14¢ 106,00 $ 1.6% June 17, 202 (1) —
37,50( 62,500 $ 1.71 June 18, 20z (1) — —
22,50( 0 $ 5.2¢ December 23, 20: (2) — —
700,00( 0 $ 5.0C June 8, 201 (3) — —
— — — — 285,27' (4)  $450,73'(5)
— — — — 47,12¢(6) $ 74,45¢(5)
12,98( 90,86( $ 1.6F June 17, 20Z (1) — —
30,00( 50,00 $ 1.71 June 18, 20Z (1) — —
20,00( 0 $ 5.2¢ December 23, 20: (2) — —
240,00( 0 $ 5.0C June 8, 201 (3) — —
— — — — 245,58((4) $388,01¢(5)
— — — — 40,39((6) $ 63,81¢(5)

(1) Options vest ratably over four years on a quartealsis.
(2) Options were granted on December 23, 2009 astkd ratably over one year on a quarterly baststtaus were fully exercisable on

December 24, 2011

(3) Options were granted on June 8, 2007 and vestedade of 40% on the grant date and vested 20%dh ef the three years thereafter
a quarterly basis), and thus were fully exercisabldune 8, 201(
(4) In 2005, in connection with a restructuringrdernal programs and to retain and motivate exeesit Athersys entered into incentive

agreements that provided the executives finaneigigipation in the event of certain merger or asijjon or asset sale transactions. The

agreements were established prior to our commank teing publicly traded, had precluded the grantihroutine equity awards to

officers, and had become outdated. In 2013, thedBapproved arrangements whereby the officers dgreterminate their incentive
agreements in return for one-time grants of RSWsheir past service and performance and the abditeceive routine annual grants of
equity-based awards, to better align managemeantives with corporate objectives. These RSUs @est three years on a quarterly

basis.
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(5) Value is based on the closing price of our commooksof $1.58 on December 31, 2014, as reportethenNasdaq Capital Marke
(6) The stock awards reflected in this column condi®®Us granted on June 17, 2014, which vest ouaryears on a quarterly bas

2014 Options Exercised and Stock Vested

None of our named executive officers exercisedsdogk options during 2014. The following table gd®s information on all stock
awards vested and the value realized upon vestinthe named executive officers during fiscal 2014:

Stock Awards
Number of Shares Value Realized ol
Acquired on Vestinc
Vesting (1)

Name (#) (%)
Gil Van Bokkelen 243,22( $ 482,35¢
Laura Campbel 128,97: $ 256,03t
William (BJ) Lehmanr 197,94t $ 394,49;
John Harringtot 196,91t $ 392,41
Robert Dean 169,49( $ 337,77

(1) The value realized upon vesting is the prodfichultiplying the number of shares of common stbgkhe market value of the underlying
shares on the vesting da

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Caotrol

Under their employment agreements, the named axeaifficers may be entitled to certain potentiayments upon termination. In the
event that an executive officer is terminated witthcause or terminates employment for good reas®defined in the agreements, we woul
obligated to pay full base salary for a definedqabrsubject to mitigation related to other empl@yr For Gil Van Bokkelen and John
Harrington, the defined payment period is 18 monfitlisWilliam (BJ) Lehmann, the defined paymentipérs twelve months, and for Laura
Campbell and Robert Deans, the defined paymenbghésisix months. We would also be obligated tatiooie the participation of Gil Van
Bokkelen and John Harrington in all other medititd,and employee “welfare” benefit programs fgpexriod of eighteen months at our
expense, to the extent available and possible uhdgrrograms.

The agreements define “cause” to mean willful amatinuous neglect of such executive officer’'s dutie responsibilities or willful
misconduct by the executive officer that is matiriand manifestly injurious to Athersys. “Good sea” includes, among other things,
demotion, salary reduction, relocation, failurg@tovide an executive officer with adequate and eppate facilities and termination by the
executive officer within 90 days of a change intecoln A “change in control” occurs when (1) a persw group of persons purchases 50% or
more of our consolidated assets or a majority ofvating shares, or (2) if, following a public offieg, the directors of Athersys immediately
following the offering no longer constitute a maipof the Board of Directors. Upon a change intcoln or if the named executive officer
should die or become permanently disabled, all stecestock options become immediately vested aactisable. As of December 31, 2014,
each of the named executive officers held unvestisek options and RSUSs, as reflected in the OudstgrEquity Awards at 2014 Fiscal Year-
End table above.

In the event that an executive officer is termiddta cause or as a result of death, we would tigated to pay full base salary and other
benefits, including any unpaid expense reimbursesnémrough the date of termination, and would hawéurther obligations to the executive
officer. In the event that an executive officetigble to perform duties as a result of a disgbilite would be obligated to pay full base salary
and other benefits until employment is terminated for a period of twelve months from the datewdtstermination.

The table below reflects the amount of compensatayable to each named executive officer in thexeektermination of such
executive’'s employment, pursuant to such execigieaiployment agreement. The amounts shown assatnsuith termination was effective
as of December 31, 2014 and thus includes amoame@ through such time and are estimates of tlmiars that would be paid out to
executives upon their termination.
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Gil Van Bokkelen

William (BJ) Lehmann, Jr.

John Harrington

Robert Deans

Laura Campbell

The following table summarizes compensation paiduionon-employee Directors in 2014:

Name(a

Lee E. Babiss

Ismail Kola

Lorin J. Randal
Kenneth H. Traul
Jack L. Wyszomiersk

Termination
Without
Cause or
Voluntary
Executive Benefit and For
Payments Upon Good
Separation Reason
Cash Severance Paym  $
700,22.
Continuation of Benefit $ 30,59:
Total $ 730,81
Cash Severance Paym  $
382,01!
Continuation of Benefit  $ —
Total $ 382,01
Cash Severance Paym  $
570,02:
Continuation of Benefit $ 30,59:
Total $ 600,61
Cash Severance Paym  $
163,28!
Continuation of Benefit  $ —
Total $ 163,28!
Cash Severance Paym  $
123,63:
Continuation of Benefit  $ —
Total $ 123,63:
Director Compensation Table for 2014
Fees Earned o
Option
Paid in Cash Awards Total
$)(b) ®)O)(d) (E1W)
$ 80,00( $36,60( $116,60(
$ 45,00( $36,60( $ 81,60(
$ 70,00( $36,60( $106,60(
$ 52,50( $36,60( $ 89,10(
$ 57,50( $36,60( $ 94,10(

(1) Amounts in column (d) do not necessarily refflemmpensation actually received by our Directdtee amounts in column (d) reflect the
full grant date fair value of the equity awards madring the fiscal year ended December 31, 20ild¢c¢ordance with ASC 718.
Assumptions used in the calculation of these anmmar# included in the notes to the 2014 auditedaatated financial statements
included herein. The Directors had option awardstanding as of December 31, 2014 for shares ohwmmstock as follows: Lee Babi
— 165,000; Ismail Kola 165,000; Lorin Rand— 105,000; Kenneth Trai— 90,000; and Jack Wyszomier— 165,000.

Under our Director compensation program for non-eyge Directors, new Directors receive an initialck option grant to purchase
50,000 shares of Common Stock at fair market vatuthe date of grant, which vests at a rate of §0%e first year (on a quarterly basis) and

25% in each of the two years (on a quarterly bakexeafter.

Additionally, the non-employee Directors receiveaally an option award to purchase 30,000 sharesmimon stock at fair market
value on the date of grant, which vests quarterBr @ one-year period, with such anniversary awisgiged in June of each year in connection
with our annual stockholder meeting. In June 2W@ifkctors Babiss, Kola, Randall, Traub and Wyszaoskieeach received an anniversary
stock option award of 30,000 shares. All initialamniversary stock option awards granted to nopl@yee Directors have a term of ten years
and upon the termination of the Director’s servibe, Director has 18 months in which to exercigevisted portion of his options prior to

forfeiture.
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Our Directors receive annual cash compensatioinestaas set forth below:

Board Membe $40,00(
Lead Directol $25,00(
Audit Committee— Chairmar $15,00(
Audit Committee— Member $ 7,50(
Compensation Committe— Chairman $10,00(
Compensation Committe— Member $ 5,00(
Nominations and Corporate Governance Comm— Chairman $10,00(
Nominations and Corporate Governance Comm— Member $ 5,00(

These annual retainers are paid in quarterly iinséaits and Directors are reimbursed for reasoraltt@fpocket expenses incurred wit
attending Board and committee meetings.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

In 2014, none of our Directors was a member obibeerd of directors of any other company where éationship would be construed to
constitute a committee interlock within the meanifighe rules of the SEC.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disduwggh management the Compensation Discussioi\aatysis section above
and based on this review, has recommended to thergy\ts Board of Directors the inclusion of the Cemgation Discussion and Analysis in
this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2014.

Compensation Committee
Board of Directors

Lee E. Babiss

Lorin J. Randall
Kenneth H. Traub
Jack W. Wyszomierski

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth certain informatiggarding the Company’s equity compensation plansf ®ecember 31, 2014, unless
otherwise indicated.

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
Number of under equity
securities Weighted- compensation
to be issuec average plans (excluding
upon exercise price
exercise of of outstanding securities
outstanding reflected
Plan Category awards awards in column (a))
@ (@) (O[] ©@)
Equity compensation plan approved by security hslde 7,274,29; $ 3.2¢ 1,209,29.
Equity compensation plan not approved by secuitgdrs
3) 998,43. $ 3.4¢ 421,56
Total 8,272,72. 1,630,85!
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(1)
(2)
(3)

Included in column (a) and (c) are both stock apiad RSU awards under our equity compensatiorsf

Reflects the weighte-average exercise price of outstanding options @dygpposed to RSUs that do not have an exerdise

The other shares of common stock included in tldia pategory are issued or issuable under our ¥tnientive Compensation Plan. 1
terms of our Equity Incentive Compensation Plansattestantially similar to the terms of the CurreftP. For information on the terms
of these plans, see “Compensation Discussion ardlysis — Elements of Executive Compensation — Léagn Incentive Program”, as
well as“Compensation Discussion and Analy— Equity Compensation Pla” in this annual report on Form -K.

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK

The following table sets forth certain informatikmown to us regarding the beneficial ownershipwf@mmon stock as of February 28,

2015 (unless otherwise indicated below) by:

» each person known by us to beneficially own moas t8% of our common stoc
» each of our Director:
» each of the executive officers named in the SumrGamnpensation Table; al

« all of our Directors and executive officers as aLgr.

We determined beneficial ownership in accordandh thie rules of the SEC. In computing the numbeshafres beneficially owned by a

person and the percentage ownership of that pesbamnes of common stock that could be issued upmexercise of outstanding options,
RSUs and warrants held by that person that areisadte within 60 days of February 28, 2015 aresired outstanding. These shares,
however, are not considered outstanding when cdnipthie percentage ownership of each other person.

Percentage ownership calculations for beneficialenship for each person or entity are based or87390 shares of common stock

outstanding as of February 28, 2015.

Except as indicated in the footnotes to this taipleé pursuant to state community property laws, stmtkholder named in the table has

sole voting and investment power for the sharesvetas beneficially owned by them.

1)

(2)
(3)

Number of
Name of Beneficial Owner Shares Percent of Clas
Greater Than 5% Stockholders
A.M. Pappas & Associates, LL®) 4,092,401 5.1%
Directors and Executive Officers
Gil Van Bokkeler(? 1,388,39 1.7%
Lee Babis<®) 157,50( &
John Harringtor® 1,061,91. 1.2%
Ismail Kola(®) 157,50( &
Lorin Randall(® 97,50( *
Kenneth Traul( 100,62" &
Jack WyszomiersH8) 157,50( *
Laura Campbel® 489,22¢ £
Robert Dean(10) 497,42( *
William (BJ) Lehmann, Ji11) 649,95 i3
All Directors and executive officers as a group fEdsons 4,757,541 6.C%

Less than 1%

A Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 2015 reported that A.M. Pappas & Associatés;, lor Pappas, an investment
adviser registered under Section 203 of the InvestrAdvisers Act of 1940, is deemed to be the heiaébwner of 4,092,400 shares of
common stock as a result of acting as investmerisadto various Pappas clients. Pappas has stifegvand dispositive power over
4,092,400 shares of common stock. The addressafgpd is 2520 Meridian Parkway, Suite 400, Durhdanth Carolina 27715
Includes vested options for 857,378 share®ofraon stock at a weighted average exercise priéd .66 per share and 63,690 RSUs tha
vest within 60 days of February 28, 20

Includes vested options for 157,500 shares of comshack at a weighted average exercise price dgher share
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(4) Includes vested options for 788,966 share®ofroon stock at a weighted average exercise priéd.Gf3 per share and 50,912 RSUs tha
vest within 60 days of February 28, 20

(5) Includes vested options for 157,500 shares of comstack at a weighted average exercise price @0H2er share

(6) Includes vested options for 97,500 shares of comshack at a weighted average exercise price ofohied share

(7) Includes vested options for 80,625 shares of comshack at a weighted average exercise price ofoie share

(8) Includes vested options for 157,500 shares of comshack at a weighted average exercise price df3j2er share

(9) Includes vested options for 263,220 share®ofraon stock at a weighted average exercise priéd.dé per share and 33,686 RSUs tha
vest within 60 days of February 28, 20

(10) Includes vested options for 314,470 share®ofmon stock at a weighted average exercise pfi$d.94 per share and 43,815 RSUs tha
vest within 60 days of February 28, 20

(11) Includes vested options for 495,529 share®ofmon stock at a weighted average exercise pfi$d.63 per share and 51,169 RSUs tha
vest within 60 days of February 28, 20

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactits

We give careful attention to related person tratisas because they may present the potential foilicts of interest. We refer taélated
person transactions” as those transactions, amags, or relationships in which:

e we were, are or are to be a participi
 the amount involved exceeds $120,000;

« any of our Directors, Director nominees, exeautificers or greater-than five percent stockhader any of their immediate family
members) had or will have a direct or indirect matenterest.

To identify related person transactions in advaneerely on information supplied by our executiféoers, Directors and certain
significant stockholders. We maintain a comprehangiritten policy for the review, approval or ratédtion of related person transactions, and
our Audit Committee reviews all related person sastions identified by us. The Audit Committee awes or ratifies only those related per
transactions that are determined by it to be, uatl@f the circumstances, in the best intereshefCompany and its stockholders. No related
person transactions occurred in fiscal 2014 thaired a review by the Audit Committee.

At times, Aspire Capital has beneficially owned mtran 5% of our outstanding common stock. We edt&to an equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital in 2011, which prexdhat Aspire Capital was committed to purchastowgn aggregate of $20.0 million of
shares of our common stock over a two-year terijestito our election to sell any such shares. Uttteagreement, we had the right to sell
shares, subject to certain volume limitations amgidmum floor price, at a modest discount to thevailing market price. As part of the
agreement, Aspire Capital made an initial investne£i$1.0 million in us through the purchase of @& shares of our common stock at $1.5
per share in 2011, and received 266,667 additisimales as compensation for its commitment. Asudtrekthis transaction, combined with
shares of our common stock that Aspire Capital pelar to the November 2011 transaction, Aspirei@hpecame one of our larger
stockholders, owning more than 5% of our sharesuocommon stock outstanding at that time.

By September 2013, we had sold all the remainimgeshthat were available under the 8,000,000 slofiesmmon stock registered for
resale under the equity facility, which was duexpire in January 2014. In October 2013, we tertethshe expiring equity purchase
agreement with Aspire Capital and entered intova @guity purchase agreement with Aspire Capitagiuchase up to an aggregate of $25.0
million of shares of our common stock over a new-tw@ar period. The terms of the 2013 equity fac#itg similar to the previous arrangem
and we issued 333,333 shares of our common stogkeA€apital as a commitment fee in October 2018Bfded a registration statement for
the resale of 10,000,000 shares of common stochrinection with the new equity facility.

In 2014, we sold an aggregate 250,000 shares tweASppital at an average price of $3.78 per shader the equity purchase agreerr
As of December 31, 2014, we received aggregateepaxcof approximately $14.4 million under both ggpurchase agreements since their
inception. Also, since January 1, 2015 through M&,c2015, we sold shares for approximately $3/8anj in aggregate, to Aspire Capital.
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Director Independence

The Board reviews the independence of each Direttlerast annually. During these reviews, the Bedldconsider transactions and
relationships between each Director (and his oiirherediate family and affiliates) and the Compang aur management to determine
whether any such transactions or relationshipsnamsistent with a determination that the Direstais independent. The Board conducted its
annual review of Director independence to deterrifinay transactions or relationships exist thatilsdadisqualify any of the individuals who
serve as a Director under the rules of the NASDARItal Market or require disclosure under Secigitind Exchange Commission, or SEC,
rules. Based upon the foregoing review, the Boatdrthined the following individuals are independemder the rules of the NASDAQ Cap
Market: Lee E. Babiss, Ismail Kola, Lorin J. Randidenneth H. Traub and Jack L. Wyszomierski. Cutlse we have two members of
management that also serve on the Board: Dr. Vdkd&en, who is also our Chairman and Chief Exeeu@ifficer, and Dr. Harrington, who is
our Executive Vice President and Chief Scientiffti€@r. Neither Dr. Van Bokkelen nor Dr. Harringt@considered independent under the
independence rules of the NASDAQ Capital Market.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Audit Fees. Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP for the auditlod annual consolidated financial statements includéhe Company’s Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, for the reviews of the coitlsted financial statements included in the Com{saRgrms 10-Q, and for services related
to registration statements were $450,640 for theafiyear ended December 31, 2014 and $639,1@bddiscal year ended December 31,
2013. The decrease related primarily to servicesegistration statements filed in 2013.

Audit-Related Fees There were no fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP&odit-related services in 2014 and 2013.

Tax Fees. Fees paid to Ernst & Young LLP associated withdampliance and tax consultation were $27,500%28J250 for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

All Other Fees. There were no other fees paid to Ernst & Younglih 2014 or 2013.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedurs

The Audit Committee has adopted a formal policyaaditor independence requiring the pre-approvahbyAudit Committee of all
professional services rendered by the Companyspaddent auditor prior to the commencement of pleeifed services.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, 100%tecservices described above were pre-approvedenpudit Committee in
accordance with the Company’s formal policy on sardndependence.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a3)(1) Financial Statements:

The following consolidated financial statement#\diersys, Inc. are included in ltem 8:
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfting
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,£812013

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compseleehoss for each of the years ended Decembez®1, 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityefieh of the years ended December 31, 2014, 20iL 3GirP
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow for eachef/éars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

The following financial statement schedule of Athey, Inc. is included:

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at
Beginning of
(In thousands Year Additions Deductions
Year Ended December 31, 201
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accour- note receivabl $ 341 $ 11 $ —
Tax valuation allowance $ 26,04: $15,81( $ —
Total 2014 $ 26,38¢ $15,82: $ —

Year Ended December 31, 201
Deducted from asset accour

Allowance for doubtful accour- note receivabl $ 33C $ 11 $ —
Tax valuation allowance $ 34,22. $10,12¢ $ 18,30¢(B)
Total 2013 $ 34,55 $10,13% $ 18,30¢
Year Ended December 31, 201
Deducted from asset accour
Allowance for doubtful accour- note receivabl $ 307 $ 23 $ —
Tax valuation allowance $ 29,27 $ 4,95( $ —
Total 2012 $ 29,57¢ $ 4,97 $ —

(A) — Reserve on note receivable; fi-reserved
(B) — Substantially all of our deferred tax assets afgedby valuation allowance
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42,20
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341(A)
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26,38
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All other schedules for which provision is madetia applicable accounting regulation of the SECnaterequired under the related instructi
or are inapplicable and, therefore, omitted.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit No

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4

10.5

Exhibit Descriptior

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,asended as of June 28, 2013 (incorporated hereiafegence to Exhibit 3
to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10d@rimission No. 000-52108) filed with the CommissioznAugust 13,
2013)

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct80eR2007 (incorporated herein by reference to BkBili to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2X

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,12(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on March 15, 20

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamrm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on November 2912

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Common Stock Purchase&t(incorporated herein by reference to Exmibitto the
registran’s Pos-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Forn-3 (Registration No. 3:-185991)

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,4(

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Athersgsahd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeeeo Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current &¢pn Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextabit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsaimd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeedo Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current 8¢pn Form 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incorjgaraerein by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Cotfieeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210&)dfiwith the
Commission on June 14, 20(

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among AtherBys, and the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 tordgistrant's Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9t

10.10t

10.11t

10.12t

10.13t

10.14t

10.15t

10.161

10.17t

10.18t

10.191

10.20t

10.211

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended Rastated Registration Rights Agreement, dated darafary 29, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asatkfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai$ 2§ 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. and tbheldolders of Athersys, In
parties thereto) (incorporated herein by refer¢ndexhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Current RepmrtForm 8-K (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. AmendedRastated Registration Rights Agreement, dated &mweémber 19, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asatkfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai 2§ 2000, as amended, by and among Athersygs aimd the stockholders of
Athersys, Inc. parties thereto) (incorporated hrebsi reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registraftisrent Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, liyaanong Athersys, In
and the Existing Stockholders (as defined ther@mtprporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.¢he registrang Current Repo
on Form K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensakten (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibifl1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorp@gtherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thestegnt’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betweanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #gistrant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. Gil Van
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiB.16 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&4k (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to thygsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betweanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incoaped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thgsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toikixfi0.19 to the registrant's Current Report omf@-K (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&r/between Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camphb&tbfiporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant’s @atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521d8§fwith the Commission
on June 14, 200"

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &4ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Laura
Campbell (incorporated herein by reference to Bxii®.21 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&ik (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2003&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. astibR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1aG@%he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(62108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Robe
Deans (incorporated herein by reference to ExAibiR6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Fork @ommission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dateb&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpadrhatrein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the regig’s Current Report on Form
8-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. aillievd Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(2108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i
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10.221

10.23t

10.241

10.25t1

10.26t

10.271

10.28*

10.29

10.30

10.31*

10.32*

10.33

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by refererm&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’s Current ReportForm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, datedf damuary 24, 2014, by and between Advanced Biaffeartics, Inc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referermé&xhibit 10.24 to the registrant’'s Annual RepartForm 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2013 (Commission No-33876) filed with the Commission on March 13, 20

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecb&September 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Agvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to thsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,axknowledged by
Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporateéihdry reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registea@urrent Report on Form 8-
K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by beitveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers, and
acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, lih€b{porated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@ghe registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 2 to Incentive Agreement by bedveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers, and
acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, lih€ébfporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.thregistrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridsota and MCL LLC,
assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operation of eneng November 4, 2003 (incorporated herein byregfee to Exhibit 10.34
to the registrar's Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaborationl &icense Agreement, dated as of January 1, 200&n8 between Athersys, Inc.
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imebg reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the registrarf@urrent Report on Form 8-
K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated hebgineference to Exhibit 10
to the registrars Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on August 6, 20

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as cEBer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABIding Company, and
Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference to ExHibit42 to the registrant’s Annual Report on ForrKifor the year ended
December 31, 2009 (Commission No. -33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Standby License Agreement, dated as of December 18,,2808nd between Regents of the University of Mauta, ABT Holdin(
Company and Pfizer (incorporated herein by refezd¢nd=xhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s Annual Repor Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2009 (Commission No-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to #terieled Collaboration and License Agreement, bylstdieen Athersys, Inc. and
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective JanuarydQ@ (incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiL 10 the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(
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10.34

10.35*

10.36t1

10.371

10.38t

10.391

10.40

10.41t

10.421

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47t

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Ratiim Rights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 20%0and among Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as defineddimyr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibiéb to the registrant’'s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRBQ@9 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed with the Qoission on March 11,
2010)

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comzand RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@Qr{tthission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 8, 20

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to thesteant's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (CommisNimn002-33876) filed with the Commission on March 25, 20

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NBmployee Directors (incorporated herein by refeesto Exhibit 10.48 to
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for ylear ended December 31, 2010 (Commission No. 38¥€ filed with the
Commission on March 25, 201

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1@)Q013)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.tefgistrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuasNo. 00133876) filed witt
the Commission on June 18, 2(C

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Aroended and Restated
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restaféattive June 16, 2011) (incorporated hereindfgnence to Exhibit 10.49
to the registrars Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 6, 20

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated@stober 22, 2013, by and between Athersys, Inc.Asmire Capital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on October 23, 20.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the tegig’'s Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 20

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedatierein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the tegit’s Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as oblidz 22, 2013, by and between Athersys, Inc. asmird Capital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on October 23, 20.

Amendment No. 3 to Extended Collaborationlandnse Agreement, dated January 31, 2012, byoatwleen ABT Holding
Company and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorfeday reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registmQuarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 14, 20

First Amendment to License and Technical #iaece Agreement, dated September 17, 2012, bpetmeien ABT Holding, Inc.
and RTI Biologics, Inc. (incorporated herein byereihce to Exhibit 10.52 to the registrant's Regtgin Statement on Form S-1/A
(Registration No. 0(-33876)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as atM8, 2012, by and between Athersys, Inc. anditpeatories thereto (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the regisfs Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission Nal-33876) filed with the
Commission on March 15, 201

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2014 Cash Bonus IncerRiam (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBI65 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddoem31, 2013 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed vifitt Commission on
March 13, 2014
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Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (ireratpd herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to #gstrant’s Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on November 291 32X

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (iraratpd herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to #gastrant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,4)(

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2015 Cash Bonus IncerRiam

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn
Power of Attorney

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairmanda@hief Executive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rulea-13(a) and
15c-14(a)adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Padgsit of Finance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14@)L&d-14(a) adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairmanda@hief Executive Officer, and Laura Campbell, VRmsident of Finance,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putd¢aa@ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainqust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC
t Indicates management contract or compensatory ptantract or arrangement in which one or moreatlars or executive officers of the
registrant may be participar
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredutyp authorized, in the city of Cleveland, Stateddfio, on March 12, 2015.

ATHERSYS, INC.

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkeler
Gil Van Bokkeler
Title: Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belptine following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the dalieated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the March 12, 2015
Gil Van Bokkelen Board of Directors (Principal Executive

Officer)
/sl Laura K. Campbell Vice President of Finance (Principal Finan March 12, 2015
Laura K. Campbel Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
* Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific March 12, 2015
John J. Harringto Officer and Director
*
Lorin J. Randal Director March 12 , 201!
*
Kenneth H. Traul Director March 12, 201!
*
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director March 12, 201!
*
Lee E. Babis: Director March 12 , 201!
*
Ismail Kola Director March 12, 201!

* Gil Van Bokkelen, by signing his name hereto, sibereby sign this Form 10-K on behalf of eacthefabove named and designated
directors of the Company pursuant to Powers ofrAtg executed by such persons and filed with tlei$tées and Exchange
Commission

By: /s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Gil Van Bokkeler
Attorney-in-fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No
3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4

10.5

Exhibit Descriptior

Certificate of Incorporation of Athersys, Inc.,asended as of June 28, 2013 (incorporated hereiafbyence to Exhibit 3
to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10d@roimission No. 000-52108) filed with the CommissionAugust 13,
2013)

Bylaws of Athersys, Inc., as amended as of Oct8BeR2007 (incorporated herein by reference to ExBili to the
registran’s Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on October 31, 2X

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 28,1(

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on March 15, 20

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamrm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on November 291 32X

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Common Stock Purchase&t(incorporated herein by reference to Exmibitto the
registran’s Pos-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Forn-3 (Registration No. 33-185991)

Form of Warrant (incorporated herein by referemcExhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current ReportFamrm 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,4(

Research Collaboration and License Agreement, deted December 8, 2000, by and between Athersgsahd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeedo Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current 8¢pn Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Cell Line Collaboration and License Agreement, date of July 1, 2002, by and between Athersys,dnd.Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company (incorporated herein by referendextabit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current ReportFarm 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

Extended Collaboration and License Agreement, daseaf January 1, 2006, by and between Athersgsaimd Bristol-
Myers Squibb Company (incorporated herein by refeedo Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current 8¢pn Form 8-K/A
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on September 207

License Agreement, effective as of May 5, 2006abg between Athersys, Inc. and Angiotech (incorjgaraerein by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Cotfieeport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-5210&)dfiwith the
Commission on June 14, 20

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of April 28, 2000, by and among AtherBys, and the
stockholders of Athersys, Inc. parties theretodiporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 ®régistrant’'s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(
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10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9t

10.10t

10.11t

10.12t

10.13t

10.14t

10.15t

10.161

10.17t

10.18t

10.191

10.20t

10.211

Amendment No. 1 to Athersys, Inc. Amended Rastated Registration Rights Agreement, dated darafary 29, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asatkfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai$ 2§ 2000, by and among Athersys, Inc. and tbheldolders of Athersys, In
parties thereto) (incorporated herein by refer¢ndexhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Current RepmrtForm 8-K (Commission No.
00C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Athersys, Inc. AmendedRastated Registration Rights Agreement, dated &mweémber 19, 2002, by and
among Athersys, Inc., the New Stockholders, thestors, Biotech and the Stockholders (each asatkfinthe Amended and
Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated ai 2§ 2000, as amended, by and among Athersygs aimd the stockholders of
Athersys, Inc. parties thereto) (incorporated hrebsi reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registraftisrent Report on Form 8-K
(Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Registr&ights Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2007, liyaanong Athersys, In
and the Existing Stockholders (as defined ther@mtprporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.¢he registrang Current Repo
on Form K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Athersys, Inc. Equity Incentive Compensakten (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibifl1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. Gil Van Bokkelen (incorp@gtherein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to thestegnt’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betweanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Gil Van Bokkelen (incaigted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to #gistrant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datedbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. Gil Van
Bokkelen (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiB.16 to the registrant’s Current Report on F&4k (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiscember 1, 1998 but effective as of April 29&, by and between
Athersys, Inc. and Dr. John J. Harrington (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to thygsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employigrégement, dated as of May 31, 2007, by and betweanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and John Harrington (incoaped herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to thgsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecbdDecember 1, 1998, by and between Athersysaimt Dr. John J.
Harrington (incorporated herein by reference toikixfi0.19 to the registrant's Current Report omf@-K (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 22, 199&r/between Athersys, Inc. and Laura K. Camphb&tbfiporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant’s @atrReport on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-521d8§fwith the Commission
on June 14, 200"

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &4ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Laura
Campbell (incorporated herein by reference to Bxii®.21 to the registrant’s Current Report on F@&ik (Commission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2003&nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. astibR Deans, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1aG@%he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(62108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and Robe
Deans (incorporated herein by reference to ExAibiR6 to the registrant’s Current Report on Fork @ommission No. 000-
52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, dateb&October 3, 2003, by and among Athersys, kdvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Robert Deans (incorpadrhatrein by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the regig’s Current Report on Form
8-K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2004nd between Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. aillievd Lehmann
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1G@&e registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (@uission No. 00(2108) filec
with the Commission on June 14, 20i
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10.23t

10.241

10.25t1

10.26t

10.271

10.28*

10.29

10.30

10.31*

10.32*

10.33

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated &ay 31, 2007, by and between Advanced Biotherapgunc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by refererm&xhibit 10.29 to the registrant’s Current ReportForm 8-K (Commission
No. 00(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement, datedf damuary 24, 2014, by and between Advanced Biaffeartics, Inc. and
William Lehmann (incorporated herein by referermé&xhibit 10.24 to the registrant’'s Annual RepartForm 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2013 (Commission No-33876) filed with the Commission on March 13, 20

Non-Competition and Confidentiality Agreement, datecb&September 10, 2001, by and among Athersys, Agvanced
Biotherapeutics, Inc. and William Lehmann (incogted herein by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to thsteant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Incentive Agreement by and between AdvancethBrapeutics, Inc. and named executive officerd,axknowledged by
Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, LLC (incorporateéihdry reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registea@urrent Report on Form 8-
K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 1 to Incentive Agreement by beitveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers, and
acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, lih€b{porated herein by reference to Exhibit 10@ghe registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Amendment No. 2 to Incentive Agreement by bedveen Advanced Biotherapeutics, Inc. and namedutive officers, and
acknowledged by Athersys, Inc. and ReGenesys, lih€ébfporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.thregistrant’s Current
Report on Form-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of May 10220y and between Regents of the University ofridsota and MCL LLC,
assumed by ReGenesys, LLC through operation of eneng November 4, 2003 (incorporated herein byregfee to Exhibit 10.34
to the registrar's Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0¢-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to Cell Line Collaborationl &icense Agreement, dated as of January 1, 200&n8 between Athersys, Inc.
and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorporated imebg reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the registrarf@urrent Report on Form 8-
K (Commission No. 0(-52108) filed with the Commission on June 14, 2(

Form Indemnification Agreement for Directors, Offis and Directors and Officers (incorporated hebgineference to Exhibit 10
to the registrars Current Report on Forn-K (Commission No. 0C-52108) filed with the Commission on August 6, 20

Collaboration and License Agreement, dated as cEBer 18, 2009, by and between Athersys, Inc., ABIding Company, and
Pfizer (incorporated herein by reference to ExHibit42 to the registrant’s Annual Report on ForrKifor the year ended
December 31, 2009 (Commission No. -33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Standby License Agreement, dated as of December 18,,2808nd between Regents of the University of Mauta, ABT Holdin(
Company and Pfizer (incorporated herein by refezd¢nd=xhibit 10.43 to the registrant’s Annual Repor Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2009 (Commission No-33876) filed with the Commission on March 11, 20

Amendment dated as of March 31, 2009 to #terieled Collaboration and License Agreement, bylstdieen Athersys, Inc. and
Bristol-Myers Squibb Company effective JanuarydQ@ (incorporated herein by reference to ExhibiL 10 the registrant’s
Current Report on Formr-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on April 9, 20(
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10.36t1

10.371

10.38t

10.391

10.40

10.41t

10.421

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47t

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Ratiim Rights Agreement, dated as of March 8, 20%0and among Athersys,
Inc. and the Existing Stockholders (as defineddimyr(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibiéb to the registrant’'s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended DecembeRBQ@9 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed with the Qoission on March 11,
2010)

License and Technical Assistance Agreement, dated September 10, 2010, between ABT Holding Comzand RTI
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-@Qr{tthission No. 001-33876)
filed with the Commission on November 8, 20

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorpedaherein by reference to Exhibit 10.47 to thesteant's Annual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 (CommisNimn002-33876) filed with the Commission on March 25, 20

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for NBmployee Directors (incorporated herein by refeesto Exhibit 10.48 to
the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for ylear ended December 31, 2010 (Commission No. 38¥€ filed with the
Commission on March 25, 201

Athersys, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Long-Tecentive Plan (Amended and Restated Effective 1@)Q013)
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.tefgistrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K (ComnuasNo. 00133876) filed witt
the Commission on June 18, 2(C

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Nemployee Directors pursuant to the Athersys, Aroended and Restated
2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Amended and Restaféattive June 16, 2011) (incorporated hereindfgnence to Exhibit 10.49
to the registrars Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 6, 20

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated@stober 22, 2013, by and between Athersys, Inc.Asmire Capital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on October 23, 20.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedaterein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the tegig’'s Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on August 10, 20

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorpedatierein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the tegit’s Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on June 20, 2(

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as oblidz 22, 2013, by and between Athersys, Inc. asmird Capital Fund, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2he registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Cassion No. 001-33876) filed
with the Commission on October 23, 20.

Amendment No. 3 to Extended Collaborationlandnse Agreement, dated January 31, 2012, byoatwleen ABT Holding
Company and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (incorfeday reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the registmQuarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q (Commission No. 0(-33876) filed with the Commission on May 14, 20

First Amendment to License and Technical #iaece Agreement, dated September 17, 2012, bpetmeien ABT Holding, Inc.
and RTI Biologics, Inc. (incorporated herein byereihce to Exhibit 10.52 to the registrant's Regtgin Statement on Form S-1/A
(Registration No. 0(-33876)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as atM8, 2012, by and between Athersys, Inc. anditpeatories thereto (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the regisfs Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission Nal-33876) filed with the
Commission on March 15, 201

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2014 Cash Bonus IncerRiam (incorporated herein by reference to ExHiBI65 to the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddoem31, 2013 (Commission No. 001-33876) filed vifitt Commission on
March 13, 2014
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Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (ireratpd herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to #gstrant’s Current Report on
Form ¢&-K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on November 291 32X

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (iraratpd herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to #gastrant’s Current Report on
Form &K (Commission No. 0C-33876) filed with the Commission on January 13,4)(

Summary of Athersys, Inc. 2015 Cash Bonus IncerRiam

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn
Power of Attorney

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairmanda@hief Executive Officer, pursuant to SEC Rulea-13(a) and 15d-14(a)
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Laura K. Campbell, Vice Padgsit of Finance, pursuant to SEC Rules 13a-14@)L&d-14(a) adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Gil Van Bokkelen, Chairmanda@hief Executive Officer, and Laura Campbell, VRmsident of Finance,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, adopted putd¢aa@ection 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Confidential treatment requested as to certainqust which portions have been filed separatelywie SEC
t Indicates management contract or compensatory ptantract or arrangement in which one or moreatlars or executive officers of the
registrant may be participar
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EXHIBIT 10.50

SUMMARY OF ATHERSYS, INC.
2015 CASH BONUS INCENTIVE PLAN

On January 27, 2015, the Board of Directors of Adhe, Inc. (the “Company”), upon the recommendatibthe Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors of the Company, approvedshdonus incentive plan (the “Plan”) for the yeaded December 31, 2015 for the namec
executive officers of the Company. The Plan prositiet each participant is eligible to earn a baturing the award term of January 1, 2015
through December 31, 2015. The Plan provides ®iffdliowing target bonus percentages of the namedugive officer’s salary during the
award term, weighted as set forth below on theeagiment of specified corporate goals, with the iatder based on individual/functional
performance. The corporate goals include advantia@ompany’s clinical programs for MultiStem, extdog against the established
operating plan and capital acquisition objectivwe®] advancement of strategic partnership and progrdivities. There is no formally adopted

plan document for the Plan.

Targe
Weighting on
Title Bonus Corporate Goa
Chief Executive Officer 60% 10C%
President & Chief Operating Offic: 45% 80%
Executive Vice President & Chief Scientific Offic 45% 80%
Executive Vice President, Regenerative Medi 40% 60%

Vice President of Financ 30% 60%



Name of Subsidian
ABT Holding Company (formerly Athersys, Inc.)
Advanced Biotherapeutics, In
Athersys Limitec
ReGenesys LL(
ReGenesys BVB/
ReGenesys EU N'

SUBSIDIARIES OF ATHERSYS, INC.

EXHIBIT 21.1

Jurisdiction
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Belgium
Belgium



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

(9)

Pos-Effective Amendment No. 1 to Forn-3 Registration Statement (Forr-3, No. 33-185991) dated February 9, 20:
Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33.-194538) dated March 27, 201

Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33.-191873) dated October 24, 20

Registration Statement (Forn-8, No. 33:-189406) dated June 18, 2013 pertaining to the Ayseinc. Lon-Term Incentive Plar
Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33:-185991) dated January 22, 20

Registration Statement (Forn-3, No. 33-180411) dated March 28, 201

Registration Statement (Forn-8, No. 33.-175023) dated June 20, 2011 pertaining to the Ajfseinc. Lon-Term Incentive Plar
Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1878ated November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Agrgeric. Equity Incentive
Compensation Plal

Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-1478&ited November 14, 2007 pertaining to the Ayrgerimc. Long-Term Incentive
Plan, anc

(10) Registration Statement (Forn-3/A, No. 33-144433) dated October 10, 20t

of our reports dated March 12, 2015, with respethé consolidated financial statements and sckeafulthersys, Inc. and the effectiveness o
internal control over financial reporting of Athgss Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 104€)Athersys, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Cleveland, Ohio
March 12, 2015



EXHIBIT 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of thedensigned officers and directors of Athersys, lad)elaware corporation,
hereby constitutes and appoints of Gil Van BokkeWilliam Lehmann, Jr., and Laura K. Campbell, @adh of them, as his true and lawful
attorney or attorneys-ifact, with full power of substitution and revocatjdor each of the undersigned and in the namegpknd stead of ea
of the undersigned, to sign on behalf of each efuhdersigned an Annual Report on Form 10-K foffiseal year ended December 31, 2014
pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities ExchangeoA1934 and to sign any and all amendments¢b sunnual Report, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsanreection therewith including, without limitatioa,Form 12b-25 with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting to said attorneyttorrzeys-in-fact, and each of them, full power amthority to do so and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary twhe th and about the premises, as fully to allnt#@nd purposes as the undersigned might c
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirmailgthat said attorney or attorneysfact or any of them or their substitute or subgttumay
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

This power of attorney may be executed in multg@anterparts, each of which shall be deemed amatigith respect to the person
executing it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereustoheir hands as of the 25th day of February, 2015

Signaturw m
/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Gil Van Bokkeler Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Boafdoectors

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Laura K. Campbel Vice President of Financ

/s/ John J. Harrington
John J. Harringto Executive Vice President, Chief Scientific Offi@ard Directol

/s/ Lorin J. Randall
Lorin J. Randal Director

/sl Jack L. Wyszomierski
Jack L. Wyszomiersk Director

/s/ Kenneth H. Traub
Kenneth H. Traul Director

/s/ Ismail Kola
Ismail Kola Director

/sl Lee E. Babiss
Lee E. Babis: Director




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Gil Van Bokkelen, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 12, 2015

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen

Gil Van Bokkeler
Chief Executive Officer an
Chairman of the Board of Directa



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Laura K. Campbell, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Athersys, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiominy untrue statement of a material fact or dongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragigslosure controls and procedures and presenteisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesignt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evafuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

March 12, 2015

/s/ Laura K. Campbell

Laura K. Campbel
Vice President of Financ



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Athersys;.I(the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endmtember 31, 2014, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he “Report”), each of the undersigned officefshe Company certifies, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant taoBe2®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thasuoh officer’'s knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company as of the dates and for the periods exgnidashe Repor

Date: March 12, 2015

/s/ Gil Van Bokkelen
Name: Gil Van Bokkelel
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

/sl Laura K. Campbell
Name: Laura K. Campbe
Title: Vice President of Financ

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pleursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and is notdofiled as part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure docume



